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PROJECT MKULTRA, THE CIA’S PROGRAM OF
RESEARCH IN BEHAVIORAL MODIFICATION

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 3, 1877

_ U.S. Senare,
SeLecT COMMITTEE ON INTELLIGENCE,
AND S MMITTEE ON HEALTH
%0 SciexTIFIC RESEARCH
or THE CoMMrTTEY. ON HUMAN RESOURCES, -
Washington, 0.C.

The committees met, pursuant to notice, at 9:07 s.m. in room 1202,

. Dirksen Senate Office Building, Senator Daniel K. Inouye-(chairman ———

of the Select Committee on Intelligence) presiding.

Present : Senators Inouye (presidi.nli), ennedy, Goldwater, Bayh,
H:ith_v}:ﬁy, Huddleston, Hart, Schweiker, Case, &n\m, Chafee, Lugar
an 0 .

Also pr&nt: William G. Miller, staff director, Select Committee on
Intelli%e.nce; Dr. Lawrence Horowitz, staff director, Subcommittee
on Health and Scientific Research; and professional staff members of
both committees. .

Senator INovyz. The Senate Select Committee on Intelligence is
meeting today and is joined by the Subcommittee on Health and
Scientific Research chaired by Senator Edward Kennedy of Mas-
sachusetts and Senator Richard Schweiker of Pennsgylvania. Senator
Hathaway and Senator Chafee are members of both committees. We
are to hear testimony from the Director of Central] Intelligence, Adm.
Stansfield Turner, and from other Agency witnesses on issues concern-
ing new documents supplied to the committee in the last week on drug

' conducted by the Central Intelligence cy.

It should be made clear from the outset that in general, we are
focusing on events that happened over 12 or as long as 25 years ago.
It should be emphasized that the programs that are of greatest con-

cern have stopped and that we are reviewing thess past events in.

order to better understand what statutes and other guidelines might be
necass:z to prevent the recurrence of such abuses in the future. We
also need to know and understand what is now being done by the CIA
in the field of behavioral research to be certain that no current abuses

I want to commend Admiral Turner for his full cooperation with
this committes and with the Subcommittee on Health in recognizing
that this issue needed our attention. The CIA has assisted our com-
mittees and staffs in their investigative efforts and in arriving at

. remedies which will serve the best interests of our country.
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The reappearance of reports of the abuses of the drug testing pro-
gram and reports of other pravionsly unknown drug programs and
pProjects for ﬁhatrioml control urderline the hecessity for effective
oversight procedures both in the executive branch and in the Con-
gress. The Select Committee op Intelligence has been working very
closely with President Carter, the Vice President, and Admiral
Turner and his associates in developing basic concepts for statutory
guidelines which wil] govern all activities of the intelligence agencies
of the United States. :

In fact, it is my expectation that the President will soon announce
his decisions on how he has decided the intelligence agencies of the
United States shall be organized. This committee will be working
closely with the President and Admiral Turner in placing this new
Structure under the law and to develqp effective oversight procedures,

It is clear that effective oversight requires that information must

Il and forthcoming. Fuli and timely information js obviously
necessary if the committee and the public is to be confident that any
(ransgress;ons can be dealt with quickly and forcetully. .

One purpose of this hearing is to give the commmittee and the public
an understanding of what new information has been discovered that
2dds to the knowledge already svailable from previous Church and
Kennedy inquiries. and to hear the reasong why these documents were
not available to the Church and Kennedy committees. It is also the
purpase of this hearing to address the issues raised by eny sdditional
illegal or improper activities that have emerged from the files and to
develop remedies to prevent such improper activities from occurring
again,

Finally. there is an obligation on the PaIt of both this committee
and the CIA to make every effort to help those individuals or institu-
tions that may have been harmed by any of these improper or illegal
activities. T am certain that Admiral Turner will work with this com-
mittee to see that this wilj be done. -

I would now like to welcome the most distinguished Senator from
Massaeghusetts, the chairman of the Health Subcommittee, Senator

ennedy. '

Senator Krxvoy, Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. We are
delighted to join together in"thijs very important sres of public in-
quiry and public interest.

Some 2 years ago, the Senate Health Subcommittee heard chiliing
testimony about the human experimentation activities of the Central
Intelligence Agency. The Deputy Director of the CTA revealed that
over 30 universities and institutions were involved in an “extensive .
testing and experimentation” program which included covert drug
tests on unwitting citizens gt all social levels, high and low, native
Americans and foreign.” Severa] of these tests involved the adminis-
tration of L8D to “unwitting subjects in socia] situations.” .

At least one death, that of Dr. Olsen, resulted from these activities.
The Asency itself acknowledged that these tests made little scientific
sense. The agents doing the monitoring were not qualified scientific
observers. The test subjects were seldom accessible bevond the first
hours of the test. In a number of instances. the test subject became ijl

for hours or days, and effective followup was impossible.



3

Other experiments were equally offensive. For example, heroin
eddicts were enticed into patticipating in LSD experiments in order
to get a n ward—heroin.

erhaps niost disturbing of all was the fact that the extent of ex-
Perimentation on human subjects was unknown. The records of all
tiese activities were destroved in J Anuary 1973, at the instruction of
then CTA Director Richard Helms. In spite of persistent inquiries by
both the Health Subcommittee and the Intelligence Committee, no
additional records or information were forthcoming, And no one—
ne single individual—eould be found wlio remembered the details, not
the Diiector of the CIA, who ordered the documents destroyed, not
the official ros nsible for the Program, nor any of his associates,

We believed that the record, incomplete as it was, was as complete

taining to the CIA’s pro of rimentation with human subjects,
Thess new records. mers dimeperly Lrenl sgency in March, Their
existence was not made known to the Congress unti] J uly.

The records reveal a far more extensive series of experiments than

had previously been thought. Eighty-six Universities or institutions

were involved. New instances of unethical behavior were revesaled,
The intelligence community of this Nation, which requires a shroud

of secrecy in order to operate, has & very sacred trust from the

American people. The CTA’s program of humtn.experimmgation of

of the program. The best safeguard against abuses in the future is a
complete public accounting of the abuses of the past. :

I think this is illustrated, as Chairman Inouye pointed out. These
are issues, are questions that happened in the fifties and sixties, and
8o back some 15, 20 years ago, but they are front page news today, as
we see in the major newspapers and on the television and in the media
of this country ; and the reason they are, I think, is because it just con-
tinuously begins to trickle out. sort of, month after month, and the
best way to put this period behind us, obvious] . is to have the full
information, and I think that is the desire of Admira] Turner and of
the members of this committee,

The Central Intelligence Agency drugged American citizens with-
out their knowledge or consent. It used university facilities and ﬁ:
sonnel without their knowledge. It funded leading researchers, o
without their knowledge,

These institutes, these individuals, have g right to know who they
- are and how and when they were used. As of today, the Agency itself
refuses to declassify the names of those institutions and individuals,
quite appropriately, I might say, with regurd to the individuals under
the Privacy Act. It seems to me to be 8 fundamental responsibility to
notify those individnnls or in_sti;utions, rather. I think many of them

LIRS 19



So, I intend to do a]] I can to persuade the Agency to, at the very
least, officially inform those institutions and individusls involved.

Two years ago, when these abuses were first revealed, I introduced
legislation, with Senator Schweiker and Senator Javits, designed to

Minimize the potential for any similar abuses in the future. That

medical and behavioral resear.h second to none, and the Himan Ex-
perimentation Commission has proven its valge, Today’s hearings
and the record already established underscore the need to expand its

The CIA su{)ported that legislation in 1975, and it passed the Senate
unanimously [a i it 1 i

our people that they will have the degree of protection in human ex-
perimentation that they deserve and have every right to expect.

Y
him as an experilment at g meeting of I.SD researchers calied by CIA.
Most of what was known sbout .the Agency's lnvolvm‘ t with beharvioral
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destruction of MRULTRA fles in 1973 ; the 1963 report on MEULTRA by the
Inspector Genera! notes on page 14: “Present practice is to maintain no records
of the planning and approval of test programs”

When I reported to you last on this matter, my ataff had not ¥et had an
opportunity to review the newly located matertal in depth. This has now been
accomplished, and I am in a poeition to Five you a description of the contents of
the recovered materinl. I belleve You will be most interested in the following
Aspects of the recent dlacovery :

How the material was discovered and why it was not previously found ;

The nature of this recently located materia] ;

How much new information there is in the material which may not have
been previously known and reported to Senste investigators; and

What we believe the most significant aspects of this find to be.

To begin, as to how we discoversd these materials. The material had been
sent to our Retired Hecords Center outside of Washington and was discovered
there as a result of the extensive search efforts of an employee charged with re-

to Freedom of Information Act requests on this subject. During the Church

Commlttee (nvestigation in 1975, searches for AKULTRA-related material were

made by examining both the active and ret{red records of all branches of CIA

In the case at hand, howerer, the newly located material was sent to the Re
tred Records Center in 1870 by the Budget and Fiscal Section as part of its
own retired boldings. The reason for this departure from normal procedure is not
known. As a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval and destruction
in 1973 by the then-retiring Director of the Office ax well as discovery In 1978
by CIA officials responding to Senate investigators

The employee who Jocated this material did so by leaving no stone untuorned
in bhis efforts to respond to FOIA requests. He reviewed all listings of materiml
of this Branch stored at the Retired Records Center, inclnding those of the
Budget and Fiscal Section and, thus, discovered the MEULTRA-related docu-
ments which bad been missed in the previons searches. In sum, the Agency falled
to uncover these particular documents In 1973 in the process of attempting to
destroy them; it similarly falled to locate them In 1975 in response to the Church
Committee hearings. I am convinced that there was no attempt to conceal this
material during the earlier searches

Next. as to the natare of the recently located material it is Important to
realise that tie recovered folders are finance folders. The bulk of the material in
them conaists of approvals for advance of funds, vouchers, accountings, and the
Uke-—most of which are not Yery Informative as to the nature of the activities
that were undertaken. Occasional project proposais or memoranda comment-

The recovered documents fall roughly into three categories:

First, there are 140 MEULTRA subprojects, many of which appear to have
some connection with research Into bebarioral modification, drug acquisition
and testing or administering drugs surreptitionsty.

Secoud, there are two boxes of miscellaneons MEKULTRA papers. including
sudit reports and financisl statements from “cut-out” (Le., intermedlary)
funmdlnx 2echanisms used to conceal CIA's sponsorship of rarions research
pro

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certaln intelligence
sctivities previously funded under MKULTRA which have nothing to do
elther with behavioral modification, drugs, and toxins or with any other re-
lated matters.

a We have attempted to group the activities coversd by the 149 subprojects into
Categories under descriptive hesdings. In broad outline, at least, this presents the
contenta of these Ales. The activities are placed In the following 15 categories:

-y
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1. Research Into the effects of behavioral drugs and/or aleohol :

17 subprojects probably not Invoiving human testing ;

14 subprojects definitely involving tests on human volunteers ;

19 subprojecta probably Including tests on human volunteers. While not
known, some of these subprojects may have included tests on unwitting sub-
Jects ag well :

8 subprojects fnvolving tests op aawitting subjects.

2. Research on hypoosis: § subprojects, incinding 2 involving hypnosis and drogs
in combination.

3. Acquisition of chemicals or drugs: 7 subprojects. :

4. Aspects of magicians’ art useful in covert operations: e.g., surreptitious de-
llvery of drug-related materials : 4 subproje

5. Studies of homan bebavior, sleep research, And behaviorsl changes duvring
paychotherapy: 0 subprojects.

6. Library searches and attendance at semin.rs and international conferences
on behavioral modification : 8 subprojects.

7. Motirational studles, studies of defectors, assessment, and training tech-
nlques : 23 subprojects.

8. Polygraph research : 3 subprojects,

g. Funding mechanisms for MKULTRA external research activities: 3
sabprojects.

10. Research on drugs, toxins, and biclogicals in human ‘issge : provision of
exotic pathogens and the capability to incorporate them in_effective delivery

systems : 6 subprojects. ~
11. Activities whose objectives cannot be determined from available documen-

tation: 3 subprojects,

13. Single subprojects in such aress as effecty ot'electm-nhoek. harassment tech-
niques for offensive use, analysis of extrasensory perception, £38 Propelled sprays
And aerosols, and fonr subprojects Involving crop and materia] sabotage.

14, OnBe or two subprojects on each of the following ;

] pm
possibly Improper coatribation by CIA to 5 private institution. However, the
principal types of activities included have, for the most part, either been ontlined
to some extent or generally descrided in what wag previoualy available to CIA
g: the “;l of documentation and was supplied by CIA to Senate lnvestigators.

or example :

Fnancial disborsement records for the period 1960-1984 for 76 of the 149
numbered MKULTRA sudprojects had been recovered from the Office of Finance
by CIA and were made avallable to the Chareh Committee investigators in August
or Reptemher 1975,

The 1963 Inspector Geners] report on MKULTRA made available to hoth the
Charch Committee and Benator Kennedy's Subcommittee mentions slectro-shock
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and harassment substances (pp. 4, 16) : covert testing on unwitting U.9. citizens
l(s PP. 7, 10-12) ; the search for new materials through arrangements with speclal-
ts in universities, pharmaceutical houses, hospitals, state and federal instita-
:txll?::? gglﬁiaﬁ.ﬁrn;cg Iirgha.rzlia:l;na (pp- 7, 9) ; and the fact that the Tech-
0 nitiat
of .i’.hm'} behavior betweey, 1053 1643 (p.egd:!{ subprojects related to the control
€ relevant section of a 1057 Inspector General report on the Technlcal Y-
ice Division was 2150 made available to the Church Cg;mlttee :uﬂ That res;:rt
discusses techniques for buman assessment and unorthodox methods of com-
munication (p. 201) ; discrediting and disabling materinls which can be covertly
sdministered (pp 201-202) ; studles on magicians’ arts as applied to covert oper-
ations (p. 202) ; specific funding mechhnisms for research performed outside of
CIA (pp. 202-208, 206) ; research being done on “K" (knockout) matertal, alcohol
tolerance, and hypnotism (p. 203) ; research on LSD {p. 204) ; anti-personnel
harassment and sssassination delivery systems including aerosol generators and
other spray devices (pp. 208-208) ; the role of Fort Detrick in support of CIA's
Biological/Chemical Warfare capability (p. 208) ; and material sabotage research
(p. 208). Much of this material is reflected in the Church Commitiee Report,
Book I, pp. 385422 (See Appendix A, pp. 65-102). '

The most significant new data discovered are, first, the names of researchers
and institutions whbo participeted in the MKULTRA project and, secondly, a
possibly improper contribution by CIA to a private institution. We are now in
possession of the names of 185 non-government researchers and assistants who
are identified in the recovered material dealing with the 149 subprojects, The .
names of 30 institutions where work was done or with whish these people were
afilinted are also mentioned.

The institutions include 44 colleges or universities, 15 research foundations or
chemieal or pbarmacentical companies and the lke, 12 hospitals or clinics (in ad-
dition to those associated with univeraities), and 3 pena! Institutions. While the
identities of some of these people and institutions were known previously, the
discovery of the new ldentities adds to our knowledge of MEULTRA.

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution are ss follows:
One project involves a contribation of $375,000 to a building fund of a private
medical Institution. The fact that a contribution was made was previously
known ; indeed it. was mentioned in a 1057 Inspector Geaeral report on the
Technical Service Division of CIA, pertinent portions of which had been re-
viewed by the Church Committee staff. The newly discovered materisl, howerver,
makes it clesr that this contribution was made through an intermediary, which
made it appear to be a private donation. As a private donation, the contribution
was then matched by federal funds, The iastitution was not made aware of the
true source of the gift. This project was approved by the thea DCI, and concurred
in by CIA's top management &t the time, {ncluding the then General Counse]l who
wrote an opinion supporting the legality of the contribution.

The recently discovered documents give a greater insight Into the acope of the
unwitting drug testing but contribute little more than that. We now have col-
laborating information that some of the unwitting drug testing was carried on
in safehouses in San Franclsco and New York City, and we have ldentified that
three individuals were involved in this undertaking as opposed to the previously
reported one person. We also know now that some unwitting testing took place
on criminal sexual peychopaths confined at a State hospital and that, additional-
ly., sesearch was done on a knock-out or “K™ drug in parallel with rescarch to
develop pain killers for cancer patienta

These, then are the principal fndings identified to date in cur review of the
recovered material. As noted earller, we balleve the detail on the identities of
researchers and Institutions involved in CIA's sponsorship of drugs and be-
bavioral modification is 2 Dew element and one which poses & considerable prob-
lem. Most of the people and Institutions jnvolved are not aware of Agency
sponsorship. We should certsinly assume that the researchers and institutions
which cooperated with CIA on a witting busis sacted in good faith and In the
belief that they were alding their government {n a legitimate and proper purpose
I beliere we all have a nforsl obligntion to these researchers and institutions to
protect them from any unjustified embarrassment or damage to their reputations
which revelation of their identities might bring. Tn addition. I have a legal
nbligation under the Privacy Aet not to publicly diasclose the ngmes of the in-
dividual researchers without thelr consent This is especially true, of course, for

- o
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those researchery aod jnstitutions which were unwitting participants In CIA-
8poasored activitiey

I am pProriding your Committee with aj] of the names nn » classifled pasis. 1
hope that this wil facilitate your Investigation whije protecting the {ndividuals
and iustitutions Involved. Let me emphasize that the MEULTRA events are 12
to 25 years in the past. I assure you that the CIA is in no way engaged in elther
witting or ouwitting testing of drugs today.

Floally, I am working closely with the Attorney Genernl and with the Secre-
tary of Heslth, Education ang Welfare on thig mutlter, We gpre making available
to the Attorney Genera] whatever materials he may deem necessary to any
Investigation he may elect to undertake, We are working with both the Attorney
General and the Secretary of Health, Education and Weifare to determine

names are part of these records, but we are working to determine If there are
adequate clues to lead to their tdentification : and If yo, how to go about fuldlline
the Government’s responsibilities in the mattep.

Admira] Torver. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I would like to begin

now have and which we did not previously have on a subject known
as Project MKULTRA, a project which took place from 1953 to 1964.
It was an umbrella project under which there were humerous sub-
Projects for research, among other things, on drugs and behavioral
modification. What the new material that we offer today is a sup-
plement to the considerable material that was made available in 1975,

during the Church committes hearings, ':;lh. also to the Senate Sub--

time that gave the greatest amount of information on this subject
was a report of the CIA's Inspector General written in 1963, and which
led directly to the termination of this activity in 1964, 13 years ago.

¢ information availahle in 1975 to the various investigating
groups was indeed sparse, first becausa of the destruction of material
that took place in 1973, as detriled by Scnator Kennedy a minnte ago.
with the concurrence of the then Director of Centra] Intelligence and
under the supervision' of the Director of the Office of Technical

i MEKULTRA.

Services that supervised Project
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For instance, the 1963 report of the Inspector General notes:
Present practice is to maintain no ~cords of th ‘plgnnin&;andq'——\ pproval of

t
test progrn.m.wu_ shwd f-{z_ & Mandly
In brief, there were fou records to begin with and less after the
destruction of 1y73. _
What I would like to do now, though, is to proceed and Jet you know
what the new material adds to our knowledge of this topic, and I

will start by describing how the materig] was discovered and why it
was not previously discovered. The material in question, some seven’ _

poxes, had been sent to our Retired Records Center outside of the
Washington area, It was discovered there as the result of an extensive

ing our boldings on behaviora] drugs and for responding to Freedom
ofg Information Act requests on this subject.

During the Church committee investigation of 1975, searches for
MEKULTRA -related material were made by examining both the active
and the retired records of al] of the branches of CIA considered likely
to have had an association with MKULTRA documents, The retired

wers normally maintained by the branch itself under the project title,
K g;RA’ not by the Budget and Fiscs] Section under a special
uaget file,

Inge the case at hand, however, this newly located material hag been
Sent to the Retired Records Center in 1970 by the Budget and Fiseal

tion of this branch as part of its own retireg holdings. In short, what
should have been filed by the branch itself was filed by the Budgel
and Fisca) Section, and what should have been filed under the project
title, MEULTRA, was filed under budget and fiscal matters, The rea-
son for this departure from the normal procedure of that time is simply
not known, and as a result of it, however, the material escaped retrieval
and destruetion in 1978, as well as discovery in 1975.

e employee who located this material did so by leaving no stone
unturned in his efforts to respond to a Freedom of Information Act
Tequest, or several of them, in fact. He reviewed all of the listings of
materia] of this branch, stored at the Retired Records Center, inclnding
those of the Budget and Fisca] Section, and thus discovered the
MK [lT‘LTRA-related documents, which had been missed in the previous
searches,

In sum. the agency failed to uncover these particular documents in
1973, in the process of attempting to destroy them, It similarly failed
to locate them in 1975, in response to the Church committes hearings
I am personslly persuaded that there is no evidence of any attempt to
conceal this materia) during the earlier searches, Moreover, a3 we will
discuss as we proceed, I do not believe the material itself is such that
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there would be a motive on the part of the CIA to withhold this, having
disclosed what it did in 1975,
Next, let me move to the neture of this recently located material.

them consists of approvale for the advance of funds, vouchers, and
fceountings and such, mos. of which are not very informative as to
the nature of the activities that they were supporting. Occasional proj-
ect proposals or memoranda comment; on some aspect of s subproject
are scattered throughout this material, In gener.:z however, the re-

There are roughly three categories of projects. First, there are 149
MKULTRA. subprojects, marf;g:f which sppear to have some connec-
tion with research into behaviora) modification, drug scquisition and
testing, or administering drugs surreptitiously. Second, there are twoi
boxes of miscellaneous MKULTRA papers, including audit reports *,
and financial statements from intermediary funding mechanisms used
to conceal CIA sponsorship of various research projects, .

Finally, there are 33 additional subprojects concerning certsin in-
telligence activities previously funded under MKUI,TRA but which
have nothing to do either with behavioral modifications, drugs snd
toxins, or any closely related matter. - .

We have attempted to group the activities covered by the 149 sub-
Projects into categories under descriptive headings. In broad outline,
8t least, this presents the contents of these files, The following 15
categories are the ones we have divided these into.

First, research ihto the effects of behavioral drugs and/or alcohol.
Within this, there are 17 projects probably not involving human test-
ing. There are 14 subprojects definitel involving testing on humany_
volunteers. There nre 19 subprojects progably including tests on human
volunteers and 6  subprojects involving tests on unwitting
htman beings, - i

Second, there is research on hypnosis, eight subprojects, including
two involving hypnosis and drugs in combination. L

Third, there are seven Projects on the acquisition of chemieals or

rugs.

Fourth, four subprojects on the aspects of the magician’s art, useful
in covert operations, for instance, the surreptitious delivery of drug-
related materials. ]

Fifth, there are nine projects on studies of human behavior, sleep
research, and behavioral change during psychotherapy. )

Sixth, there are projects on library searches and attendants at semi-
nars and international conferences on behavioral modifications.

Seventh, there are 23 projects on motivational studies, studies of
defectors, assessments of behavior and training techniques.

Eighth, there are three subprojects on polygraph research. .

Ninth. there aro three subprojects on funding mechanisms for
MEKULTRA's external research activities.
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_Tenth, there are siz subprojects on research on drugs, toxins, and
blologiqals in human tissue, provision of exotic psthogens, and the
uEl.bihty to incorporate them in effective delivery systems.

 Eleventh, there are three subprojects on activities whose nature
amply cannot be determined.

Twelfth, there are subprojects involving funding support for un-
Specified activities conducted with the Army Specia] Operations Divi-
sion at Fort Detrich, Md. This activity is outlined in Book I of the
Churc;h committee report, pages 388 to 389, (See Appendix A, pp.

Under CIA’s Project MEKNAOMI, the Army assisted the CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery
Systems for use against humans as well as against animals and crops.

Thirteenth, there are single subprojects in such areas as the effects
of electroshock, harassment techniques for offensive use, analysis of
extrasensory perception, gas propelied Sprays and aerosols, and four
subprojects involving crop and material sa

Fourteenth, one or two subprojects on each o the following: blood
grouping research ; controlling the activities of animals; enercy stor-
;gal and ltnnsfer in organic systems; and stimulus and response in

lological systems,

Finally, 15th, there are three sub_pro{ects canceled before any work
was done on them having to do with aboratory drug screening, re-
seltr;:h_ 11:1 brain concussion, and research on biologically active
materia ]

Now, let me address how much this newly discovered materia] adds
to what has previously been reported to Jm Church committee and
to Senator Kennedy’s Subcommittee on Health. The answer is basi-
cally additional detail. The rincipal types of activities included in
these documents have for the most part been outlined or to some
extent generally described in what was previously availsble in the
way of documentation and which was supplied by the CIA to the
Senate investigators. '

For example, financial disbursement records for the period of 1960
to 1964 for 76 of thess 149 subprojects had been recovered by the
Office of Finance at CIA and were made available to the Church
committee investigators. For example, the 1963 Inspector General
report oo MKULTRA made available to both the CMurch committee
and the Subcommittee on Health mentions electros::ck and harass-
ment substances, covert testing on unwitting U.S. citizens, the sea
for new materials through arrangements with specialists in hospitals

‘and universities, and the fact that the Technica] Service Division of
CIA had initiated 144 subprojects related to the control of human
avior.

For instance also, the relevant section of s 1957 Inspector General
report was also made available to the Church committee staff, and
that report discusses the techniques for human assessment and un-
orthodox methods of communication, discrediting and disabling ma-
terials which can be covertly administered, studies on magicians’ arts
as spplied to covert operations, and other similar topics.

The most significant new data that has been discovereﬁ_are, first,
the names of researchers and institutions who participated in
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MRKULTRA projects. and second, & possibly improper contribution
by the CIA to a private institution. We are now in the posses-
s10n of the names of 183 nongovernment researchers and assistants
who are identified in the recovered material dealing with these 149
subprojects.

There arc also names of 80 institutions where work was done or
with which these people were affiliated. The institutions include 44
colleges or universities, 15 research foundation or chemical or pharma-
ceutical companies or the like, 12 hospitals or clinics, in addition to
those associated with the universities, and 3 penal institutions.

While the identities of some of these people and institutions were
known previously, the discovery of the new identities adds to our
knowledge of MKULTRA. .

The facts as they pertain to the possibly improper contribution Are
as follows. One project involves a contribution of $375.000 to & build- -
ing fund of a private medical institution. The fact that that con-
tribution was made was previously known, Indeed, it was mentioned
in the 1957 report of the Inspector General on the Technical Service
Division of CIA that supervised MKULTRA, and pertinent portions
of this had been reviewed by the Church committee staff. .

The newly discovered material. howvever, makes it clear that this
contribution was made through an intermediary, which made it ap-
pear to be a private donation, As a private donation, the contribution
was then matched by Federal funds. The institution was not made
aware of the true source of the gift. This Project was approved b+
the then Director of Central Intelligence and concurred in by CIA's
top management including the then Genersal Counsel, who wrote an
opinion supporting the legality of the contribution. .

The recently discovered documents also give greater insight into
the scope of the unwitting nature of the drug testing, but contribute
little moro than that. We now do have corroborating information that
some of the unwitting drug testing was carried out in what is known
in the intelligence trade as safe houses in San Francisco and in New
York City, and we have identified that three individuals were in-
volved in this undertaking, whereas we previously reported there was
only one person. .

We also know now that some unwitting testing took place on crimi-
nal sexual psychopaths confined at a State hospital, and that addi-
tionally research was done on & knockout or K drug in parallel with
research to develop painkillers for cancer petients,

These, then. are the principal findings identified to date in our re-
view of this recovered material. As noted earlier, we believe the de-
tail on the identities of researchers and institutions involved in CTA
sponsorship of drug and behaviora] modification research is a new
element and one which poses a considerable probiem. Most of the peo-
ple and institutions involved were not aware of CIA sponsorship. We
should certainly assume that the researchers and institutions which
cooperated with CIA on a witting basis acted jn good faith and in
the belief that they were aiding their Government in a legitimate and
Proper purpose.

I believe that we all have & moral obligation to these researchers
and institutisns to protect them from any unjustifed embarrassment
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or damage to their reputations which revelation of their identities
might bring. In addition, I have a Jegal obligation under the Privacy
Act not to publicly disclose the naines of the individual researchers
without their consent. .

This is especially true, of course. for those researchers and institu-
tions which were unwitting participants in CIA sponsored activities.

Nonetheless, Mr. Chairman, I certainly recognize the right and the
need of both the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence and the
Senate Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research to investigate
the circumstances of these activities in whatever detail you consider
necessary. I am providing your committee with all of the documenta-
tion, including all of the names, on a classified basis. I hope t_ha..t this
will facilitate your investigation while still protecting the individuals
and the institutions involved.

Let me emphasize agnin that the MKUT.TRA events are 12 to 24
years in the past, and I assure you that CIA is in no way engaged in
either witting or unwitting testing of drugs today. .

Finally, I am working closely with the Attorney General on this

matter. We are making available to the Attorney General whatever
materials he may deem necessary to any investigations that he may
elect to undertake. Beyond that, we are also working with the Attorney
General to determine whether it is practicable from this new evidence
to identify any of the persons to whom drugs may have been admin-
istered unwittingly. No such names are part of these records. We have
not identified the individuals to whom drugs were administered, but
we are trying now to determine if there are adequate clues to lead to
their identification, and if so how best to go about fulfilling the Gov-
ernment’s responsibilities in this matter.
., Mr. Chairman, as we proceed with that process of attempting to
identify the individuals and then determining what is our proper re-
sponsibility to them, T will keep both of these conmmittees fully ad-
vised. I thank you, sir.

Senator Inoorr. Thank yon very much, Admiral Turner. Your
spirit of cooperation is much appreciated. I would like to announce to
the committee that in order to give cvery member an opportunity to
participate in this hearing, that we would set a time limit of 10 minutes

. per Senator.

Admiral Turner, please give this committee the genesis of MKULL
TRA. Who or what committee or commission or agency wa, responsi-
ble for dreaming up this grandiose and sinister project, and why was
1t necessary? What is the rationaie or justification for such a project
and was the President of the United States aware of this!

Admiral Torxen. Mr. Chairman. I am going to ask Mr. Brody on
my right, who is a long-time member of the CIA to address that in
more detail. I believe everything that we know about the zenesis was
turned over to the Church committes and is contnined in that ma-
terial. Basically, it was a CTA-initiated project. It started out of a
concern of our being taken advantage of by other powers who wonld
use drugs agninst our personnel. and it was approved in the Agencev, I
have asked the question you just asked me. and have been assured that
there is no evidence within the Agency of any involvement at higher
echelons, the White House, for instance. or specific approval. That
does not say there was not, but we have no such evidence,

l—-'ﬂ’ L Y
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Mr. Brody, would you amplify on my comments there, please?

Mr. Broov. Mr. Chairman, T really have very little to add to that.

Senator Inouye. Were the authorized members of the Congress
made aware of this project through the budgetary process?
Mcr. Broor. We have no lmow]edge. of that, sir.

away from the Congress and the President of the United States? )

Admiral Turver No, sir, We are only saying that we Luve no evi-
dence one way or the other as to whether the C%ngnss was informed
of this particular project. There are no records to indicate.

Senator INouye. Admiral Turner, are you personally satisfied by
actua] invostifntion that this newly discovered information was not
intentionally ept away from the Senate of the United States!

Admiral Tvryer. T have N0 way to prove that, sir. That is my con-
viction from everything I have seen of it.

Senater Inorye. Now, wo have been advised that these docum.ents
were initially discovered in March of this year, and you were notified
in July of this Yyear, or June of this year, and the committee was noti-
fied in .July. Can you tell us why the Director of Central Intelligence
was notified 3 months after its initial discovery, why the delsy!

Admiral TuryEr. Yes, sir. All this started with severa] Freedom of
Information Act F*quests, and Mr. Laubinger on my left was the in-
dividua!l who took it upoh himself to pursue these requests with great
diligence. and got permission to go to the Retired Records Center, and
then made the decisjon to look not only under what would be the ex-
pected subject files, but through every file with which the branch that

them for Freedom of In formstion Act release. _

There are, wo originally estimated, 5,000 here. We now think
that was an underestimation, and it may be closer to 8,000 pages. He
estimated it would take about 45 days or into the middle of May to
do that. He was told to proceed, and as he did so there was nothing
uncovered in the beginning of these 149 cases that appeared particu-

i i iti edl; that had al-
ready been given to the Church committee, some details, but no major
revelations. . ’

He and his assoriates proceeded with deliberateness, but not a great
sense of urgency. There were other interfering activities that came
and demanded his time also, He was not able to put 100 percent of his
time on it, and there did not appear to be cause for a great rush here.

e were trying (o be responsive to the Freedom of Infort_mtion Act
request within the limits of our manpower and our priorities,
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In early June. however, he discovered two projects, the one related
to K drugs and the one related to the funding at the institution, and
realized immediately that he had substantiafncw information, and
he immediately reported this to hijs superiors.

Two actions were taken. One was to notify the lawyers of the prin-
cipal Freedom of Information Aet requestor that we would have sub-
stantial new material and that it would be forthcoming as rapidly as
possible, and the second was to start a memorandum up the chain

As that proceeded up from the 13th of June. at each echelon we had
to go through the legal office, tha legislative linison office and at each
echelon about the same question was asked of him: Have you gone
through all of this, so that when we notify the Senate Select Com-
mittee we do not notify half of the important relevations and not the
other halft The last thing I want, Mr. Chairman. is in any way to
be on any topic, give the 2ppearance on any topic of heing recalcitrant,
reluctant. or having to have you drag things out of me, and my sub-
ordinates, much to my pleasure, had each asked. have you really gone
through these 8,000 pages cnough to know that we are not going to
uncover a bombshell down at the bottom ? .

By late June, sbout the 28th, this process reached my deputy. He
notified me after his review of it on the 7th of July, which is the first
1 knew of it. I began reading into it. I asked the same probing ques-
tion directly. I then notified my superiors, and on the 15th delivered
to you my letter letting you know that we had this, and we have been
working, many people, many hours since then, to be sure that what we
are telling you today does include all the relevant material,

Senator Ixovre. I would like to commend Mr. Laubinger for his
diligence and expertise. but was this diligence the result of the Free-
dom of Information Act or could this diligence have been exercised
during the Church hearings? Why was it not exercised !

Admiral TorNER. There is no question that theoretically this dili-
gence could have been exercised at any time, and it may well be that
the Freedom of Information Act has made us more aware of this.
Would you speak for yourself, please. ) .

Mr. Laoeinges. I really don't attribute it, Senator, to diligence so
muchk as thoroughness. If you can imagine the gressu_rs under an
organization trying to respond, which I think the CIA did at the time
of the Church committee hearings, the haliways of the floor I am on
were full of boxes from our records center. Every box that anyone
thought could possibly contain aivthing was cnlled up for search, It
was one of a frantic effort to comply.

When the pressure of that situation cools down, and you can start
looking nt things systematicelly, you are apt to ﬁnq things that you
wouldn’t under the heat of a crash program, and that is what happened
here.

Senator INotye. Thank vou very much. Senator Kennedf! .

Senator Kex~epy. Admiral Turner, this is an enormous y dxstx:ass-
ing report that you give to the American Congress and to the American
people today. Granted, it happened many years ago, but what we are
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basically talking about is an activity which took place in the country
that involved tne perversion and the corription of many of our out-
standing research centers in this country. with CLA funds, where some
of our top Fesearchers were unwittingly involved in research spon-
sored by the Agency in which they had no knowledge of the back-
ground or the support for.

Much‘of 1t was done with American citizens who were completely
unkno-wing in terms of taking various drugs, end there are perhaps
any number of Americans who are walking around today on the east
coast or west coast who were given drugs, with all the kinds of physical
and psychological damege that can be caused. We have gone over that
In very careful detail, and it s significant and severe indeed.

do not know what could be done in a less democratic country

that would be more alien to our, own traditions than was really done -

in this narrow area, and as you give this report to the committee, I
would like to get some sense of your own concern about this type of

activity, and how you react, having assumed this important responsibil-
ity with the confidence of President Carter and the overwhelming
su?port, obviously, of the, Congress, under this set of circumstances.

did not get much of s feeling in reviewing your statement here this
morning of the kind of abhorrence to this type of past activity which
I think the American people wonld certainiy deplore and which I
believe that you do. but could you comment upon that question, and also
perl.u{:s give us what ideas you have to insure that it cannot happen
again

Admiral TeryEr. Senator Kennedy, it is totally abhorrent to me to
think of using 2 human beingasa guinea pigand in any way jeopardiz-
ing his life and his health, no matter how great the cause. I am not
here to pass judgment on my predecessors. but I can assure you that
this is totally beyond the pale of my contemplation of activities that
the CIA or any other of our intelligence agencies should undertake.

I am taking and have taken what I believe are adequate steps to
insure that such things are not continuing today.

Senator Kexveny, Could you tell us a little bit about that!

Admiral Teaver. T have asked for a special repott assuring me that
there are no drug activities extant. that is. drug activities that involvé
experimentation. Obviously. we collect intelligence about drugs and
drug use in other countries, but there are no experimentations being
conducted by the Central Intelligence Agency,and I have had a special
check made because of another incident that was uncovered some years
ago about the unauthorized retention of some toxic materials at the

-IA. T have had an actual insqection made of the storage places and
the certification from the people in charge of those that there are no
such chemical biological materials Present in our keeping, and I have
issued express orders that that shall not be the case.

Beyond that, T have to rely in large measure on my sense of com-
mand and direction of the people and their knowledge of the attitude
I'have just expressed to vou in this regard. '

Senator Kex~ror. I think that is very commendable.

Admiral Tvexzn Thank you, sir.

Senator Kexxmor. I think it is im portant that the American people

understand that.

>
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You know, much of the research which is our atea of interest that
was being done by the Agency and the whole involved sequence of ac-
tivities done by the Agenty, I am convinced could have been done in a
legitimate way through the research programs of the National Insti-
tutes of Mental Health, other sponsored activities. I mean, that is some
other question, but I think you went to an awfu] lot of trouble, where
these things could have been.

Let me ask you specifically, on the followup of MIXULTRA, are
there now—I think you have answered, but I want to get a complete
answer about any experimentations that are being done on human be-
ings, whether it is drugs or behavioral alterations or patterns or any
support, either directly or indirectly, being provided by the Agency in
terms of any experimentation on human beings.

Admiral Turxes. There is no experimentation with drugs on human
beings, witting or unwitting, being conducted in an way. .

Senator Kenyepy. All right. Or being supported indirect] y? I mean,
are you contracted out? :

Admiral Turnen Or being in any way supported. o

Senator Ken~eny. All right. How about the nondrug exrenmenta-
tion our Committee has seen—psychosurgery, for example, or psy-
chological research?

Admiral Turser. We are continually involved in what we call gs-
sessment of behavior. For instance, we are trying to continually im-
prove our polygraph procedures to, you know, assess whether a person
15 lying or not. This does not involve any tampering with the individ-
ual body. This involves studying records of people’s behavior under
different circumstances, and so on, but it is not an experimental thing.
Have I described that accurately, Al?

Mr. Broor. Yes. _

Senator KenNEDY. Well, it is limited to those areas!

Admiral TurNER. Yes; it does not involve attempting to modify be-
havior. It only involves studying behavior conditions. but not trying
to actively modify it, as was one of the objectives of MKULTRA.

Senator KExNFDY, Well, we are searce on time, but T am interested
in the other areas besides polygraph where you are doing it. Maybe
You can either respond now or submit it for the record, if you would do
that. Would you provide that for the record !

Admira] TorNex. Yes. '

(The material on psychological assessments follows |

Prychologica! assessments are performed as a service to officers In the opera-

tions directorate who recruit and/or handle agenta. Except for people {nvoived

In training courses, the sabjects of the asseasments are foreign nationals. The
Assessments are generully doae to determine the most successful tactic to persnade
the subject to accept covert employment by the CIA, and to make an appralsal of

bis relizsbility and truthfniness.
A majority of the work is done by a staff of trained psychologists, some of

whom are stationed overseas. The assessments they do mey he either direct or

gence test” which'la actusily s disguised psychological test. Individuals being
assessed are pot given drugs, nor are they subjected to physical harassment or
torture. When operating conditions sre guch that a face-to-face Interview i not
posaible. the paychologist may do an ledirect assessment, using as source ma-
terials deseriptions of the subject Ly others, interviews with people who know

him, specimens of his writings, ete.
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The other peychological assessments invoive handwriting analyyls or grapho-
logical sssessment. The work iy done by a palr of trained Sraphologists, ssisted
by & small nomber of Weasurement techiniciayg, They generaily require at least
& page of handwritten script by the subject. Measurements are made of about
30 different writing characteciatics, gpéd these are charted and furnished to the
gruphologist for assessments.

he paychologtats aigo ive courses in Paychological assessment to group ot
operations officers, to sharpen their own capabilities to size TP people. As part of
the truining course, the instroctor does a paychological assessment of egch
:;udent. The students arv witting Participants, and results are dlscussed with
em. :

It is Important to reiterate that paychological ammessments sre only & eervice
to the opirations officers, In the fioal analysis, (¢ s the responsibility of the
Operations officer to decide how o potential agent should be approached, or to
make & judgement ag to whether any agent is telling the truth.

response that we can ex from people we 3 roach to for one reason
or a&c::th.er' beemfm ourp:;'i"es, but I l:v' be Il’:!:.ppy‘t.o submit s very
spec of these, -
Semtg?m‘Kanmr. Would you do that for the comumittes !
In the followups, in the MESEARCH, in the OFTEN, and the
CHICKW'IT, could you give us also a report on those particular

programs
Admirs]l Tornen. Yes, sir,
Senator Kenneny, Did they involve experimentation, human
experimentation f
Admiral Torxes. No, sir.
Senator KxvNepy, None of them i
Admira] Torvzs. Let me say this, that CHICKWIT program is the
code name for the CIA participation in what was besically & Depart-
ment of Defense program. T:-is program was summarized and re-
rted to the Church committee, to the Congress, and I have since they
8ve been rementioned in the press in the last 2 days here, I have not
had time to 'go through and rsonally review them. I have ascertained
e ﬁlsl:gat weid and made available before ars intact,
and I have put a specia] order vut that nobody will enter those files

or in any w:g touch them without my permission at this point, but
' e

they are in Retired Records Center outside of Washington, and
thery are availsble. ]
am not prepared to give you full details on it, because I simply
baven't read into that part of our history, but in addition I would sug-
frst when we waat to get into that we should get, the Depsrtment of
fense in with us, . ]

Senator Kenwrpy. Well, you will supply that information to the
Intelligence Committee, the relevant, I mean, the health aspects, obvi-
ously, and the research we are interested in?

dmiral Tur~es. Yes, sir,

Senator Kexxzny. Will you let us know, Admiral Turner!

Admiral Tervez. T will be happy to.

[See p. 169 for the materia] referred to.]

Senator KexNeny. Thank you. I am running out of time. Do you
Support the extension of the protection of human subjects legislation
to include the CIA and the DOD? You commented favorably on that
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before, and I am hopeful we can get that on the calendar early in
September, and that ge our strong ingt:rest. d

dmiral Tvaxer The CIA certainly has no objection to that pro-
posed legislation, sir. It is not my role in the administration to be the
supporter of it or the endorser of it.

nator Krnweoy. As a personal matter, since you have reviewed
these subjects, would you comment?! 1 know it is maybe unusual, but
youl can understand what we are attempting to do.

Admire] Toaner. Yes, sir.

Semator Kenweor. From your own experience in the agency, you
can understand the value of it.

Just finally, in your own testimony now with this additional infor-
mation, it seems quite apparent to me that you can reconstruct in very
careful detail this whole groject in terms of the responsible CIA
officials for the rogram. You have so indicated in your testimony.

Now with the additional information, and the people, that have been .

revealed in the examination of the documents, it seems to be. sxﬁ
clear that you can track that whole program in very careful detail,
and I would hope, you know, that You would want to get to the bottom
of it, as the Congress does as well. T will come back to that in my next
round. Thenk you very much.

Senator INoUYE. Senator Goldwater!

Senator GoLowATER. I have no questions.

Senstor INouTe Senator Schweiker{

Senator Scawzrxzr. Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Admiral Turner, I would like to go back to your testimony on page
12, where u{.ou discuss the contribution to tge building fund of a
Private medical institution. You state, “Indeed, it was mentioned in a
1957 Inspector General report on the Technical Service Division of
CIA, pertinent jportions of which had been reviewed by the Church
committee stafl.” I would like to have you consider this question very
carefullg. I served as a inember of the original Church committes,
My staffer did a lot of the work that you are referring to here. He
made notes on the IG’s report. M question to you is, sre you saying
that the section that specifically J;elmeates An Improper contribution
was in fact given to the Church committee staff to see!

Admirs! NzR. The answer to your question is “Yes.” The infor-
mation that a contribution had been made was made available, to the
best of my knowledge.

Senator Scuwmker, Only certain sections of the report were made
available. The report had to be reviewed out at Langley; it was not
reviewed here, and copies were not given to us here, I just want you to
carefully consider what you are saying, because the on]i record we
have .are the notes :hat the staff took on anything that was of
significance.

Admins] Toaver. My understanding was that Mr, Maxwell was
shown the relevant portion of this report that disclosed that the con-
tribution had been made. )

Senator Scawerxza. To follow this up further, I'd like to say that
I think there was a serious flaw in the way that the IG report was
handled and the Charch committee was limited. I am not ma g sny
accusations, but because of limited access to the report, we have a situ-
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ation where it is not even clear whether we actunlly saw that msterial
or not, simply because we could not keep a copy of the report under
the procedures we had to follow. We were limited by notetaking, and
S0 it is rather ambiguous as to just what was seen and what was not
sean. I certainly hope that the new Intelligence Committee will not
be bound by procedures that so restrict its a ility to exercise effective

oversight. .

I have a second question. Does it concern ou, Admiral, that we used
& subterfuge which resulted in the use of Federal construction grant
funds to finance facilities for these sorts of cxperiments on our own
people! Because as I understand what you are saying, while the CIA
maybe only put up $375,000, this triggered a res onse on the part. of
the Federa]l Government to provide on a good faith basis matchi
hospital funds st the same level. We put up more than §1 l.mlhon.o
matching funds, some based on an al y private donation which
was rulfy CIA money.

Isn't there something basically wrong with that !
Admiral Turxer. I certainly, believe there is. As I stated, the Gen-

eral Counsel of the CIA at that time rendered & legal opinion that
this was a legal undertaking, and again I am hesitant to go back and
revisit the atmosphere, the laws, the attitudes at that time, so whether
the counsel was on good legal ground or not, I am not enough of a
lawyer to be sure, but it certainly would occur to me if it happened
today as a very questionable activity.

Senator Scwersen. Well, I think those of us who worked on and
amended the Hill-Burton Act and other hospital construction as-
sistance laws over the years, would have  rather different opinion on
the legal intent or object of Congress in passing laws to provide hos-
5;;;1 construction project money. These funds weren't intended for

It reminds me 2 little bit of the shellfish toxin situation which turned
up when I was on the Church committee. The Public Health Service
was used to produce a deadly poison with Public Health money. Here
we are using general hospital construction money to carry on a series of
drug experiments.

Admira] Torvzer. Excuse me, sir. If I could just be, I think, ac-
curate, I don’t think any of this $375,000 or the matching funds were
used to conduct drug experiments. They were used to build the hos-
pital. Now, the CTA then put more money into a foundation that was
condueting research on the CTA’s behalf supposedly in that hospital, so
the intent was certainly there, but the money was not used for
expertmentation.

nator ScAwerker. Well, I understand it was used for bricks and
mortar, but the bricks were used to build the facility where the experi-
ments were carried on ; were they not?

Admirs] Torvex. We do not have positive evidence that they were.
It certainly would seem that that was the intent, but I do not want to
draw inferences here—— -

Senator Sciwerker. Well, why else would they give this money for
the building fund if the building was not useg for a purpose that
benefited the CIA program#{

Admiral Torver I certainly draw the inference that the CTA
expected to benefit from it, and some of the wording says the General
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Counsel’s opinion was that this was legal only if the CIA was going
to derive u:fequnte benefit from it, but, sir, there is no evidence of what
benefit was derived.

Senator Scitwrrkes. There must have been some pretty good benefits
ut stake. The Atomic Energy Coinmission was to bear u share of the
cost, and when they backedgzut for some reason or another, the CIA
picked up part of their tab. So, at two different points there were
indications that CIA decisionmakers thought there was great benefit
to be derived from whatever happened within the brick and mortar
walls of that facility. _

Admiral Turxer. You are sbsolutely right. I am only taking the
Position that I cannot substantiate that there was benefit derived. ]

Senator Scuwerker. The agreement documents say that the CIA
would have access to one-sixth of the space involved in the construction
of the wing, so how would you enter into an agreement that specifically
says that you will have access to and use of one-sixth of the space and
not perform something in that space? I cannot believe it was em: ty.

Agfniral Torxzr. Sir, I am not disputing you at all, but Eoth of us
are saying that the inference is that one-sixth of the space was used,
that experimentation was done, and so on, but there is.no factun] evi-
dence of what went on as & result of that payment or what went on in
that hospital. It is just missing. It is not that it didn't happen.

Senator Scirwerker. Admiral Turner, one other——

Senator KEnNEDY. Would the Senator yield on that point ¢

Senator Scnweixer. T understand that in the agency's documents
on the agreement it was ex licitly stated that one-sixth of the facility
would be designated for CIA use and made available for CIA re-
search. Are you familiar——

. Mr. Brooy. Senator, as I recall, you are right in that there is a men-
tion of one-sixth, but any mention at all has to do with planning. There
::rekno]subsequent reports as to what happened after the construction

ook place.

Senator Scitwerxer. Admiral Turner, I read in the New Yock Times
that part of this series of MKULTRA ex riments involved an ar-
rangement with the Federal Bureau of Narcotics to test LSD sur-
reptitiously on unwitting patrons in bars in New York and San
Francisco.” Some of the subjects became violently ill and werw hos-
pitalized. T wonder if you would just briefly describe what we were
doing there and how it was carried out? ¥ assume it was through a safe
house operation. I don’t believe your statement went into much detajlL.

Admiral Toryex. I did mention the safe house operation in my
statement, sir, and that is how these were carried out. What we heve
learned from the new docamentation is the location and the dnates at
which the safe honses were rup by the CTA and the identification of
three individuals who were associated with running those safe houses.
We know something about the construction work that was done in
them because there were contracts for. this, Beyond that, we are pretty

infer that much, r-ight!
Admiral Toxyex Right.

-

=
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Senstor Scawemen, I you happened to be at the wrong bar at the
wrong place and time, you got it

Mr, Broor. Senator, that would be—contacts were made, as we
understand it, in bars, et cetera, and then the people may ha /e been
invited to these safe houses, There really isn't any indiestion as to
the fact that this took place in the bars,

Admiral Tornes, We are trying to
not draw an in.ferenee. hen: There are 6 cases of these 149 where we

there was unwitti testing and
houses. There are other cases where it is ambiguous as to whether the
testing was witting or voluntary. There are others where it was clearly

cases in pena! institutions where it is not clear whether the prisoner
was given & choice or not, T don’t know that he wasn’ given a choice,
but I don’t positively know that he was, and I claseify that as an
ambiguous incident.

Senator Inovyr, Your time is up, Senator.

Senator Huddleston

uzls connected with the earlier search before you made that judgment?
Admira]l Toryem, Yes; I haven't, T don't think, questioned erery-

body who looked in the tiles or is still on our Ya 11 who locked in

the files back in 1975, but Mr., Laubinger on my left is the best author-

_ 1ty on this, and I have pone over it with him in some detail,

Senator Huvorestox. Byt you have inquired, tgou think, sufficiently
to assure yourself that thers was no intent on the part of ADy person
to conceal these records from the previous committee ! ]

Admirs]l Toexer T am persusded of that both by m questioning
of people and by the circumstances and the way in whié these docu-
ments were filed, by the fact which I did not snd should have men-
tioned in my testimony, that these were not the official files. The ones
that we have received or retrieved were copies of files that were work-
ing files that somebody had used, and therefore were slipped into a
different location, and aguin I say to you, sir, I cant imagine their
deliberately concealing these particular files and Tevealing the other
things that they did reveal in 1975, I don’t see the motive for that,
because these are not that damning compared with the overall material
that was provided,

Senator Huovorzstoy, Is this the kind of operation that if it were
continuing now or if there were anything similar to it, that you would
feel compelled to report to the Select C%mmittee on Intelligence?

Admiral Toryer. Yes, sir. Yon mean, if I discovered that some-
thing like thiswere going on without my knowledge! Yes I would
feel absolutely the requirement to-.— .
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Senator HoooLestox. But if it were going on with your knowledge,
would you report it to the committeef I assume you would. ]

Admiral Ttrver Yes. Well, it would not be going on with my
knowledge, but theoretically the answer js ¥es, sir.

Senator HupbresTox. Well, then, what su ions would you have
a3 we devise charters for the various inte ce ncies! What

taking place? Would you suggest that it ought to be specifica ly out-
lined in a statutory charter setting out the parameters of the per-
missible operation of the various agencies?!

. Adminal Turver. I think that certainly is something we must con-
sider as we look at the legislation for charters. I am not on the face
of it opposed to it. I think we would havs to look at the particular
wording as we are going to have to deal with the whole charter issue
as to exactly how precise you want to be in delineating restraints and
curbs on the intelligence activities,

Senator HuooresToN. In the case of sensitive operations, which
this eeruinleu, which might be going on t 2y, 1S the oversight
activity of t lgencifmore intensive now than it was at that timef

Admiral Torwer. Much more so. I mean, I have briefed you, sir,
and the committes on our sensitive operations. We have the Intel-
ligence Oversight Board. We have a procedure in the National Se-
curity Council for approval of very sensitive operations. I think the
amount of spotlight focused on these activities is many, manyfold
what it was in these 12 to 24 yearsago. - .

Senator Huvoreston. How about the record keeping? -

Admirs] Torver. Yes; I can't imagine anyone luvingfg.ee gsll to
think that he can just blithely destroy records today with all of the
attention that has come to this, and certainly we are emphasizing that
that is not the case.

Senator HoopresTox. Admira), T was particularly interested in the
activity that took place at the U.S. Publis Healtl Service Hospital at
Lexington, Ky., in which & Dr. Harris Isbell conducted experiments
on people who were presumably patients there. There was a narcotics
institution, I take it, and Dr. Isbell was, according to the New York
Times story, carrying on o secret series of correspondence with an

individual af. the agency by the name of Ray. Have you identified who .
that person ist _ £
AJ:iml Turwex, Sir, I find myself in » difficult position here at

a public hearing to confirm or deny these names in view of my legal
ir:c:lgo%iwtiw under the Privacy Act not to disclose the names of
ividu ere.

Senator Hupbrzston. T am just asking you if you have identified 805
the person referred to in that article as Ray. I am not asking you who

u .

he was. T just want to know if you know who he is.

Admirs]l Torver. No. I am sorry, was this W-r-a-y or R-a-y? ]

Senator HuvoLeston. It is listed in the news article as R-a-y, in
quotations, _ .

Admiral Torven. No, sir. we have not identified him.

Senator HrooLesTox. So you have no knowledge of whether or
not he is still a member of vour staff or ronnected <with the Agency in
any way. Have you attempted to identify him?

ey
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Pau;se.? ,
na.mdme isrlga 'T'Un_whm Sﬁnabor, %e have o former employec whose first
stor oo 0 may have had some connection with these activities.
. +1"DOLESTON. You suspect that but you have not verified

that at this time, or at least yo : e . Y
70u have verified it Fou &re not in & position to indicate that
Admirs]

Senator Hovoreston, Thank you,
ank you, Mr. Chairman. 7

Senator INoUYE. Senator Wallop t

Senator Wartor. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admira} Turner, not all of the—and in no way trying to excuse
you of the hideous nature of some of these projects, but not all of the
Erom.uﬁ;r sﬁg’[}ﬁRA are of a sinister or even & moral nature.

en .

Admiral Toenes. That is correct.

Senator Warroe, Looking down through some of these 17 projects
not involving human testing, sspects of the magician's art, it doesn’t
Seem as though there is anything very sinister about that. Studies of
human .behavior and slee research, library searches. Now, those
things 1n their way are still of interest, are they not, to the process
of intelligence gatheringt

. Admirs] TorNER. Yes, sir. T have not tried to indicate that we

involved in MEULTRA, but when it comes to the witting or unwitting
tishtmg of people with drugs, that is certsinly verboien, but there are

other thm%

Senator WarLor. Even with volunteer patients! I mean, I am not
trying to put you on the spot to say whether it is going on. but T mean,
1t is not an uncommon thing, is it, in the prisons of the United States
for the Public Health Service to conduct various kinds of experiments
&"th vaccines and, say, sunburn creams? I know in Arizona they have

one so.

Admiral TorNER. My understanding is, lots of that is anthorized,
but T am not of the opinion that this s not the CIA’s business, and
that if we need some information in that category, I would prefer
to go to the other appropriate authorities of the Government and ask
them to get it for us rather than to in ANy way——

Senator Warror. Well, you kniow. you have librery searches and at-
tendants at the national seminars. This is why I wanted to ask you if
the bulk of these projects wers in any way the kinds of things that the
Agency might not do now. A President would not have been horrified
by tixe list of the legitimate types of things. Isn't that probably the
case

Admira]l Torwzr. Yes, sir. o

Senator Warror. And if it did in fact sppear in the IG report, is
there any reason to suppose that the President did not know of this
project! You said there was no reason to suppose that he did, but let
me reverse that. Is there any reason to suppose that they did not

Admiral Toryer. No.

Senator Warror. Well. you know. I just cannot imagine vou or

literally anybody undertaking projects of the magnitude of dollars

here and just not knowing sbout it, not informing your superior that
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these were going on, especially when certain items of it appear in the
Inspector General’s report on budget matters.

Admiral Teever. Well, T find it difficult when it is that far back to
hypothesice what the precedures that the Director was using in terms
of informing his superiors were. It is quite 8 different climate from
today, and I think we do s lot more informin today then they did
bg.ck then, but I find it very difficult to guess wgnt the level of knowl-
edge was,

Senator Warror. I am really not asking you to second-guess it, but
it just seems to me that, while the past is past, and thank goodness we
are operating under different sets of circumstances, I think it is naive
for us to sup that these things were conducted entirely without the
knowledge of the Presidents of the United States during those times.

It is just the kinds of rescarch information that was being sought was ~

vital to the United States, not the means, but the information that they,

were trying to find. ) )

Ader:mem I am sorry. Your quastion is, was this vital? Did
we view it as vital f

Senator Warror. Well, your implication at the beginning was that
it was a response to the kinds of behavior that were seen in Cardinal
Mindszenty’s trial and other things. I mean, somebody must have
thought that this was an important defensive reaction, if nothing else,
on the part of the United States.

Admiral Torver, Yes, sir, I am sure they did, but egain I just don't
know how high that permeated the executive branch,

Senator Warror. But the kinds of information are still important
to you. I mean, I am not suggesting that anyone go back and do that
kind of tuing again, but I'm certain it would be of use to you to know
what was going to happen to one of your agents assuming someone had
pul:. one of these things into his bloodstream, or tried to modify his

avior.

Admira] Toexer. Absolutely, and you know, we woul be very con-
cerned if we thought there were t}u'nilike truth serums or other
things that our agents or others could subjected to by usc or im-
proper use of drugs by other powers agninst our people or agents,

Senator Warror. ATe there? T don’t ask you to name them, but are
there such serums?

Admiral Toanzs. I don't kmow of them if there are. I would have to

sir.
Senator Warrop, d apfm:iate that.
The material referred to follows :]

“TSUTR" DRUGS IN INTERROGATION

Stephens, writing In 1883, rationalives 3 grisly example of “third degree” prac
tices by the pollce of India: “It Is far pleasanter to sit comfortably in the shade
rubbing red pepper In a poor devil's eyes than to go about in the san buating op

evidence.”
More recently, police officials In some countries have turned to drugs fnr assist-

ance in extracting confessions from sccused persons, drugs which ara esumed
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to relax the Individosal‘s defensex to the polnt that he unknowingly reveals truths
ha has been trying to conceal. This Investigative technlque, however humanitarian
4% an siternative to physical torture. still raises serions questior3 of individual
rights and liberties. In this couatry, where drugy have sained only marginal
dceeptAnce o police work. thelr se has provoked crie; of “paychological third
degree” and has precipitated medico-legal controTersies that after a quarter of

@ centary still occasionally fiare {nto the open,
The use of so-called “trath™ druss in police work 1s similar to the accepted

paychiatrie practice of RArco-anairsis; the difference in the two procedures lies
in their different objectiTes. The police investigator Iy coacern
truth that mar be used against the suapect, and therefore a
probative truth : the usefulness of the suspect’s revelations depends ultimately on
thelr scceptance in evidence by a court of lavw. The psychiatist, on the nther hand,
using the same “truth” d.:ugs in diagnosis and treatment of the mentally {I1, 1y
primarily concerned with prychological truth or psychological
empirical fact. A patient's aberrations gre reality for him at ¢t

accounts continue to e:g:lolt the appeal of the te:;m. ;I'hafongul: is to play up
4 few spectacular “teyth" drug successess and to mply that the drugs are more
maligned than need be angd more widely empioyed In criminal investigntion than
can oficially be ndwitted.

Any technique that promises an Increment of success {n extracting Information
from an uacnmpliant source s ip20 facto of Interest In Inteiligence operatons.
It the ethica) considerations which in Western countries Iohibit the use of narco-
Interrogation in police work are felt also in intelligence, the Western services
must at least be prepared aguinst its possible employmant by the adversary. An
understanding of “truyth” drugs, their charscteristic actions, and thelr potentiall-
ties, positive and Regative, for ellciting usefnl Information is fundamenta) to an
ddequate defenge against them.

This discussion, meant to belp toward such 4n understanding, draws primarily
Bpon openly published materials. It has the limitations of projecting from erimi-
nal investigutive practices and from the permissive atmosphere of drug peycho-

therapy.
SCOPNAMINE A8 ‘“ryuTH sSERUM"

Early In thig century physiclans begap to employ scopolamine, along with
morphine and chioroform, to induce a state of “twilight sleep” during childbirth.
A constituent of henbane, scopolamine was known to produce sedation and drowsi-

" tess, confusion and disorientation, incoordlnatlon. and amnesia for events ex-
twilight sleep

arranged to interview under scopolamine two prisoners In the Dallgs county
Jail whoge gullt secmed clearly confirmed. Under the drug, both men denied the
charges on which they were held ;: and both, upon trial, were found not guilty.
Ent_h_nuutlc at this success, Honse concluded that g patient under the Infigence

Idea of a “truth” drug was thus launched upon the public conselo A

The phrase “truth serum” Ig believed to bave appeared Srat 15 4 Dews report
of House's eXperiment in the Log dngeles Record, Sometime in 1022 Honge resisted
the term for 5 whije bat cventually came to employ jt regularly himself, He pub-
llahed some eleven articles on Scopoiamine [n the years 1921-1929, with o notice-
able increase in polemical zea] a5 time went on. What had begun as Something
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Ouly a handful of cases in which scopolamlne was used for police interroga-
tlon came to pubilc notice, though there is evidence suggestiag that some police
forces may have used ¢ exteasively. [2, 16] One police writer claimg that the
threa! of scopolamine interrogation has been effective in extracting confessions
from eriming] Suspects, who are told they will first be rendered unconscloys by
chlora! hydrate placed covertiy in their coffee or drinking water.[16)

Because of a number of undesirable side effects, scopolamine was shortly dis-
qualified a3 & “trytp” drug. Among the most disabling of the side effects are
hallocinations, distyrped perception, somnolence, and pbysiological phenomena
fuch as headache, rapid heart. and blaorred vislon, which distract the subject from
the central purpose of the interview. Furthermore, the physical action Ls long, far
outlasting the psychologica] effects. Scopolamine continues, In some cases, to make
snesthesis and surgery safer by drring the mouth and throat and reducing secre-
tlons that might obstruct the gr passages. But the fantastically, aimost painfully,
dry “desert” mouth brought on by the drug Is hardly conducive to free talking,

even In a tractable subject.
THE RARMITURLTES

The first suggestion that drugs might facilitate communication with emo-
tonally disturbed pattenzs Came quite Ly sccident in 1916, Arthur 8, Lovenhart
and hls assoclates c: the University of Wisconsin, experimenting with respiratory
stimulants, were surprised when, after an injection of sodium cyanide, a catatonie
patient who had long been mute and.rigid suddenly relaxed, opened bis eyes, and
even snswered a few questions. By the early 1030's 5 number of peychlatrists
were experimenting with drugs as an 2djunct to established methods of therapy.

The barditurates, frst synthesized in 1903, are among the oldest of modern
drugs and the most versatile of all depressants, Ia this half-century some 2.600
have been prepared. and about two dozen of these have won an important place
ln medicine. An estimated three to fogr billlon doses of barbiturates are pre-
scribed by physicians In the United States each Jear, and they have come to be
known by a variety of commercial names and colorfnl slang expressions : “goof-
balls.,” Lumigal, Nembutal, “red devils” “yellow Jackets,” “pink ladies,” ete.
Three of them which are tised In narcoanalysis and have gseen service as "trath”
drugs are sod!um amyta’ (amobarbital), pentothal sodium (thiopental), and to a
lesser extent seconal (secobarbital).

As one pkarmacologist explaing It, a subject coming under the Influence of a
barbiturate injected Intravenousiy goes through all the stages of progressive
drunkenness, but the time scale Iy on the order of minutes Instead of hours
Outwardly the sedation effect Is dramatic, especially if the subject is a psychiatric
patient In tension. His features ciacken, hig body relaxes Some people are
momentarlly. excited: a few beocme silly and giggly. This uscally passes, and
most subjects fall ssleep, emerging later In disoriented semi-wakefulness.

The desacent 1ato narcosis and beyond with progressively larger doses can be
divided an followa: ‘

I. Sedative stage ke

I1. Unconsciousness, with cIaggerated reflexes (byperactive ltue),ﬁﬁf

grl g;c&naciomen withoat refex even to palnfyl stimulf. N
Whether all these stages can be distinguished in any given subject depends
largely on the dose and the rapidity with which .the d;:: is Induced. In

gTate or learn new patterng. Poor coordipation. Subject becomes unaware
of panifal s:imgl.
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Plane 3 (s the peychiatric “work™ Stage. It may last ooly a few minptes, bat
1t can be extended by further slow {njection of drug. The usual practice is to
bring the subject quickly to Stage IT and to conduct the intertiew a3 be pamses
back into the sedative #tage on the way to fu)} consciousness.

CLINICAL AND EXPFERIMENTAL STUDIER

The general abhorrence I Western countries for the use of chemica] agents
“to make people do t3ings against thelr will” has precluded serious systematic
srudy (at least as publizhed openly) of the potentialities cf drugs for interroga-
ton. Louls A. Gottachalk, surveying their use (n {nformation-seeking inter-
views,[13] cites 139 references: but ouly two touch upon the extraction of
intelligence Information, snd one of these concludes merely that Rossisn tech-
nigues 1 Interrogation apd indoctrination are derived from age-old police
methods and do ot depend on the use of drugs. On the validity of confessions
obtalned with drugs, Gottarhalk found onlr three bublished experimental studies
that he deemed worth reporting.

One of these reported experiments by D. P. Morris in which intravenous sodlam
amytal was Nhelpfy! {n detecting malingerers.[12) The subjects, soldiers, were
at first sullen, Degutivistic, and non-productive under amyrtal, bat as the inter.
view proceeded they revesled the fact of and causes for their malingering. Usually
the interviews turned Up & Deurotic or paychotic basis for the deception.

The other two econfession studies, being more relevant to the highly special-
ized, untouched area of drugs in intelligence Ioterrogation, deserve more detailed
review

Gerson and Victorof[12] conducted amytal Interviews with 17 newropsychiatrie
patients. soldlers who had charges against them, at Tiltor Geners| Howpital,
Fort Dix. First they were laterviewed without amyta} by & psychiatrist, who,
nelther ignoring nor stressing their sitnation ag prisovers or suspects under
scrutiny, urged each of them to discuss his social and family background, his
army career, and his version of the charges pending againet him,

The patients were told ouly a few minutes In advance that narcoanalysis would
be performed. The doctor was considerate, but poeitive and forthright. He indj-

Each patient way brought to complete narcosis and permitted to sleep. Asg he
became semiconscious and could be stimulated to speak, he was beld in this stage
with additional amytal while the Questioning procreded. He was questioned
first about innocuous matters from his background that he had discussed before
recelving the drug. Whenever poasible, he was manipulated into bringing up
himself the charges pending against him before being questioned about them.
If he did this In & too fully conscious state, it proved more effectire to ask him
to “talk about that later” and to interpose a topic that would diminish susplcion,
delaying the interrogation on his criminal lct.lﬂty antil he was back |n the

reoxis.

The procedure differed from therapeutic narcoanalysis in severs! ways: the
setting, the type of patients, and the kind of *“truth” sought. Also, the subjects
were kept in twilight consclousness longer than usual This state proved richest
in yleld of admiesiong prefudicial to the subject. In it his speech was thick,
mombling, and disconnected, but his discretion was markedly reduced. This val-
uable interrogation period. lasting only five to ten minttes at a time, could be
reinduced by Injecting more Amytal and putting the patient back to aleep.

The interrogation techoique varied from Case to case according to Inck:_mund

pretend, as the patient grew more fully coascious, that he had &lready confessed. .
during the amnestic period of the interrogation, and to urge him, while his mem-
ory and sense of self-protection were still limited, to continge to elaborate the
detalls of what he had “already described.” When it was obrions that &t subject
Was withholding the truth, his denials were quickly passed over and ignored,
and the key questions would be reworded In a new approach.

Several patients revegled fantasies fears, and delusions approaching delirium,
much of which could rexdlly be distingnished from reality. But sometimes there
WAs no way for the examiner to distinguish trgth from fantasy except by refer.
ence to other sources. One subject claimed to bave a child that dig not exist,
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another threatened to kill on sight a stepfather who had been dead a year, and
yet agother confessed to participating in a rohbery when In fact he had only
purchased gonds from the participants. Testimony concerning dates and specific
places was untrustworthy and often coutradictory because of the patient's loss
of time-sense. His veracity In citdng narmea and events proved questionable. Be-
ceuse of his confusion about actual events aud what he thoaght or feared had
bappened. the patient at times managed to conces) the truth unintentionally.

A3 the subject revived, he would become aware that he was being questioned
about kis secrets and. depending upon his persopality, his fear of discovery, or
the degree of his disillusionment with the doctor, grow negatiristic, bostile, or
puysically sggressive. Occasionally patients had to be forclLly restrained during
this period to prevent Injury to themselves or others as the doctor continued to
interrogate. Some patlents, moved by fierce and diffuse anger, the assumption
Lhat they had already been tricked into confessing, and a still limited sense of
diacretion, deflantly acknowledged their guilt and challenged the observer to
"'do something about it.” As the excitement passed, some fell back on thelr orig-
inal stories and others verified the coufessed material. During the foliow-up
interview pine of (he 17 admitted the valldity of their confessions ; eight re-
pudiated their confessions and reafirmed thelr earller accounts.

With respect to the reliablMty of the results of such interrogation, Gersom
and Victoroff conciude that persistent, careful questioning can reduce ambigul-
ties In drug interrogation, but cannot ellminate chem altogether.

At least one experiment has shown that subjects are capable of maintsining s
Ue wkile under the infuence of a barbiturate. Redlich and his associates at
Yale(25] administered sodium amytal to nine volunteers, students and profes-
=ionale, who had previogsaly, far purposes of the experiment, revealed shametul
and gullt-prodacing episodes of their past and then Invented false self-protective
stories to cover them. In nearly every case the cover story retained some ele-
ments of the gullt inherent in the true Atory.

Under the Influence of the drug, the subjects were crossexamined on thelr
cover storles by & second Investigator. The results, though not definitive, showed
that norma! individuals who had good defenses and no overt pathological traits
couid stick to thelr invented stories and refuse confession. Neurotic individuala
with strong unconscious self-punitive tendencies, on the other hand, both con-
fessed more easlly and were inclined to substitute fantasy for the truthk, con-
fessing to offenses nevir actually committed.

In recent vears drug therspy bas made some use of stimulants, most notably
amphetazine (Benzedrine) and itx relstive methamphetamine (Methedrine).
“heoe drugs, used either alone or foliowing intravenous barbiturates, produce
an outpouring of ideas, emotions, and memories which has been of belp in diag-
nosiny ments] disorders. The potentis! of stimulsnts in interrogation has re-
ceived little attention, uniess in unpublished work. In one study of their peychi.
atric use Brussel ef ¢l [7) maintaln that methedrine gives the liar no time to
think or to organire his deceptions. Once the drug takes hold, they say. an in-
surmountable urge to pour out speech traps the malingerer. Gottachalk, on
the other hand, says that this claim is extravagant, asserting without elabora-
tion that the study lacked proper controls.(13] It is evident that the combined
use of barbiturates and stimulants, perbaps along with ataraxics (tranquilisers),
should be further explored.

OMSERVATIONS FROM PLACTICE altsd

L

J. M. MacDonald, who as s psychiatrist for the District Courts-of Denver
has had extensive experience with nercoanalysis, says that drug interrogaticn
is of doubtful valge In obtaining confessions to crimes. Criminal suspects under
the influence of barbiturates may deliberately withhold Information; persist In
giving untruthful answers, or falsely confess to crimes they did not commit.
The peychopathle personality, tn particular, appears to resist soccesstully the
influence of drugs.

MacDonald teils of a criminal psychopath who, having agreed to narco-inter-
rogation, received 1.5 grams of sodipm amytsal over a period of five hours. This
man feigned amnesia and gave a false accoont of 4 murder. “He displayed little

or no remorse as e (falsely) described the crime, including burial of the body. .

Indeed he was rery self-possessed and he appeared slmost to enjoy the examina-
tion. From time to time he wouid request that more amyta] he Injected.” (1]

MzacDonald conclodes thut o person who gives false information prior to re-

[}
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ceiving drugw Is Hkeir to €ive false (0formation 4150 wnder narcosts, that the
drugs are of Little ralne for reveallag deceptona and that they are more effective
in releasing uncodacionsly repressed material than in evoking consciously sup-

Another peychistrist koown for hir worg Witk crimiesly L Z. Freedman,
give sodinm amytatl to men Acused of various cfvil and military antisocial acts.
The subjects were @eatzlly unstable. their conditions ranging from charmcter
disorders to neuroses gnd wychowes. The drug interviews proved pasychlatricslly
beneficial to the patients, bnt Freedmsa fognd that his vew of objective reality

Dovald. he found that peychopathic individuals can deny to the point of uncon-
sclousness crimes that every objective sign indicates they harvr committed.[10)
F. G. lobaa, Professor of Law at Northwestarmn University, who has had con-
siderable experience obeerving snd participatihg in “troth” drug tests. claims
that they are occasionglly effective on persons who would hare disclosed the _
truth anyway had they been properly iaterroguied. bat that & persoa deter-
mined to Ue will usually be able to continue the deception under drugs

doubttal validity as empirical truth, The mame peychological informz%sc azd a
leas adalterated empirical truth ean be obtsined from fully coascious subjects
throogh nco-drug peychotherapy and skilltui I~lice interrogation

APPLICATION TO I INTEEROQATION

The almost total abeence of controlled experimental studies of “trath"” drogs
and the spotty and agecdotal nature of peychistric and poliee evidence require
that extrapolations to Iuteiligence operations be made with eare. Still enough
s known about the drugs’ action to Riggest certain considerations affacting the

extremely suggestibdle.

It yeems posxibie thyt this suggestidility and the lowered guard of the nercotic
state might be put to advantage In the case of g subject feigning ignorance of &
language or some other akil} that had become automatic with bim. Lipton{20]
found eodiam amyts} beipful ln determining whethes a foreign subject was merely
pretending pot to understand English. By extension, ope €D Juess that a dragged

The subject in sarcoanalysis (s usually motivated o priori to cooperate with the
psychiatrist, either to obtain relief from meatsl] suffering or to contribute toa
scientific study. Even In police work, where an Atmospbere of anxiety and threat
may be dominant. a reladonsahip of trust frequently ssserts itself: the drug 1s
administered by a medical man bound by a strict code of ethics ; the suspect
agreeing to undergo parcomnalysis in g desperst: bid for corrvboration of his
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Rarely has a drug Interrogation lavolved “normal” Individuals in a bostile
Or genuinelr threatening miliey. It was from o non-threatening experimenta]
settlng that Eric Lindemanp couM say that his “norma]” subjects “reported a
fenersl sense of euphoria, ense and confidence. and they exbibited a marked in-
crease in talkativeness and communicabilicy.”[18) Gerson and Victoroff list poor
doctor-patient rapport gs one factor interfering with the completeness and ag.
thenticity of confessions by the Fort Dix soldiers, caught as they were in g
command performance and told they had no choice but to submit to narco-
Interrogntion,

From all indieations, subject-interrogator rapport is vsually crucial to obtain-
ing the paychological release which may lead to unguarded disclosures. Role-play-
ing on the part of the interrogator might be a possible solution to the problem
of establishing rapport with a drugged subject. In therapy, the Britizh parco-
anslyst William Sergent fecommends that the therapist deliberately distort the
facts of the patient's life-experience to achieve heightened emotional response
and abresaction.[27] In the drunken state of Darcoanalyais patients are prone to
Accept the therapist's falge constroctions. There la reason to expect that a drugged

subject would commuonicate freely with an interrogator playing the role of rela-

tive, colleague, physician, Immediate superior, or any other person to whom his
background indicated he would be responsive,

Even when FiDport is poor, however, there remains ope facet of drug action
emipently exploitable In Interrogation—the fget that subjects emerge from
narcosis feeling they have revealed a great deal even when they have not. Ag
Gerson and Victoroff demonstrated at Fort Dix, this paychological set provides a
major opening for obtaining genuine confessiong.

rossIsLE VARIATIONS Prn

In studies by Beecher and his associates,[3-8) one-third to one-hzlf the
individuals tested proved to be placebo reactors, subjects who respond with
symptomatic relief to the administration of &y syringe, pill, or capsule, regard-
less of what it contains Although no studies are known to have been made of the
placebo phenomenon as applied to barco-interrogation, it seems reasonsble that
when a subject’s sense of guiit interferes with productive Interrogation, a phenelbo

of

most likely to resct to placebos are the more anxions, more self-centered, more
dependent on outside stimulation, thoge who express thelr needs more freely
soclally, talkers who drajin off anxiety by conversing with others. The non-
reactors are those clinically more rigid and with better than Average emotional
control. No sex or 1.Q. differences between reactors and non-reactors have been
found. .

Another possibility might be the combined use of drugs with hypnotie trance
and post-hypaotic suggestion : brpnosis could presumably prevent any recollec-
tlon of the drug experience. Whether g subject can be brought to trance sgaingt
his will or unaware, however, (s 5 matter of some disagreement. Orne, in a survey
of the potential! uses of hypuoais in interrogation,[23] asserty that it is doubt-
ful, despite many apperent indications to the contrary, that trance can be induced

ypnotise & subject unawere,
but this would require a tl;a'nll'.lv'ie relationship with the hypootist not ltkely to

DIFENSIVE MTASURES

There is no known way of building tolerance for a “truth” drug without creat-
lng a dizabliog addiction, or of arresting the action of a barbiturate once induced.
The only i} safeguard against narco-interrngation s ty prevent the admints-
tration of the drug, Short of this, the best defense is to make use of the same
knowiedge that suggesta drugs for offensive operations: if a subject knows that
on emerging from narcosis be will have an exaggerated notion of how much he
has revealed be can better resolve to deny he has said ADything.

ey
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The disadvantages and shortcomings of drugs in offensive operations become
positive features of the defense posture. A subject in narco-interrogetion ia
laotoxfcated, warvering between deep sieep and semi-wakefuiness. His speech {a
garbled and irrattonal, the amount of ontput drastically diminished. Drugs
disrupt established thought patierns, [ncloding the will 2o resist, but they do so
Indiscriminately and thuys tlso interfere with the patterns of aubstantive infor-
mation the Interrogator seeks. Even under the conditions most favorable for
the iaterrogutor, output will be contaminated by fantasy, distortion, and untruth.

Possibly the most effective WaAY 10 arm onesclf againgt narco-Interrogation
wouid be to undergo o “dry run." A trial drug laterrogation with output taped

Tiere may be concern over the possibllity of drug addietion Intentionally or
accidentally induced by an adversary service, Most drugs will cause addiction
with prolonged use, and the barhiturates are o exception. In recent studies at
the U.S. Public Health Service Howpltal for addicts in Lexington, Ky.. subjects
receives large doses of barbiturates over a period of montha Upon removal of
the drug, they experienced acute withdrawal symptoms and bebhaved in every
respect like chronic alcohkolics.

Because their actlon is extremely short. howerer, and because there la little
Ukelihood that they would he administered regularly over a prolonged period,
barbitarate “truth™ drugs present alight rigk of vperationa! addiction. It the
adversary service were Intent on creating addiction fn order to exploit with-
drawal, it would have other, more rapid means ¢ prodacing states as unpleasant
as withdrawa] symptoms.

The ballucinatory and paychotomimetie drugs such ss mescaline. maribuans,

Sensation of the size of body parts and their positioa In space, etc. Mescaline and
LSD-25 have been used to create experiments] “paychotic states” and in g
oinor way as aidg in paychotherapy. :

Since information obtained from a person In s psychotic drug state would be
norealistic, bizarre, and extremely dificult to assess, the self-administration of

Most broadly, there is evidence that drugs have least effect on well-adjusted
individuals with good defenses and good emoticnal control, and that anyone who
can withstand the stress of competent interrogation fn the waking state can do
the Il The essential resources for resistance thus appesr to lie within

e ua

CONCLUSIONS .

it seems Hkely that any individual who can withstand ordinary fntensive inter-
rogation can hold oyt in oarcosis. The best aid to a defense against narco-inter.
rogation I8 foreknowledge of the Proceas and its limitations. There is an acute
need for controlled experimenta] Studies of drug resction, not only to depressants
bat also to stimulants and to combinations of depressants, stimulants, and
ataraxics, )
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] ;trl;er tll:leirl: or s«f:mebody else’s information how to
rotect our people from that kind o retivity,
P A dmiral T from ¢
Senator WarLop. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chajrman,
Senator INovre Senstor Chafeet

Senator Caaree, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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. Admiral Turner, I appreciate that these tawdry activities were tak-
Ing place long before your watch, and I think you have correctly
labeled them ag sbhorrent, but not only were they abhorrent, it seems
to me they were rather bungled, amateurish exp=riments that don't
Seem to have been handled iy g very scientific way, at least from the
scanty evidence we have,

It seems to me that there were the minimum of reports and the
Agenry didn't have the ability to call it quits. It went on for some 12
years, as you mentioned, What I would like to get to is, are you con-
vinced now in vour Agency that those scientific experiments. legiti-
mate ones that you were conducting with pol graph and so forth, were

ing conducted in a scientific manner and tgat you are handling it in
:h:orrsc;t manner to get the best information that you are seeling in

en

Admiral Torwzx. Yes, I am, and T also have & sense of confidence
that we are limiting ourselves to the areas where we need to be in.
volved as ogposed to areas where we can rely on others,

Senator Crarze. I am convinced of that from your report. I just do
hope that you have Ple who are trained in not only handling this
type of experiment, but in preparin§ the proper reports and drawing
the proper data from the reports. You are convinced that you have
this type of plet

Admiral 'Fl;.wn. Yes, sir. '
. Senator Crarze. The second point I am interested in was the final
lines in ,y,our testimony here, which I believe are very important, and
that is that the Agency is doing all it can in coorution with other
branches of the Government to gu about tracking down the identity of

ose who were in some Way adversely aflected, and see what can be
done to fulfill the government’s responsibilities in that respect. I might
add thﬁ I commend you in that, and I hope you will pursue it
vigorously.

A hospital in my State was involved in these &mceedmgs, and it is
unclear exactly what did take Place, so I have both a parochisl interest
in this and a national interest as well, and I do hope you will press on
with it. It involves not only you, I appreciate, but also REW and per-
haps the Attorney General’ '

Admira]l Tvexex. Thank Yyou, sir. We will.

Senator Cuarzr. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Inovre. Thank you very much. ' .. .

Admiral Turner, MKULTRA subproject 3 was a project involving
the 'surneptitious administration of LSD on unwitting persons, was it
not

were responsible for this subproject 3, involving exactly the same prac-
tices. Even though theso individuals were clearly aware of the dangers
of surreptitious administretion and had been criticized by the Director
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of Central Intelligence, subproject 3 was not terminated immediately
after Dr. Olson’s death.

In fact. according to documents, it continued for a number of years.
Can you provide this committee with any explanation of how such
testing could have continued under these circumstances?

Admiral Turyer No, sir, I really can't.

Senator INouye Are the individuals in the technical services who
carried on subproject 3 still on the CIA payrol]t

Admira] Torves, I am sorry. Are you asking, are they today?

Senator INoUYE Yes.

Admira] Tornes. No, sir.

Senator INovre. What would you do if you criticized officials of the
technical services staff and they continued to carry on experimenta-
tion for a number of years ! '

Admiral Toener. I would do two things, sir. One is, I would be sure
at the beginning that I was explicit enough that they knew that I
didn’t want that to be continued anywhere else, and two, if I found it
being continued, I would roll some heads.

Senator Inoure. Could vou provide this committee with informa-
tion as to whether the individuals involved -had their heads rolled?

Admira] Terxen I don't belicve there is any evidence they did, but
I will double check that. '

See p. 170 for material referred to.] T

Senator INovTE ASs rou know, Senator Huddleston end his subcom-
mittee are deeply involved in the drafting of charters and guidelines
for the intelligence community. We will be meeting with the President
tomorrow. Qur concern is, I Lﬁiuk, a bagic one. Can anything like this
occur again? .

Admiral Torwer. I think it would be very, very unlikely, first, be-
cause we are all much more conscious of these jssues than we were back
in the fifties, second, because we have such .thorough oversight proce-
dures. I cannot imagine that this kind of activity could take place
today without some member of the CIA itself bypassing me, if I were
authorizing this, and writing to the Intelligence}gver;?gght Board, and
blowing the whistle on this kind of activity,

I am also doing my very best, sir, to'encourage an openness with
myself and a free communication in the Agency, so that I am the one
who finds these things if they should ha pen. fact is that we must
keep you and your committee and now ¢ new committee in the House
informed of our sensitive activities, I think all of these add up toa
deﬁme of scrutiny such that this kind of extensive and flagrant activity
could not happen today without it coming to the attention of the proper
authorities to stop it. :

Senator INoUTEZ A sad aspect of the MEKULTRA project was that
it naturally involved the People who unwittingly or wittingly got in-
volved in experimentation. I would appreciate it if you would report
back to this committee in 3 months on what the Agency has done to
notify these individuals and these institutions, an furthermore, to
notify us as to what steps have been tsken to identify victims, and if
identified, what you have done to assist them, monetarily or otherwise.

Admiral TurNeR All right, sir. I will be happy to.

Senator GoLowater. Will the Senator yield ?



ra

36

Senator INouTe. Yes. sir.

Senator Gowowatza. I wonder if he could include in that report for
our infermation only a complete listing of the individuals and the
experiments doue on them, nmf whether they were witting or unwitting,
volunteer or nonvolunteer, and what has been the result in each case.
I'think that would be interesting,

Admiral TorNen. Fine, Yes, sir.

Senator INotrr. Senator Kennedy ?

_Senator Kenxeny. Thank you. It is your intention to notify the in-
dividuals who have been the subjects of the resenrch, is that right,
Admiral Turner? Do you intend to notify those individuals?

Admira] Tur~es, ers.
hSel;ator Kenweor. If you can identifv them, you intend to notify -
them '

Admira]l TurNer. Yes.

tor KennepY. And you intend to notify the universities or re-
search centers as well?
dmiral TorNzrn Senator, I am torn on that. I understand your
opening statement. I put myself in the Position of the president of one
of those universities, let’s say. If he were witting—if his university
had been witting of this activity with us, he has access to all that in-
_format;ou today. If he were not witting, T wonder if the process of
informing him might put his institution’s reputation in more jeopardy
than letting them go on the way they are today, not knowiag. I really
dan’t know the equities here,

Senator KxnyepY. Well, the problem is, all you have to do is pick up

the newslpa rs and you see these universities mentioned, In many in-

I think you are putting the universit le at an extraordi-
nary disadvnntage, where t%:fe is a completjer ]:ehop of administra-
tion, and they may for one reason or another not have information
that they are under suspicion, There is innuendo: there is rumor., I
cannot help but believe that it will just get smeared all over the news-
pafers in spite of all the security steps that have been taken.

t seems to me that those universities should be entitled to that infor-
mation, so that the ones with other administrations can adapt proce-

integrity of our universities and our research centers. _
jﬁ::ira] Turrzr. You are sayi g that you feel that if we identify
them privately to themselves, we can benefit them in an adequate way to
cover-the risk that this will lead to s more public disclosure ? There are
lots of the 80 who have not been identified publicly at this point. .
Senator Kenyer. I think the universities themseives should be noti-
fied. I think then the universities can take whatever ste in terms of
their setting up the procedures to protect their own kinds of inte ty
in terms of the future. T woyld certainly hope that they woul feel
that they could make a public comment or 8 public statement on it.
I think 1t is of general public interest, particularly for the people that
are involved in those universities, to have some kind of awareness of
whether they were used or were not used and how they were used.
I think they are entitled to it, and quite frankly, if there is a public
official or an official of the university that you notify and he wants
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for his own particular reasons not to have it public, I don’t see why
those in a lesser echelon or lower echelon who have been effectively used
by it should not have the information as well.

So. I would hope that you would notify the universities and then
also indicate to the public. I can't conceive that this information will
not be put out in the hewspapers, and it puts the university people at
an extraordinary disadvantage, and of course some of it is wrong,
which is the fact of the matter. and I think some university official
saying, well, it isn’t so, is a lot different than if they know it is con-
firmed or it is not confirmed in terms of the Agency itself. I think that
there is a responsibility there.

Admiral Tcryen. I have preat sympathy with what you ere saying.
I have already notified one institution because the involvement was so

extensive that I thought they really needed to protect themselves, and -

I am most anxious to do this in whatever way will help al] of the
people who were perhaps unwittin participants in this, and the diffi-
culty I will have is, I can't quite do, I think, what you suggested, in
that I may not be able to tell an institution of the extent and nature of
its participation,

nator KENNEDY, Well, you can tell them to the best of your in-
formation, and it seems to me that just because the university or an
individual is going to be embarrassed is not a reason for classifying
the information. So, I would hope—I mean, I obviously speak as an
individual Senator, but I feel that that is an incredible disservice to
the innocent individuals and. I think, a disservice to the integrity of
the universities unless they are notified, to be able to develop pro-
cedures you are developing with regards to your own institution and
we are trying to in terms of the Congress. Certainly the universities
are entitled to the same.

Admiral Tvrver. Yes. Not all of these, of course, were unwitting.

Senator Kennepy. That’s right.
Admira] Torver. Many of them were witting, and therefore they

can take 2ll those precautionary steps on their own, but I am perfectly
open to doing this. I am only interested in doing it in & way that when
ldentifying & university it will not lead to the public disclosure of the
individuals. whom I am not allowed to disclose, and so on.

Senator KenNEDY. That could be done, it seems to me.

Admira]l Torver. So, we will see if we can devise a way of notifying
these institutions on a private basis so that they can then make their
own decision whether cgeir equiities are best served by their announc-
ing it publicly or their attempting to maintain it—-

Senator Kexneoy. Or you. I wonder. What if they were to ask you
to announce or indicate ¢ .

Admiral Turvzr. My personal conscience. sir, at this time, is that I
would be doing s disserve to these universities if I notified the public.

Senator KeNnepr. Would you meet with some university officials
and ask what their views.are or whether they feel that the preserva-
tion of the integrity of the universities would be better served or not #
I think that would be useful to find out from small, large, private, and
public universities’ officials how they view the integrity——

Admiral Teryer. Fine. T will phone several university presidents
today who are mv friends and who are not involved in this, and ask
them what they think the equities would be.
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Senator Kexnepr. All right. You let us know. too.

Admira] Torner. But I am not sure that I see that there is any great
beaefit in my notifying the public as opposed to the university notify-
ing them. Let him have his choice whether he. wants—each institution
wances to have it made public. : '

Senator KENNEDY. Yes. The fact would remain that the institution’s
credibility would be better served if the institution's president were to
deny it and the university indicated that it did not ga rticipate in that
proErnm than if the university were to deny it and the Agency sa{s
nothing. It seems to me that that would be the strongest, and the only
way that that is going to be credible. I would valye it if you would get
some input from universities as to what they believe is the fairest way
In terms of the preservation of the integrity of the universities.

Let me, if I could, ask on the question of the uses of these safe
houses, as I understand from information that was provided to us in
the course of our last committee, the testing of various drugs on in-
dividuals happened at all social levels, high and low, it happened on
native Americans and also on foreign nationals That is what I under-
stand was the nature of the project itself.

Now, I am just wondering whether those tests were conducted at the
two locations on the east coast and the west coast which were known
as safe houses. To your knowiedge, is that correct!

Admiral Tur~NEz. Yes,

Senator KeNnNEDY. In terms of the research in this particular pro-
gram, it did not go beyond the safe houses located on the east coast and
the west coast ! I believe I am correct on that.

dmiral Torver. That type of unwitting testing of sort of ran-
domly selected individuals, yes.

Senator Kexnepy. It was just located in those two places!

: ASmiral TurxER. To the best of our knowledge, there were only two
ocations,

Senator KrNNEDY. Well, how do we interpret randomly selected !

Admiral Ton~er. Well, as opposed to prisoners in a prison who were
somehow selected. .

Senator Kexxeor. All right. Do you know from this information
how many people were recruited during this period ! .

Admiral Torxer. No idea. ‘

Senator Kexneor. Do you know approximately ! )

Admira] Turnee. T asked that question the other day, and we just
don’t hsve—-npparently we are very—wel], either there were no
records kept of the actusl numbers and types of people tested or they
were destroyed. .

Senator INouye. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Scawmrezr, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral Turner, I would like to come back to the experiments
which may have been conducted at the hospital research facilities
which the CIA helped to finance. It wasn't clear to me from your pre-
vious answers what kind of work was done there. I gather vou are un-
clear on that, too, from your remarks, vet I find in the CIA doen-
mentation which you have supplied us, a list describing some of the
advantages the Agency hoped to gain. It says:

(@) Ope-sixth of the total space in the new hospital wing will be available to the
Chemlcal Divigion of TSS = * ¢ i () Agency sponsorship of sensitive research



L)

tor_up to three blochemical employees of the Chemical Divistion: (d) Tuman
patients and voiunteers for experimental use will be avallable under cont-olled
clinical conditions with the toll supervision of
and there is & blank, something has been deleted.

. It seems pretty clear to me what they intended to do in that par-
ticular wing. Doesn't it to you?! Why would you go to such elaborate
preparations. to buy part of the wing, bring three of your own per-
sonnel there, give them a cover, an give them access to patientst
Why would you £ to such trouble and expense to arrange al] that, if
you weren't planning to vxperiment on people in the hospital?

Admiral TorNer. T agree with You 100 percent, sir. Those were
clearly the intentions. I have no evidence that it was ecarried out in
that way. I am not trying to be defensive, Senator. I am ornly trying
to be absolutely precise here.

Senator ScirwEiken. Well, then, as to the nature of what was done
there, the last paragraph on the same page of the document says,
“The facilities of the hospital and the ability to conduct controlled
experimentations under safe clinical conditions using materials with
which any agency connection must be completely deniable will aug-
ment and complement other programs recently taken over by TSS,
such as,” and then there's another deletion.

Now, the words following “such as™ have been deleted. That is still
classified, or at least it was removed when this document was sanitized
and released. It seems to be that whatever was deleted right there would
gIVo you a Lretty good clue as to what they were doing, since it says
that the activities would “augment and complement otﬁer programs”

. undertaken by TSS. So, I have trouble understanding why you don’t

know what was contemplated. Just the fact that similar programs are
referred to in the document, though what they are is s!ill deleted,
should enable you to check it out.
You could look at what went on in the similar rograms mentioned
following the “such as” in the classified version og this document.
Admiral Tor¥ER. Senator, I have not said that we don’t know what
was contemplated being done there. We do not know what was done

there.
Senator Scuwerker. Why did you delete that reference? Why i3
that still classified, that particular project of whatever it is?

Admiral Turyer. I don't know this particular case, We will get you
the exact answer to that one and inform you about it, but it is quite
probable that that other case is unrelated to this in the—well, not un-
related, but that that was s project that still deserves to be classified.

The material referred to follows 1]

Construction of the Gorman Anpex was begun In 1057 and the Annexr was
dedicated fo March 1968. Of the several MKULTRA projects conducted at
{ieorgetown only one involving buinan testing covered a time span subsequent

from 1855 to 1963, thus it is posslble that
the final four years (1958-1963) of the subproject could have been spent in
the Gortnan Annex. However, there i3 mo reference to the Gorman Annex or a
“new Aanex” in Subproject 45 papers, neither is there any mention of the sab-
project moving to a new location In 1859 or later y2ars,

Autborization to contribute CIA funds towsara construction of the Gorman
Annex {s coutained in Subprofect 35 of MKULTRA. Recently discovered material
indicated that Dr. Geschickier continued his research for sleep- and ampesia-
producing drugs under Project MKRSEARCH through July 1967 xt Georgetown
University Hospital. But It I impossible to determine if the facilities of the

Gorman Annex were Involred.
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with that, but apparently for at least a year or two, somebody was
investigating the production of brain concussions with special black-
jacks, sound waves, and other methods as detailed in the oackup
material.

Admiral Tcrser, The data available to me is that this project was
never funded by the CIA, but I will d uble-check that and furnish the
icformation for the record for you as to whether thers was ever any
connection here and if so, what the nature of the work was.

(The material referred to follows:]

Mr. Laubinger corrected his testimony regarding Subproject 54 during the

September 21, 1977 hearings before the Subcommittee on Health and Scieatific
Hesearch of the Human Resources Committee. The relevant portion is reproduced
below :

Mr. Lausixaex On project 34, it has got a rather sensational proposal in there,
In terms of the work that they propose to do, and you asked about the proposal
and [ said. In fact, [t was never funded under SIKULTRA. Now, I overlooked—at
least, my memory did not serve me correctly when I went through that flle folder
to see one memorandum dated January 10, 1858, which makes it quite clear, asa

matter of fact, that that proposal was based on prior work that was funded by _.

the Agency.
Sepator ScHEwWEIXIR. By what?
Mr. Lavsivaes. By the CIA. So, that information was in their flle foider. It

did not bappen to be in my head when I testified.

Senator Scnwmikex. I think I might bave read you that, and that fs why 1
argued at the time with you, because I think I had In front of me, as I recall,
soe indication that it was funded there I did read that to you. So, you did
supply it to us; there Is Do argument about that information.

Mr. Latemnore Perhaps I am sort of headstrong, myself, and in my own view,
I am reading under the ULTRA project, that if it had been funded under
ULTRA, it would bave had a project number and identified as such. The thing
that threw me was that it was funded, apparently, outaide of any MEULTRA
activity and it was under the normal contracting process, so that it was not
iacluded in MKTULTRA as mny work done under that funding umbrells.

The file foider that you have and I have, right here, makes it fuite clear,
bowever, that a year's work waa done through navy funding—a navy funding
mechanlem-—on wkich the proposal was based that ultimately came into the
MRULTRA program. That second propoesal was never funded. So, there was
conflict and I, personally, I think, introduced a little bit of confusion in that in
my testimony.

Senator SCRWHIKIx Well, do you agree or not agree with DOD's statement
a’erect&n: even though the initial funding was navy, it was really a conduit for

e CIA?

Mr. Laosrsgra. I think that iz correct.

Senator Scawemer Yes; I would appreciate that. I would like to
know how it went from ONR to CIA after a year. Somebody made a
decision to make that transfer, and to make this an MKULTRA sub-
Ject. There had to be some sort of review that led to & decision to
continue that kind of concussion—tatal blackout, maximum amnesia,
and whatever else it was you were interested in—study and testing,

Mr. LausiNger. Senator, if I may try to say a few words on that,
the files that were avajlable to us for inspection, which are limited,
indicated that there was a project being carried on by the Navy having
to do with the effects of brain concussion. The CIA developed an inter-
est in that. and considered funding it, but actually never did, and as
the admiral testified, the MKULTRA is merely a funding mechanism,-
& place they go for money to do such things. but there is no evidence
that I know of that that project was ever funded.
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Senstor Scriwerxenr. T think that would give us e pretty good clue
as to what was going to be done in the wing the CIA helped to finance.

Was there any indication at nl] in the records you found that the
project ultimately used cancer patients or terminally il patients in
connection with this facility?

Admiral Turxer. I'm sorry. I missed your question because I was
trying to get the data on the last one. I will read you the blenk.

Senator Scuwerker. Go ahead.

Admiral Turxez, QKHILLTOP. It doesn't help you, but——

Senator Scuwerzer. Can you tell us what that is. ov is it still
classified _

Admira] Torver. I don't know, and I assume from the fact that
we deleted it, it is still classified, but I will get you that answer, sir.

Senator Scewemzr. Thank ¥ou. I'd like to see that information.

[See p. 171 for material referred to.]

Now my next question was: Is there any indication, Admiral, that
Projects in that particuler center involved experimentation on ter-
minally ill cancer patients? -

Admiral Toaven, I missed the first part of your question, sir. I am

veg sorry. .
nator Sciwerker. Do you have any indication that some experi-
i i i lﬁ cancer patients as subjects?
You do acknowledge in your statement and it is clar from other docu-
ments that these kinds of experiments were at some point being done
somewhere. My question is, is there any indication that cancer patients
or terminally i1l patients were experimented with in this wing?
Admiral Turnez. Yes, it does appear there is a connection here, sir.
Senator Scrwmxer. The other question I had relates to the de-
velopment of something which has been ctlled the perfect concussion.
A series of experiments toward that end were described in the CIA
documents, I wonder if you would just tell us what your understanding
of perfect concussion is.
dmiral Turser. Is that in my testimony, sir, or in some other
document { )
Senator ScRwExEn. Subproject 54, MKULTRA, which involved

dubbed it “perfect concussion —maybe that was poetic license on the
part of our staff rather than your poets over there. I wonder if you
could just tell us what brain concussion experiments were about !

Admira] Torver. This project, No. 54, was canceled, and never
carried out.

Senator Scawerxrs. Well, I do believe the first year of the project
in 1955 was carried out by the Office of Naval Research, acco ing to
the information that you sutgpliéd us. The CIA seems to have been par-
ticipating in some way at that point, because the records go on to sa
that the experimenter at ONR found out sbout CIA’s role, discove
that it was a cover, and then the project was transferred to
MEKULTRA in 1956, Agein, this is all from the backup material you
have given us. So, it was canceleq at some time. I am not disagreeing
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Senator Sciwreiker, Well, T am confused, because here tguin is an-
other quote from a document that we have seen, which vou have re-
leased and supplied to us -

Folowing (s the technicai Progress made under the current [deleted] contract:
(@) Spcelalized Inetrumentation and fumerous testing techniques Lave been
devreloped to obtain t}:e desired dynamic data; (d) considerable data hgs now
been obr.aln_ed supporting the resonance-carilation theory of brain concussion ; end
(¢} preliminary &cceleration threshold data has been obtalned for a fleid-Alled

glass simulated skull.

It goes on to talk about a blast range and s 2.500-square-foot labora-

tory. The document notes that “Three blast test series have been run

to date.” It describes a special blackjack device, “a pancake-type black-

Jack giving a high peak Impact force with a low unit surface pressure,”
agree the records are Inconclusive as to the results of this work,

but it certainly seems that some testing was done.

Mr. LausIxNGEr, Senator, you are putting us in the same position
I think you were stating that you were in earlier in referring to docu-
ments not before us, but I believe you are quoting from s propasal
that sumeone sent to the Agency to fund this work, and he is referri
to past work. The past work would have encompassed a lot of things
like that, but CIA was not involved with that.

Senator Scnwrirer. What do you mean, Admiral, on page 6 of your
testimony when you mention projects using magician’s art? How do
magicians get into the spook businesst _

. Admiral Torver I have interpreted this as to how to slip the mickey
Into the finn, but I would like to ask my advisers here to comment.

Mr. Broor. I think that is essentially it, Senator. It is surreptitious
administration of materia] to someone, deceptive practices, how to
distract someone’s sttention while you are doing something else, as
I understand it. It was also some type of a covert communication
project involved with the study of how magicians and their assistants
perhaps communicate information to one another without having other
people know it. This is the type of thing that was involved, sir.

Senator Scnweierr. Thank Yyou, Mr. Chairman.

Senator INouYE. Senator Huddleston !

Senator HuonLrstox. Thank ou, Mr. Chairman.

Admiral, in your checking these newly discovered documents and

id t{lou find information that
would confirm the contention described by the reporters for the New
York Times:that this type of experimentation was begun out of a
fear at the Agency that foreign powers might have had drugs which
would allow them to alter the behavior of American citizens or agents
or members of the Armed Forces who were taken into custody, and
which would have resulted in false confessions and the like! Is my
question clear!

Admiral Tur~er. Yes, sir. I haven't personally read the documen-
tation on that. In my discussions with.the people who are well in-
formed in this wres at the Agency, I amtold that that is thecase. .

Senator Hooorestox. Was there sny evidence or any indication that
there were other motives that the Agency might also be looking for
drugs that could be applied for other purposes, such as debilitating an
individual or even killing another person? Was this part of this kind
of experimentation !
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Admiral Terver. Yes: I think there is, T have not seen in this series
of documentation evidence of desire to kill, but I think the project
turned its character from a defensive to an offensive one s it went
along, and there certainly was an intention here to develop drugs that
could be of use. '

Senator HrtooLzston. The project continued for some time after it
was learned that, in fact, foreign powers did not have such a drug as
was gt first feared, didn't it ?

Admiral Tcavz. That is my understanding. Yes, sir.

Senator HunoLesto. Is there any indication thet knowledge gained

* 52 result of these experiments has been useful or is being applied in
» &ny way to present operations? -

Mr. Brooy, Senator, I am not sure if there is any body of knowledge.
A great des] of what there was, I gather, was destroyed in 1973. I
would like to defer to Frank here. Do Yyou know of any!

. Mr. Lacerveer. I know of no drugs or anything like that developed
uer:id:r this program that ever reached operational use or are in use
_._t I' o o e— . . . - .
" Senator Huporestox. So apparently any information that was
gathered was apparently useless and not worth continuing, not worth
further development on the part of the Agency.

Mr. Lavsinoer. I am having difficulty hearing your questions,

Senator HuvoLeston. I can hardly hear myself.

Admiral TurNez. I think the answer to your question is that we have
no evidence of great nsefulness on this, and yet I think we should

—— — - — = - ——

Senator HopoLeston. Well. is it accurate to say that this experimen-
tation produced few useful results or had little application at all to the
operstions of the Agency or anybody else as far as we imow?!

Admiral Toaves. I think that is basically correct. At the same time,
I would point out that we had two CTA prisoners in China and one in
the Soviet Union at this time. and we were concerned ss to what kinds
of things might be done to them, but I am not saying thut—-

Senator Hoooreston. Have you detected any sign that any other na-
tion is continuing or has in the past conducted experiments similar to
this or with a similar objective ! |

Admiral Toa~zs. I am not prepared to answer that one off the top
of my head, sir, but I will get it to you.

. [The material referred to follows:]

efe:

Tesearch on L8SD uge‘:! Pﬂluect A.R'.I'ICBC)KEll heeanau of conurnmt.hat léldl
drugs might be emp Suinst Agency and other U.S. personnel. ormation
relative to this work has already been provided to relevant Committees. In this
early work we also occasionally looked at foreign human experimentation: we
long ago ellminated our boldings on this subject and no collection requirements
are any longer served As consumer interest in this ares has dropped off
and bigher priority areas need attention, we have virtually no present coverage
with the possible exception of an occasional scanning of the ltersture for a
specific program. To the best of our knowledge no other unit In the Intelligence
Commanity is tracking this subject now,

promAnian
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Senator Hroorrston. You don't know whether any of your agents
anywhere in the world have beep subjected to any kind of procedure

Admiral Trevee, We certainly know of other powers conducting
research in these areas, yes.

Senator Huporestox. Do you know how they go about that research !

Admirsl Torser. It is pretty sketchy, the information we have,

Senator Htmog.znpx. Do you know of any other organization in this

man research, is it}

Admiral Torven No, sir,

Senator Hoporrstoy, Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senstor INoure. Senator Wallop !

Senator Warror. Mr, Caairman, I only have one to follow up on
Senator Huddleston’s questions and my earlier ones. You are not really
faying, are you, Admiral Turner, that there are no mind-altering
drugs or behavior modification procedures which have been used by
foreign powers?

Admira] Torxzer. No, sir, I am not.

Senator Warror. I drew that inference partly in answer to my ques-
tion that you knew of no truth serum. Maybe that is a misnomer, but
surely there are relaxants that make tongues looser than they would
otherwise be. Isn’t that truef

Admiral Terver. Yes.

Senator Warror. So I think it is fair to say, too, that the experience
of many American prisoners of war in the Korean conflict would
indicate that there are behavior modification procedures in use by
foreign powers of fairly advanced degree of sophistication.

Admiral ToeNzr. Yes, sir. .

Senator Wavrrop. Aguin, I will just go back and say I think this
must have been part of the motivation. I don't think you would have
mentioned Cardinal Mindszenty had you thought his behavior was
normal at the time or had anybody else. So, I would just again say
I think it is a little bit scapegosting. I don’t think the object of this
hearing is in any way to lay blame on those passed or those dead or
otherwise, but T think it is a little bit Scapegoating to say that it
I think it is & little bit scapegoating to say they didn’t even know it,
but that it was some lower achelon acting alone.

I think this was & behavior Pattern that was prevalent in those
years, and I think the object lesson is that we have discoveregi, we
think and we hope, through your sssurances and other activities of
the Congress, means of avoiding future incidents of that kind. I thank
you, Mr. Chairman. '

Senator INoUTE. Senator Chafee!

Senator Crarrez. No questions

Senator Isorre. Senator Kennedy, I think you have another
question, .
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Senator Kexveny. Just talking about the two safe houses on the
east and west coast as being the sources for the un witting trials, now,
the importance of this and the magnitude of it, I think, is of signifi-
cance, because we have seen from your records that these were used
over a period of 8 or 9 years, and the numbers could have been con-
siderable. You are unable to determine, at least in your own research,
what the numbers would be and what the drugs were, how many people
wferp involved, but it could have been considerable during this pertod
or Lime.

It would certainly ,aprear to me in examining the documents and
the flow charts of cash slips that were expended in these areas that it
was considerable, but that is a Judgmental factor on it, but I think
it is important to try and find out what the Agency is attempting to
do to get to the bottom of it.

Now, the principal agent that was involved as I understand it is
deceased and has been deceased for 2 years. The oversll agent, Mr.
Gottlieb, has indicated a fuzzy memory about this whole area, He
has testified before the Intellizence Committee. Yet he was respon-
sible for the whole program, Then, the Director had indicated the
destruction of the various materials and .unfamiliarity with the
project. :

Now, you have indicated in your testimony today that there are two
additional agents on page 9 of your testimony, you indicated there
are two additional agents which you have uncovered a¢ the bottom of
it, and you say, the names of CIA officials who approved or monitored
the various projects. You talk about the two additional agents in your
testimony. .

Now, I am just wondering if you intend to interview those aﬁents
to find out exactly what is being done. I suppose, first of all, shouldn’t
the project manager know what was being done!

Admira]l Tor~ex. Our first problem, Senator, is that we have been
unable to associate an individual with those names at this point. We
are still burrowing to find out who these people are. We haven’t identi-
fied them &s having been CIA employees, and ws don’t know whether
these were false names. -

Senator Kxx~epY. You are tracking that down, as I understand it?

Admiral TurNeR. Yes, sir,

Senator KenxreoY. You are tracking that down, and you have every
intention of interviewing those people to find out whatever you can

about the program and project t ) :

Admiral TorNer. My only hesitation here is whether I will do this |

or the Justice Department.

Senator KexnNeor. It will be pursued, though, I understand?

Admiral Tor~er, Yes, sir. _

Senator' Kexveoy. Either through the Agency or through the Jus.
tice Department !

Admiral Turnes. [Nods in the affirmative.]

Senator Ken~epY. Is it plausible that the director of the program
would not understand or know about the details of the program !
Is it plausible that Dr. Gottlieb would not understand the full range

of activities in those particular safe houses?
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. dmira] Torver. Let me say it is unlikely. I don't know Mr. Gott.
eb.

Senator Kexyeoy. Has anybody in the Agency talked with Mr.
Gottliel_)to find out about this ?y d : Agency tall

Admira] Not since this revelation has come out.

Senator Kexneoy. Not since this revelation ? Well, why not ?

Armiral Torver. He has Joft ouremploy, Senator.

Senator Kexnepy, Does that mean that anybody who leaves is, you

oW, covered for lifetime ¢

Admiral Toram, No, sir.

Senator Kexxeoy. Why wouldn’t you talk with him and find out?
You have new information about this program. It has been & matter
of considerable interest both to our committee and to the Intelligenco
Committee. Why wouldn’t you talk to Mr. Gottliebt

Admira]l TorNer. Well, in, I think the issue is whether this
should be done by the Justice partment or ourselves.

Senator KenNepy. Well, are we wrestling arnund because you and
Attorney Genersl Bel] can’t agree——

Admiral No, sir.

Senator Kennmoy [continuing]. On who ought to do it?

Admiral Torver. We are proceeding together in complete agreement,
83 to how to go, I have, in connection with trying to find all of these
Americans or others who were unwittingly tested, I have some con-
siderable concern sbout the CIA running around this country inter-
viewing and interrogating people, because I don’t want to give any
Impression that we are doing domestic intelligence.

nator Kexneor. I am just talking about one, in this case. That

was the man who was responsible for the whole program, and to

find out whether anyone within the Agency since you have had this

new material has talked to Gottljeb since 1975, and if the answer is
no, I want to know why not. ‘ .

Admiral Torver. The reason he wss not interviewed in connection

and there was a concern on the part of the Agency that it would appear
to the investigators that the CIA was in some way trying to influence
him and influence his testimony before the committee. If these
committees have no objection, we would be happy to contact Dr.
ieb and see if he can augment anything here in this new infor-
mation, though I don't think there is much in this new information
that he can add to as opposed to'what was available in 1975,
Senator KexnzpY., Well, you see, Admiral Turner, you come to ths
two committees this morning and indicate that now at we have the
information. We don't have to ‘be concerned about anything in the
future on it. Now, I don’t know how you can give those assurances to
the members of these committees as well as to the American people
when you haven't since 1975 even talked to the principal person that
was in charge of the program, and the records wers destroyed. He is
the fellow that wag running the program, and the Agency has not
‘thlked to him gince the development of this new material.
Admiral Torver. Onr only concern here is the proprieties involved,
and we will dig into this and work with the Justice Department on
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who, if either of us, should get into discussions with Dr. Gottlieb so as
not to prejudice any legal rights that may be involved here, or to ap-
pear in any way to be improper.

Senator Kex~Nzeny. Well, g: I understand you have not contacted the
Justice Department about this particular case since the development
of this new material about Gottlieb?

" Admiral Tur~ez. Not about Gottlieb specifically. We have contacted
im,

Senator Kexxepy. Well, it is amazing to me. I mean, can you under-

stand the difficulty that any of us might have in terms of comprehend-

ing that when you develop s whole new series of materials that are on

the front page of every newspaper in the country and are on every tele-

vision, I mean, that means something, but it does not mean nearly as

much as the interest that we have in the fact about the testing of un-

witting Americans, and every single document that the staff reviews
has Mr. Gottlieb’s name on it and you come up to tell us that we don't
have to worry any more, we have these other final facts, and Mr, Gott-
lieb has not beei. talked tof

Admiral Tor~es. Sir, I am not saying that these are in any way the
final facts. I am saying these are all the facts we have available.

Senator KexNevy. And you have not talked to the person-who was
in charge of the program, so what kind of value or what kind of weight
can we give it! .

Admiral Turvzr, We are h;pgy_to talkc to him. I think the issue
hers again is one of propriety and how to go sbout this. We have not,
I believe, enouﬁ; new information about Gottlieb's participation here
to signal that his interview would be that much more revealing than
what was revealed in 1975,

Senator Kexxzor. The importance of it, I think, from our point
of view, is, he would know the drugs that were sdministered, the vol-
ume of drugs, how it was administered, and in terms of your ability
to follow up to protect these people and their health, to the extent that
it can be done, that opportunity is being lost. )

I want to get on to some others, but will you give us the assurance
that you will get ahold of Gottlieb or that you will talk to Attorney
Genera] Bell and talk with Gottlieb? .

Admiral Toryer, Yes, sir,

Senator Krorvzoy. And let us know as to the extent of it. I don’t
see how we can fufill our responsibility in this ares on the drug test-
ing without our hearing from Gottlieb as well, but I think it is im-
portant that you do so, particularly since all of the materials have
been destroyed.

These other two agents, have they talked to them

Admiral TorNer We don't know who they are, sir. We are trying
to track down and see whether these names can be releated to anybody.

Senator Kex~Nzny. That is under active investigation by the Agency !

Admiral Trrver. Yes, sir, .

Senator KeNNmoY. And you have the intention of talking to those
people when you locate them. I's that correct {

Admiral Terver. Yes, sir, under the same circumstances as Gottlieb.

Senator Kex~Neny. And you have people working on it !

Admiral Ttexer Yes, sir.
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Senator Kevveny. With regards to the activities that took place in
these safe houses, as I understand fron, the records, two-way mirrors
were used. Is that your understand'mg?

Admiral TurNER. Yes. sir. We have records that constrnction was
done to put in two-way mirrors,

Senator Kenneoy. And they were placed in the bedroom, as I
understand.

Pause. ]
nator KexNzeoy. Well, we have documents——

Admira] Turver. believe that was in the Church record, but I

don’t havoe the details,

ator KENNEDY. And rather elaborate decorations were added, as
I understand, at least, to the one in San Francisco, in the bedrogm,
which are French can-can dancers, flora} pictures, drapery, including -
installation of bedroom mirrors, three framed Toulouse Lautree post-
ers with black silk mats, and & number of other—red bedroom cur-
tains and recording equipment, and then a series of documents which
were provided to the committee which indicate a wide proliferation
of different cash for $100, generally in the $100 range over any period
of time on the Elrticulzr checks. Even the names are blocked out, as
to the person who is receiving it. Cash for undercover agents, operat.
i0g eIpenses, drinks, entertainment while administering, and then it
is ed out, and then the other documents, that would suggest, at
least with the Signature of your principal agent out there, that—-
“called to the operation, midnight, and elimax.”

. What can you tell'us that jt might suggest to you about what. tech-
f1ques were being used by the Agency in termg of reaching that sort
of broad-based group of Americans that were being evidently enticed
for testing in terms of drugs and others? Do you draw any kind of
co?cl}:xsion ;bout whet might have been going on out there in these
safe houses .

Admiral Torver. No, sir. '

Genersl laughter. ] . . )

enator KeNNEDY, There is a light side to it, but there is also an
enormously serious side. And that is that st least the techniques which
8re used or were used in terms of testing, and trying to find out ex-
actly the range of drugy used and the numbers of people involved and

When you look at the fact that it is a broad range population that
has been tested, tested in these two areas, with the kind of cash slips
that were used in this, Ptyment mechanisms and decorations and all
of the rest, we are not able to put & bottom line on it but one thing is
for sure, and that is, Gottlieb knows. That is one thing for sure, be-
cause his name sppears on just about every one of these documepts,
and it is, I think, very important to find out what his understanding
is of the nature of that. So, we will hear more about that.

Admira] Torser. I believe Gottlieb has been interviewed by the
Congress,

Senator Kex~esy. That's right, he has, and in reviewing the record.
it is not very satisfactory, and it just seems with the new information
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and the new documentation and the new memoranda—and he did not
have the checks at that time—and with the wide variety of different
memoranda with his name on it, his memory could be stimulated on

that.

Thank you.
Senator INouTr. I would like to thank the admiral and his staff for

participating in this hearing. I believe the record should show that this
hearing was held at the request of the Agency and the admiral. It was
not heﬁi because we insisted upon it. It was a volunteer effort on the
part of the Agency. I thin : . :
miral Turner has forwarded to this committee o classified file including
all of the names of the institutions and the persons involved as the
experimentors. .

I shoyid slso indicate that this hearing is just one step involved in
the commi.tee’s investigation of drug sbuse. Just as you have had much
work in going over the 8,000 pages, the staff of this committee has had
equal problems, but I would like the record to show that you have
madec these papers and documents available to the committee. I thank
you for that.

As part of the ongoing investigation, we had intended to call upon
rmany dozens of others, experimentors, or those officials in charge, and
one of those will be Dr, Gottlieb. )

In thanking you, I would likes to say this to the American people,
that what we have experienced this morning in this committee roém
is not being duplicated in any other committee room in any other part
of the world. I doubt that very much. Our Agency and our intelligence
community has been under much criticism and has been subjected to
much abuse, in many cases justified, but this is the most open society
that I can think of. For example, in Great Britain there are about six
people who are aware of the identity of the man in charge of intelli-
gence. In other countries, similar conditions exist. Here in the United
States we not only know Admiral Turner, we have had open hearings
with him, such as this, The confirmation hearings were all open.

In a few weeks, the Senate of the United States will debate a resolu-
tion to decide upon whether we should disclose the amounts and funds
being used for counterintelligence and national intelligence. I would
hope that in presenting this issue to the publie, the media will take note
that the Agency has cooperated and will continue to. The abuse that
we have learned about this morning is one I hope will never happen
again, but without constant oversight on the part of the Executive
Office, on the part of the Congress. 1t could happen again. It is.impor-
tant therefore that we continue in this oversight activity.

So, once again, Admiral, T thank you very much for helping us: Wa
will continue to call upon you for your assistance. We would like to
submit to you several questions that the members and staff have pre-
pared. We hope you will look them over carefully and prepare re-
sponses for the record, sir. '

Senator Kex~yeor, Mr. Chairman §

Senator InorTe. Yes, sir!

Senator Kexveoy. I, too. want to thank Admiral Turner for his
responsiveness. I have had meetings with him in the committees and
also conversations, telephone conversations. and private meetings, and

k the record should also indicate that Ad~ -
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I have found him personally to be extremely responsive. and it is a
very difficult challenge which he has accepted in heading this Agency.
I want you to kno. personally, I. too, would like to see this put behind
us. I don’t think we are quite there ¥et in terms of this particular area
that we are Interested in. I think the Intelligence gommittee has
special responsibilities in this aren of the testing, so we look forward
to working with you in expediting the time that we can put it behind,
but it does seem to me that we have to dig in and finish the chapter.
So, I want to personally express my appreciation to you, Admiral
Turner, and thank you for your cooperation and your help, and I look
forward to working with you.

Admiral Toaver. Thank you. )

Senator Hupbr.eston. Mr. Chairman, I am not sure you emphasized
this enough, but I think the record ought to show that Admiral Turner
informed the Select Committee on his own initiative when the new
documentation was found, The documentation has been made avail-
able to us voluntarily, in a spirit of cooperation. " _

I think this shows a vast difference from the mode of operation that
existed prior to the formation at least of the Church committee, and
a difference that is very helptul.

A dSer.mt?r Ixotye. Thank you very much. Thank you very much,
miral.

We would now like to call upon Mr. Philip Goldman and Mr. John
Gittinger,

.hr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger, will you please rise and take the
oath.

Do you solemly swear that the testimon you are about to give is
the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so help you, God ¢

Mr. Goromax. I do.

r. GrrTineger.'T do.

Senator INovz. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, and after that, Mr.
Gittinger.

Senator Kexnepy. Before we start in, we had a third witness, Mr.
Chairman, Mr. Pasternac, who planned to testify, traveled to Wash-
Ington—he lives in Washington, and was contacted recently—with
the intention of testifying this morning. And something—he called
us late this morning and indicated that he wanted to get a counsel
before he would wish to testify.

Senator INotye. Mr. Goldman.

Mr. Goldman, will you identify yourself, sir.

TESTIMONY OF PHILIP GOLDMAN, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGERCE AGERCY '

- Mr. GoLoxax. I am Philip Goldman.

¢ Senator INovre. And you are s former employee of the.Central
Intelligence Agency!

Mr. GoLpxa~. Over 10 years ago.

Senator Ivouve. And you were employed at the time when
MEKULTRA was in operation? -

Mr. Gorostax. There were some MRULTRAs in operation at the
time I was there.
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Senator INovYE. And Mr. John Gittinger, are you a former em-
ployee of the Central Intelligence Agency ¢

TESTIMOKY OF JOHN GITTINGER, FORMER EMPLOYEE, CENTRAL
INTELLIGENCE AGENCY

Mr. Grrrovoer. I am.

Senator INoUTE. Are you still an employee!

Mr. Grrrovees. No.

Senator INouYE. Were you & member of the Agency at the time
MEULTRA was in operation?

Mr. Grrrovaer. Yes.

Senator Inoure. Thank you. Senator Kennedy.

Senstor KennepY. I want to welcome both og you to the committee.

If we could start with Mr. Goldman. Were you the £roject engineer
for the safe houses in either San Francisco or New York!

- Mr. Goroxax. I know of no safe-house in-San Framcizsd: =

Senator KeNniupy. How about in New York!

Mr. Gotoman. 1 knew of one facility that was established there,
bat I didn't know anything of its operation.

Senstor KeNNEDY. Wers you a monitor on any testing of drugs on
unwitting persons in San Franciscot

Mr. GoomaN. No.

- Senator Kznnepy. Well, we have a clamsified document here that was
provided by the Agency that lists your name as a monitor of the pro-
gram and I would appreciate it if you would look—

Mr. Goomax. I think the misunderstanding arises becauss I was

project officer.
Senator KenNEpY. Well, would you take s look at that !

[Mr. Goldman m'ls;mted the document.)
Mr. Gowoman. is document as it states is correct. However,

my——
Seastor KenNepY. That document is correct !

Mr. Goroaman. As far as I see on the first page, the project. But
my—

Senator Kennepy. Well, could I get it back, please.

That would indicate that you were a monitor of the program.

- Elfl.: Goroma. I was in charge of disbursing the moneys to Morgan
Sensior KennenY. To whom was that ! :
Mr. Gowomax. To the individusl whose name was lsted at the top

of that document.

Senator Kexnzoy. And you knew that he was running the project

in San Francisco?
Mr. Goroaax. T knew he was the person who was in charge out

re.
Senator Kznneoy. All right.
Mr. GoomaN. But I had no knowledge nor did I seek knowledge of

sctually what he was doing, because there would be other things
involved.

I did receive—-

Serator KxxnepY. What were you doing!t
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Mr. Gooaun, I was collecting—I had to be sure that all the re.
celpts that ever were turned in balanced with the moneys that were
paid out to see that everythinF was run all right. There was no illegal
use of funds as far as we could determine by the receipts and cash.

Senator KexxNrnY. So even though the Agency document indicates
that you were a roonitor for the program, one of the few monitors of
that particular Fmgnm which you mentioned for San Francisco and
Mill Valley, Calif., you described your responsibility only as a carrier
of mon&y, is that correct

Mr. Gowoyax. I would saly as & disburser or carrying out—seein
that the moneys were handled properly. There was within that—
don“.:l know what's done or what he did do in conjunction with other
people.

Senator Kzx~eny. Were You responsible for the disbursement of
all the fuads? )

Mr. GoLoxan. I was responsible for turning over the check to him.

Senator KexNepY. And what did you know of the program itself?

Mr. Goroaax. The only thing I kmew of the program was what he
furnished us in terms of receipts and that sort of thing. I didn't in-
dulge or concern myself in that. ..

Senator Kennenr. You still wrote, and I'll let you examine it—
it's a classified document—but you wrote a rather substantive review
of the program in Mayv of 1963, talking about the experiments, the
factual dats that had b n collected, covert and realistic field trials,
about the necessity of those particular—and talked about the effec-
tiveness of the various programs, the efficiency of various delivery
systems, That doesn't sound to me like someone who is only—

Mr. Goosay. Well, if you would refresh my memory, if I could
read this I would certainly agree with whatever is said there, if it was
written. .

Senator Ken~edY. I am trying to gather what your role was, You've
indicated first of all that you didn’t know about—you knew about a
safe house in New York: now we find out that you're the carrier for
the resources as well and the agent in San Francisco. We find out now
that the CLA put you as a monitor. You're testifying that you only were
the courier. and here we have just one document, and there are many
others that talk about the substance of that program with your name
oln it and T am just trying to find out exactly what role you were
plaving, .

Mr. Gorpxax. The only thing I can tell you about this and I am
drawing completely on my meinory is that this individual who was
in charge out there conducted these things and reported them back to
the Agency. I didn't participate in any of them. All T know was that he
furnished me with receipts for things that were done and told of the
work that they had done. )

Senstor KExNEDY. Well. that document covers more than receipts.
hMr. Gorparax, Yes, it tells of what—they bad conducted work out
there. :

Senstor Kexxzpy. It describes, does it not! Read the paragraph 2.

Mr. Gorpstaw. “A number of covert”— — -

Senator Kzy~eoy. Well, you can’t read it. it's classified document,
and I don't know why, quite frankly, but it relates to the substanzo
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of those programs and your name is signed to the memorandums on
it. I am not interested in you trying to review for us now what is in the
document, but I thirk it would be unfortunate if we were ieft with the
opinion that all you were was g couricr of resources when we see a
document with your name or. it, signed, that talks about the substance
of the pro - And what we're interested in is the substance of the
program. We have the recent documents that were provided by the
Agency, which do indicate that you were at least involved in the
substance, and I'm just trying to find out whether you're willing to
tell us about that. '

Mr. Goromay. I am perfectly willing to tell you everything that
I can remember.

Senator KexNeoy. But you can’t remember anything.

Mr. Gowouax. I can't’ remember the substantive parts of these
things, I really can’t

Senator Kenneoy. Of the pro that was taking place.
.-._Do_you have any greater famj iarity with what was happening in

New York{

Mr. GoroMan. No, no.

Senator Kex~Nenr. And you have the same function with regards
to New York!

Mr. Gowpaax. The same function with rd to New York.

Senator Kexnedr. Did you ever go to San Francisco :

Mr. Gorpxax. Yes.

Senator Kevvepr. Did you meet with the agent in charget

Mr. Goroxmax, Yes. '

Senator Kev~zEoY. And why did you meet with him ¢

Mr. Goroxux, To discuss some of the receipts and things that were
there to find out if these were indeed true expenditures and to find out
‘iif everything was going slong all right for the work that was being

one.

Senator Kexnzpy. What work was being donet
Mr. Goromax. No, the reports of these things and whatever was

being done. I don’t know who he reported to but he did report to
somebody.

Senator Kexveor. You travel out there to find out about the work
that's being done, and what does he tell you, that the work is being
done well and— ‘

Mr. Goroan. He told me that the work that they were doing was
going along, progressing satisfactorily, but to be very frank with
you——o :

Senator Kexveoy. But he didn't tell gon what the work was?

Mr. Gorouax. To be very frank wi you, Senator, I cannot re-
member the things that happened back in those days. I've been away
from the company—from the Agency for over 10 years, and that is
even farther back than that, and that was just sbout the time when I
first engaged in this, so it was my first )

Senator Kexneov. Did they disburse a series of $100 checks, to
your recollection ! '

Mr. Gowoaax. I don’t recollect it, but if you have it there, then
they did. .

Senator Kexxepr. Did you know Dr. Gottlieb!

Mr. GoLomax. Yes.
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Senator Kenwer. How did you kmow Dr. Gottlieb?

Mr. Goroman. He had been head of the division when I was re-
cruited. .

Senator Kznneor. Did you talk to him sbout these programs? Did
you have anything to do with him during this peried of timet

Mr. Goupsay. I didn't have ansthing to do with him until I would
say probably in the sixties. ]

Senator Kexnr=r. And can you tell us what you had to do with
him thent , :

Mr. GoLomaN. Just what you see there on the papers.

Senator KexnsoY. Well, that is the request for the money and he
approves it. .

r. GuznmaN. That is the request for money and he approves it,
and I am quite sure that I [i‘robtbly discussed with him whether the
work was going along all right, whether his reports were being turned -
in, and whether he was satisfied with the way things were going
and did he have any comrplaints about the way other people were
requesting him, but I'did not engage myself in anything he was doing.
enator Kexneoy. Well, did you get the impression that Gottli

lmew what was going on?

Mr. Goroaman. I didn’t ask. .
Senator Kexneor. But you told him that your impression that what

was going on even though you didn’t know what was going on, was go-
ing on well, I guess? [Laughter.]

Mr. Gowpsun. I told Gottlieb what you saw in there was that the
things appeared to be going along all right. I was repeating and par-
roting back the words that were given to me while I was there.
l':“Sen'at:m' Kenyzoy. What was the money being spent for, do you

ow -

Mr. GoLpmax. No; I can’t recall that, sir.

Senator Kenneoy. Would you remember if we told you it was red
curtains and can-can pictures—

Mr. Gopxaxn. No, sir.

Senator Kexxeoy. Floral pictures and the rest.

Mr. GoLouax. No, sir.

Senator KexnxenY. Recorders.

Mr. Gorouan. No, sir.

Senator Kenneoy. Recorders and two-way mirrors.

Mr. GoLoxax. Wait, hold on. You're slipping s word in there now.

Senstor Kennzor. But you would have authorized those funds,
would you not, since you were the——

Mr. Gorpuax. Did you say two-way mirrors?

Senator Kexweny, Yes.

Mr. Goroman. Where !t

Senator KenNroY. In the safe houses.

Mr. GoromaN. Where!

Senator KxnNeEnY. San Francisco.

Mr. GoLpuman. No.

Senator Kennzor. How about New York!

Mr. Goroman, Yes.

Senator Kzynzoy. You remember now that you approved expendi-
tures for New York!
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Mr. GoLomax, Yes

Senator KzNNEpY. What were those expenditures for?

Mr. Gorpmax. That was a transfer of money over for the use in
an apartment in New York by the Bureau of Narcotics. It was for
their use.

Senator KenweoY. Do you have any knowledge of what was going
on in the apartment{

Mr. GoLoMaN. No, sir, other than I know that it had been used, ac-
cording to the information that I have been given, it was used by the
Bureau of Narcotics to make meetings with individuals who they were
interested in with regard to pushing dope—not pushing dope, but sell-
1n§nnrcot1cs and that sort of thing.

enstor Kexnveny. Well, I am sure you had many responsibilities and
it's & long time ago, but the Agency does indicate that you were project
monitor for that particular program.

Mr. Gorpaan. That's correct. .

Senator KznNNEDY. Your own testimony indicates you went out to re-
view the expenditures of funds to find out whether they were being
wisely used, that {:gu came back and talked to the project director, Mr.
Gottlieb, to give him a progress report about what was going on out

ere,

Mr. Goromax. Yes, sir, 1did. ‘

Senator KexnEDY. All those things are true, and yet you draw a
complete blank in terms of what was the project itseiyf? hat’s where
the record isnow.

Mr. GoLpsan. I did not go out there to review the projects nor did
I come back and talk with Mr. Gottlieb and review what Thad observed
in terms of any projects that thef—-tha.t is, other ga.rts of the Agency
might have in operation there. simply reported back those things
whizh were told to me by the individual out there who—and I carried
them back and they are contained in the report that you have in front
of you, word for word. just as it was given to me.

Senstor Kexneoy. The report that you examined here is a substan-
tive report on the particular program and project. And I don’t think
anyone who wasn’t familiar with the project—this is a personal evalu-
ation-——could write a report on the substance of it without knowing
about it. Now, that's mine. Maybe you can’t remember and recollect,
and that's— ‘ .

Mr. GoLoxan. No; everything I put down in there is things that I
was told while I was out there, and if there was any ancillary informs-
:lion {nvolved in there I can tell you I just dor't remember that. I really

on

At the time—that was some years ago. At the time—s lot of time has
passed since then and I have made quite sure that if I could recollect 1t
at all, T would do it. If you have some papers and you want me to cer-
tify whether yes, this is so or that is so, I can do that, but I can’t recal

it mentally. ) )
Senator KznnzoT. You just certified the principal. There are others

up here. .
I would like to go to Dr. Gittinger.
Mr. Grrmiyorer. It’s Mr. Gitzu:ﬁer. '
Senator Kexxeoy. How long did you serve with the Agency!
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Mr. Grrrivoer. Twenty-six veass.

Senator Kex~EDT. Excuse me!

Mr. Grrrivoer Twenty-six yeass.

Senator KENNEDY. Twenty-six years.

And at some point you moved into the operational support side, is
that correct

Mr. GrrTiNGER. Yes.

Senator KexnepY. And did you know Sidney Gottlieb?

Mr. Grrringer Yes, sir. . _
Senator Kzx~eor. And did he inform you about the research proj-
ects involving LSD1

Mr, Grrminaer. Yes, sir.
Senator KENNEDY. It is my understanding that you were also aware

of some of the drug testing projects conducted on unwitting subjects
on the west coast using the Bureau of Narcotics people in the operation.
Is that truel

Mr. GrrrINgER. | was. o

Senator Inourr. Excuse me. Would you speak into the microphone ?
I cannot hear you. .

Mr. GrrriNeER SorTy. _

Se;mtor Kexyepr. Do you know which drugs were involved in those
tests

Mr. Grrrivoer. LSD. And I can’t remember for sure much of the
others. What is the substance of marihuana, cannabis, is that right, that
can be delivered by other than smoking

Senator Kexyeoy. Cannabis?
Mr. GrrTiNGER. There had been some discussion of that; yes.

Senator KExNEDY. And was heroin also used ?

Mr. Grrri~aer. Heroin used by CIA ¢

Senator Kexyeor. No. In the west coast operation.

Mr. GrrrivcEr Absolutely not.

Senator KexnEDY. Now, to your knowledge, how were the drugs ad-
ministered to the unwitting subjectst

Mr. Grrrinoes. I have no direct knowledge.

Senator KenNeoy. Why did you go tothe safe houses!? _

Mr. Grrrivaer It’s a vesy complicated story. Just in justification of
myself, this came up just day befor:dyesterday. 1 have not really had
enough time to get it all-straightened in my mind, so I ramble.

Senator KznNzpY. Well, you take your time and tell us in your own
words. We've got some time hers.

Mr. Grrrincer, My responsibilities which would involve any of the

riod of time that you were talking about really was not directly
related to drugs at all. I was & peychologist charged with the respons?-
bility of trying to develop as much information as I could on variouns
cultures, overseas cultures, anthropoloegical type data, if you follow
what I mean. I was also engaged in trying to work out ways and means
of assessing people and understanding people.

I originally became involved in this through working on Chinese
culture, and over a series of time I was introduced to the problem of
brainwashing, which is the thing that really was the most compelling
thing in relationship to this, and became charged swith the responsi-
bility of trying to find out a little bit about interrogation techniques.
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And among other things, we decided or I decided that one of the best
sources of interrogation techniques would be trying to locate and nter-
view and become involved with experienced poﬁce interrogators in
the country and experienced people who had real practical knowledge
of interrogation. The reason for this is that we had become pretty well
convinced after the experience of the brainwashing problems coming
out of China, that it was the techniques of the interrogators that were
causing the individuals to make confessions and so fortEuin relationship
to this, rather than any kind of drugging and so forth. So we were
very much interested in interrogation techniques, and this led to me
being introduced to the agent in the west coast, and I began to talk to
him in connection with these interrogation techniques.

Senator Kex~eor. OK. Now, that is the sgent that ran the tests
on the west coast on the unwitting people. That's where you come in,

- correct !

Mr. Grrriveer 1£ T understand-—would you sa that againt
Senator Kexnepy. The name 3organ Hall Kas been—that is the
name that has been used. '

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes.

Senator Kex~EpY. And that is the agent that you met with.

Mr. GrrrinoER. That is right.
Senator KENNEDY, And you met at the safe house.

Mr. Grrringer. Yes, sir.

Senator KExNEDYT. Whom did you meet with in the safe house

Mr. GrrrinuER. This is the part that is hard for me to say, and I am
sorry that I have to. In connection with some work that we were
doing, we needed to have somc information on sexual habits. Morgan
Hall provided informants for me to talk to in connection with the sex
habits that I was interested in trying to find information. During one
period of time the safe house, as far as I was concerned, was used for
just these particular type of interviews. And I didn't see the red
curtains.

Senator KExNEDY. Those were prostitutes, were they!

Mr. GITTINGER. Yes, SIT. i .
Senator Krxvepy. How many different times were you there that

you had similar—-
Mr. Grrrixcer. I couldn’t possibly say with any certainty on thet.

Four or five times.
Senator Kenxepy. Four or five times.
Mr. GITTINGER. Over—{ou remember now, the period that I'm talk-

ing about when I would have any involvement in this is from about

1956 to 1961. So it's about 8 4- or 5-year period which is the only time
that T know anything about what you are talking about here today.

Senator KexNEDY. Did Morgan Hall make the arrangements for
the prostitutes to meet with you! :

Mr. GrrriNoer. Yes, sir.

Senator KEx~EDY. Did the interviews that you had have anything to
do with drugs!

Afr. Grrrivozr. Well. as I tried to explain earlier when this was
being discussed a little bit beforehand, again I think it is pretty hard
for most people riow to recognize how little there was known about

. drugs at the period of time that we are talking about, because the
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drug age or the drug culture corzes later on. Consequently, those of
us who had any responsioility in this area were interested in trying to
get as much 1nformation as we could on the subctlture, the subculture
drug groups, and obviously the Bureau of Narcstics represented #
mesns of doing this. Consequent!y, other types of things that were
invoived in discussions at that time would have to do with the under-
ground use of drugs. When I am talking about this I am talking about
the folkways in terms of unwitting use of d Did these people that
[ was talking to have any information about this and on rare instances
they were able to tell me about their use, and in most cases this would
largely turn out to be a Mickey Finn or something of that sort rather
than anything esoteric.

I also was very much interested because we had relatively little
information, believe it or not, at that time, in terms of the various
reactions that people were having to drugs. Therefore, these people
were very informative in terms of they knew a great deal of informa-
tion about reactions.

Senator KENNEDY. At least you gathered—or am I correct in assum-
inF that you gathered the impression that the prostitutes that you had
taiked to were ahle to slip the drugs to people as I understand it. Dic
you form any impression on that? _

Mr. GrrriNaEr. I certainly did not form the impression that they
did this as a rule or—

Senator Kex~¥EDY. But they had the knowledge.

Mr. Grrringer. They had the knowledge or some of them had had
knowledge of this being done. But again, asit turned out, it was Jargely
in this ares of knockout drops.

Senator Kex~EDY. Looking back now did you form any impression
about how the Agency was actually testing the broad spectrum of social
classes in these safe houses! With the large disbursal of cash in
small quantities, $100 bills and the kinds of elaborate decorations and
two-way mirrors in the bedrooms and all the rest, is there any question
in your own mind what was going on in the safe houses, or the tech-
nigues that were being used to administer these druﬁ! _

Mr. Grrrivozr. I find it very dificult to answer that question. sir. I
had absolutely no direct knowledge there was a large number of this. I
had no knowledge that anyone other than—than Morgan Hall was in
any way involved in the unwitting administration of drugs.

nator Kex~eny. But Gottlieb would know, would he not? °

Mr. Grrrixveer I believe so, yes, sir.

Senator KexyEnY. Could we go into the Human Ecology Founda-
tion and talk about that and how it was used as an instrument in terms
of the support of research?

Mr. Grrrrvoer. Yes, sir. )

Senator Kexyeoy. Could you describe it to us? Could you describe
the Human Ecology Foundation, how it functioned and how it worked ¢

Mr. Grrrivaer May I tell something about how it evolved, which I
think is important?

Senator KenvEDY. Sure.

Mr. Grrmivger. The Society for the Investigation of Human Ecol-
ogy, socalled, was actually a—I1 am confused here now as to whether

I should name you names.
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Senator Exx~NeDY. Well, we're not interested in names or institu-
tions, so we prefer that you do not. That has to be worked out in
arrangements between Admiral Turner and the individuals and the
institutions.

But we're interested in what the Foundation really was and how it
functioned and what its purpose was.

Mr. Grrrincer Well, it was established to undertake research in the
general area of the behavioral sciences. It definitely had almost no
focus or interest in, say, drug-related type of activities except in a very
minor way, because it was largely set up to attempt to gain a certain
amount of information and to fund projects which were psychological,
sociological, anthropological in character. It was established in the
sense of a period of time that a lot of us who are in it wish we could
do it over again, but we were interested in trying to get together a panel
of the most representative high-level behavioral scientists we could to
oversee and hef%in terms of developing the Society for the Investiga-
tion of Human Ecology type of program.

The cy in effect provided the money. They did not direct the
projects. Now, the fact of the matter is, there are a lot of innocent peo-
ple who received the Society for the Investigation of Human Ecology
money which I know for a fact they were never asked to do anything
for the CIA but they did get through this indirectly. They had no
knowledge that they were getting CI.g money.

Senator KxxnenY. Over what period of time did this take place!

Mr. Grrrovoer. As far as I was concerned, it was the period of time
ending in 1961. I believe the Human Ecology fund y phased out
in 1965, but I was not involved in this phasing out.

Senator KxnwepY. Can you give the range of the different sort of
individual projects of the universities in which it wag active! :

Mr. Grrrovaer. Well, it would have ss many as—1I am very fuzzy
on my memory on the number of projects. It is over 10, 20, 30.

Senator Kznnepy. After it made the grants, what was the relation-
ship of the Agency with the results of the studiest The Foundation
acquired the money to make the grants from the Agency, and then it
made the grants to these various research programs.

Mr. GrrrovgEr. Yes, sir.

Senator KxvneEpY. And that included eight universities as well as
individual researcherst -

Mr. Grrringer. Yes, gir. :

Senator Kexneny. Then what follow-up was there to that, gir?

Mr. Grrrovger. Well, in every sense of the word, the organization
was run exactly like any other foundation, and it carried with it the
same thing in terms of making certain that the people that they had
given money to used it for the purpose for which it had been granted,
that they had access to any of the reports that they had put out, but
there were no strings attached to anybody. There wasn't any reason
thev couldn’t publish anvthing that thev put out.

Senator KzvxepY. What sort of budget are we talking about here!

Mr. Grrryger. I horestly do not remember. I would ruess we are
talking in the realm of about $150,000 a year, but don’t hold me to that,

becanse T don’t know.
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Senator Kxxweor. What is your view about such funding s s pro-
fessional person, in terms of compromising the integrity of a univer-
gity, sirt

Mr. Grrrivorr. Well, obviously, sir, insofar as today there is no

uestion about it. I will have to say at the time that we were doing this
there was quite an entirely different kind of an sttitude, and I do
know for a fact that we moved to start towards phasing out the So-
ciety for the Investigation of Human Ecology and the Human Ecol-
ogy Fund for the very reason that we were beginning to recognize that
it was moving into an area but this would be compromised.

Senator Kenxepy. Well, that is commendable, both your attitude
and the reagons for it, but during that period of time it stil! was in-
volved in behavior research programs, as understand it.

Mr. Grrrrvoer. Yes, sir. On its own, in connection with this, it
participated again, and these again were not CIA-directed projects,
but these were all things which would theoretieally contribaute to the
general knowledge at the time where the things like the study of the
Hungarian refugees—obviously, the study of the Hungarian refugees
who came to this country after the Hungnrian revoit was a very use-
ful exercise to try to get information about the personality character-
istics of the Communists and =o forth.

Senator KENNEDY. Were there other foundations that were doing
similar kinds of work!

Mr. Grrrnaes. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Senator KexnznY. You believe—

Mr. Grrrrvoer. You mean, CIA, other CTA?

Senator KexnepY. Richt. o

Mr. Grrrivoze. Well, my answer is in the sense that I kmow of no
other CIA foundations, no. There were, of course, other foundations
doing similar kinds of work in the United States.

Senator Kzxvenry. Have you heard of the Psychological Assess-
ments Foundation?!

Mr. Grrrinoer. I certainly have.

Senator KexNepY. What was that! What function did that have!

Mr. Grrrinoer. Now, this was bringing us up to a different era. I
believe the functions of that organization have nothing whatsoever
to do with the things that are being talked about here while I was
associated with it.

Senator KzxNroy. Rather than getting into the work, it was another
foundation, was it not? It was another foundation supported by the
Apgency! :

Mr. Grrrmvazr. Wheat, the Psychological Assessment?

Senator Kennepy, Yes.

Mr. Grrrrnoex No, sir, it was not.

Senator Kexveor. It did not get any support at all from the
Agency! )

& Mr. Grrrivaee. Oh, yes, sir. It did get support, but it was a business
™m.

Senator Kzxveoy. It was a business but it got support from the

Agencyt

Mr. Grrrivoer It got money from it. but it definitely was not in
MEKULTRA orin any way associated with this.
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Senator Kenx~eor. All right. I want to thank you for your helpful
testimony, Mr. Gittinger. It is not easy to go back into the past. I
think you have been very fair in your characterizations, and I think
it is quite appropriately indicated that there are different standards
now from what thev were 25 years ago, and I think you have responded
very fairly and completely to the inquiries, and I think with a good
deal of feeling about it.

You are a person who is obviously attempting to serve the country’s
interest, so I want to thank you very much for your statement and
for your helpful timeliness.

Mr. Grrrixoer. Thank you, sir,

Senator INoTYE. Senator Case!

Senator Case. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am sorry that I had
rnother committee that I had to complete the hearing with this morn-
ing before I got here. .

I shall read the testimony with very great interest, and I appreci-
ate your testimony as I have heard it. I would like to comment just on
one point, and that is, it relates to a story in the press yesterday about
part of this program involving the funding of a grant at & forexgin
university. I would like to elicit from you a comment as io the addi-
tional sensitivity and difficulty that that practice involves from your
standpoint as a scientist, as well as a citizen, if you will.

Mr. Grrrincer. I will say it was after the fact thinking. It was utter

stupidity the way things worked out to have used some of this money
outside the United States when it was CLA money, I can categorically
state to my knowledge and I don’t claim a complete knowledge all the
way across of the human ecology functions, but to my knowledge, and
this is unfortunate, those people did not know that they were getting
money from CIA, and they were not asked to contribute anything to
CIA as such. ,
_ Senator Case. It would be interesting to try to examine this by turn-
ing the thing around and thinking what we would think if this hap-
pened from a foreign official agency to our own university. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Senator INouYE. Senator Schweiker.

Senator Scawerker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Dr. Goldman, I wonder if you would tell us what your training and
educational background ist

Dr. GoLoxax. I have already given a biography for the record.

Senator Scawziger. I have not seen it. Who has it? Is it classified ?
We may have it for the record, but may I ask you to briefly describe
vour training and background for us now? I hope it is no secret,

Dr. Gorpmax. Well, I was told if I was asked this to say that. T was
told that by your staff people, but I have no objection to telling you.
I am a resident from Pennsylvanis, southwest Pennsylvanie, ﬂ.n-
caster County. I went to Penn State, and I am in nutrition.

Senator Scawerxer. In what!

Dr. GoromMax. Nutrition.

Senator Scnwrerxer. Were you in charge of a section or segment of
the CIA in your past capacity?! .

_ Dr. Goromax. During the time I was with that organization, I was
in charge of one small section of it, one small segment of it; yes.

4-408 O - TT - 3
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Senator SCHWEIEER. What was the function or purpose of that sec-
tion that you headed? .

Dr. Goiosax. To provide support for the other parts of the divisioo.

Senator ScHWEIKFR. Where in the chain of command would that put
you in relation to Dr. Gottlieb1

Dr. GoLoMaN. Pretty far down the line.

Senator Scuwerker. Mr. Gittinger, I would just like to ask you 8
few questions. We appreciate your frankness and candor with the com-
mittee, and we realize this is'a very difficult ares to go into. I am not
quite clear on two matters that were raised earlier, First, were the safe
houses we were talking about here used on occasion by the prostitutes
you referred tol

Mr. Grrrrvaer. I really have not the slightest idea.

Senator Scaweiker. Were the prostitutes used in any way to slip
the customers drugs for observation purposest

Mr. mexom%om to my direct knowledge.

Senator Scawerkzr. Would you have been in a position to know the
answer to either of these questions L

Mr. Grrrivoes, May I say, probably not, and may I make an aside
to expiain a lttle bit of this, please, siri

Senator Scuwrerkrr. Mr, Gittinger, 8 moment ago you mentioned
brainwashing techniques, as one area that you had, ess, done some
work in. How woul Iw,:ou characterize the state of the art of brain-
washing today? Who has the most expertise in this field, and who is
or is not doing it in terms of other governments!

During the Korean war there was & lot of serious discussion about
brainwang.ng techniques being used by the North Koreans, and I am
interested in finding out what the state of the art is today, as you ses it.

Mr. GrrriNGER. Well, of course, thers has been a great deal of work
on this, and there is still a great deal of controversy. I can tell you that
as far as I knew, by 1961, 1962, it was at least proven to my satis-
faction that brainwashing, so called, is some kind of an esoteric device
where drugs or mind-altering kinds of conditions and so forth were
used, did not exist even though “The Manchurian Candidate” as &
movie really set us back s long time, because it made something im:
possible look plausible. Do you follow what I mean? But by 1962 and
1963, the general idea that we were able to come up with is that brain-
washing was largely a process of isolating a human being, keeping
him out of contact, putting him under long stress in relationship to
interviewing and interrogation, and that they could produce any
change that way without having to resort to any kind of esoturic
means.

Senator SCHEWEIREZR. Are there ways that we can ascertain this from
a distance’ when we ses a captive prisoner either go on television, in
a photograph, or at a press conference ! In other words, are there cer-
tain signa that you have learned to recognize from your technical
background, to tell when brainwashing has occurred! Or is that very
difficultto dot _ | :

Mr. Grrrivoer It is difficult to do. I think it is posible now in terms
of looking at a picture of somebody who has been in enemy hands for
2 long period of time. We can get some pretty good ideas of what kind
of circumstances he has been under, if that is what you mean.
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Senator Scuwrzger. That is all I have, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Senator Inovye. Thank you very much.

Before adjourning the hearings, I would like to have the record
show that Dr. Goldman and Mr. Gittinger have voluntarily cooperated
with the committee in staff interviews, that they eppear this morning
voluntarily, and they are not under subpena,

Gentlemen, I reslize that this experience may have been an unhnpgﬂ
one and possibly & painful ore. Therefore, we thank you very mu
for ﬁarticipatin this morning. We also realize that the circumstances
of that time differed very much from this day, and possibly the na-
tional attitude, the national political attitude condoned this type of
activity. So, we have not asked you to come here as persons who have
committed crimes, but rather in hope that you can assist us in studying
this Eroblem so that it will not occur once again. In that spirit we
thank you for your participation, end we look forward to working
with you further in this case.

Thank you very much.

Senator KExNEpY. Mr. Chairman, I would like also to thank the
wit.nassas.ful These are difficult matters, and I think all of us are very
grateful.

Senator Scawerkes. I think the witnesses should know that thou%}en
it may not always seem that way, what we are trying to do is to pro
the past and look at the policies of the past to affect the future. I think
our emphasis really is on the future, not the past, but it is important
that we learn from the past as we formulate policies and legislation
for the future, I hopa that all of the witnesses who did come before us
voluntarily this morning, including Admiral Turner respect the fact
that we are questioning the past to learn about the future. I think it
should be looked at in that liEht.

Senator KexvepY. I think that is the spirit in which we have had
these hearings. It seems to me that from both these witnesses and
others, Gottlieb knows the information and can best respond, and we
are going to make every effort in the Senate Health Committee to get
Mcr. Gottlieb to appear, and we obviously look forward to coopersting
with Senator Inouye and the other members of the committee in get-
ting the final chapter written on this, but we want to thank you very
much for your appearancs here.

Senator INoUTE. The hearing will stand in recess, subject to the call
of the Chair. )

[Whereupon, at 12:12 p.m., the hearing was recessed, subject to the
call of the Chair.]
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APPENDIX A

XVII. TESTING AND USE OF CHEMICAL AND BIOLOGI-
CAL AGENTS BY THE INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY

Under its mandate * the Select Committee has studied the testing and
use of chemical and biological agents by intelligence agencies. Detailed
descriptions of the programs conducted by intelligence agencies in-
volving chemical and biological agents will be included in a separately
published appendix to the Senate Select Committee’s report. ‘1'his sec-
tion of the report will discuss the rationale for the programs, their
monitoring and control, and what the Committee’s investigation has
revealed about the relationships among the intelligence agencies and
about their relations with other goveriunent agencies and private in-
stitutions and individuals.? _

Fears that countries houcile to the United States would use chemi-
cal and biological agents aganinst Americans or America’s allies led
to the development of a defensive program designed to discover tech-
niques for American intelligence agencies to detect and counteract
chemical and biological agents. The defensive orientation soon became
secondary as the possible use of these ts to obtain information
from, or gain control over, enemy agents e apparent.

Research and development programs to find materials which could
be used to alter human behavior were initiated in the late 1940s and
early 1950s. These experimental programs originally included testing
of drugs involving witting human subjects, and culminated in tests
using unwitting, nonvolunteer human subjects. These tests were de-
signed to determine the potentisl effects of chemical or biological
agents when used operationally against individuals unaware that they
had received a drug. )

The testiug programs were considered highly sensitive by the in-
telligence agencies administering them. Few people, even within the
agencies, kmew of the programs and there is no evidence that either
the executive branch or Congress were ever informed of them. The
lughlg compartmented nature of these programs mag be explained in
part by an observation made by the CIA Inspector Genera) that, “the
knowledge that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activi-

! Senate Resolution 21 directs the Senate Select Committee on Inteiligence
Activities to investigate a number of fasues:

“(a) Whether agencies withln the intelligence community conducted Dlegal
domestic activities {Section 2(1) and (2)}:

“(b) The extent to which agencies within the Intelligence community cooper-

ate (Section 2(4) and (8));
“(c) The adequacy of executive branch and congressional oversight of Lntel-

ligence activities (Section 2(7) and (11));
“(d) The adequacy of existicg laws to safeguard the rights of American citi.

gens (Section 2(13))."
* The details of these programs may nevsrs be known. The programs were highly

compartmented. Few records were kept. What little documentation existed for
the CIA's principal program was destroyed early In 1973
- (385)
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ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic circles
and would be detrimental to the accomplishment of its missions”?

The research and development program, and particularly the co-
vert testing programs, resulted in massive abridgments of the rights
of American citizens, sometimes with trairic consequences. The deaths
of two Americans ** can be attributed to these programs; other partici-
pants in the testing programs may still suffer from the residual ef-
fects. While some controlled testing of thess substances might be de-
fended, the nature of the tests, their scale, and the fact that they were
continued for years after the danger of surreptitious administration
of LSD to unwitting individuals was known, demonstrate a funda-
1nental disregard for the value of human life. -

The Select Committee’s investigation of the testing and use of chem-
ical and biological agents also raise serious questions about the ade-
quacy cf command and control procedures within the Central Intelli-
gence Aiency and military intelligence, and about the relationships
among the intelligence agencies, other governmental agencies, and
private institutions and individuals. The C1A’s normal administrative
controls were waived for programs involving chemical and biological
agents to protect.their security. According to the head of the Audit
Branch ¢t the CIA. these waivers produced “gross administrative
failures.” They Fre‘-'pnted the CIA’s internal review mechanisms (the
Office of General Cuunsel, the Inspector General, and the Audit Staff)
from adequately supervising the programs. In general, the waivers had
the paradoxica] effect of providing less restrictive administrative con-
trols and less effective internal review for controversial and highly
sensitive projects than those governing normal Agency activities.

The security of the programs was protected not only by waivers
of normal administrative controls, but also by a high degree of com-
partmentation within the CIA. This compartmentation excluded the
CIA’s Medical Staff from the principal research and testing program
employing chemical and biological agents. .

It also may have led to agency policymakers receiving diﬁsnﬁ
and inconsistent responses when they posed questions to the C
component involved. ' .

Jurisdictional uncertainty within the CIA was matched by juns-
dictional conflict among the various intelligence agencies. A spirit of
cooperation and reciprocal exchanges of information which initially
charactarized the programs disappeared. Military testers withheld in-
formation from the CIA, ignoring suggestions for coordination from

* their superiors. The CIA similarly failed to provide information to

the military on the CIA's testing program. This failure to cooperates
was conspicuously manifested in an attempt by the Army to conceal

* CIA Inspector General's Survey of TSD, 1057, p. 217.

“ (p Jaauary 8. 1953 AMr. Harold Blaner died of circulatory collapse and heart
failure following an intravenous injection of s synthetic mescaline derivative
while a sobject of tests conducted by New York State Psychiatric Institute under
a contract let by the U.S. Army Chemical Corps. The Committee's Investigation
into drug testing by T.S. intelligence agencies focused on the testing of LSD, how-
ever, the committee did receive a copy of the U.S. Army Inspector General's
Report. iasned on October 1975, on the events and circumstances of Mr. Blaoer’s
death. His ceath wus directly atribntable to the administration of the synthetic

mescaline derivative,
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their overseas testing program, which included surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD, from the CIA. Learning of the Army’s program,
the Agency surreptitiously attempted to ogcain details of it.
The-decision to institute one of the Army’s LSD field testing projects
had been based, at ieast in part, oni the finding that no long-term resid-
ual effects had ever resuited from the drug's administration. The
CIA’s failure to inform the Army of a death which resulted from the
surreptitious administration of LgD to unwitting Americans, may well
have resulted in the institution of an unnecessary and potentially letha]

ro . - .
P ’lge'ﬁlevelopment, testing, and use of chuinical and biological agents
by intelligence cies raises serious questions about the relationship
between the intelligence community and foreign governments, other

ncies of the Federal Government, and other institutions and in-
dividuals. The questions raised range from the legitimacy of American
complicity in actions abroad which violate American and foreign laws
to the possible compromise of the integrity of public and private insti-
tutions used ss cover by intelligence agencies,

A. Tue ProcraAMS I.\*vm'mxrzb

1. Project CHATTER

Project CHATTER was a Navy program that began in the fall of
1947. Responding to reports of “amazing results” achieved by the
Soviets in using “truth drugs,” the program focused on the identifica-
tion and testing of. such drugs for use in interrogations and in the
recruitment of agents. The reésearch included laboratory experiments
on animals and hum:-; subjects involving Anabasis uphylla, scopola-
mine, and riescaline in: order to determine their speech-inducing quali-
ties. Overseas experiments were conducted as part. of the project. :

The gro;ect expanded substantially during the Korean War, and
ended saortly after the war, in 1953."

2. Project BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE .
The "earliest of the CIA’s major p involving the use of
.chemical and biological s%nnts, Project BLUEBIRD, was approved by
the Director in 1950. Its objectives were:
(a) discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent
unauthorized extraction of information gom them by known
means, (b) investigating the possibility of cortrol of an in-
dividual by application of special intarrogation technig-ies,
(¢) memory enhancement, and (d) establishing defensive
means for preventing hastile control of Agency personnel.!

As a result of interrogntions conducted overseas during the project,
another goal was added—the evaluation of offensive uses of unconven-
tional interrogation techniques, including hypnosis and drugs. In .
"August 1951, the project was renamed AR‘%IC{FOKE. Project ARTI-
CHOKE included in-house experiments on interrogation techniques,
conducted “under medical and security controls whick would ensure

2/; ;3/114; memorandum to the Select Committee, “Bebavioral Drugs and Testing,”
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that no damage was done to individuals who volunteer for the exgri- :
urn

ments.” * Overseas interrogations utilizing a combination of so
pentothal and hypnosis after physical and psychiatric examinations of
the subjects were also part of ARTICHOKE.

The Office of Scientific Intelligance (OSI), which studied scientific
advances by hostile powers, initially led BLUEBIRD/ARTICHOKE
efforts. In 1952, overall responsibility for ARTICHOKE was trans-
ferred from OSI to the Inspection and Sec.uriglgﬁce (I&SO), pre-
decessor to the present Office of Security. The 's Technical Serv-
ices and Medical Staffs were to be called upon as needed ; OSI would
retain lizison function with other government agencies.* The change
in leadership from an intelligence unit to an operating unit appar-
ently reflected a change in emphasis; from the study of actions by

hostile powers to the use, both for offensive and defensive purposes,
" of special interrogsation techniques—primarily hypnosis and truth

serums.
Representatives from each Agency unit involved in ARTICHOKE
met almost monthly to discuss their progress. These discussions in-
cluded the planning of overseas interrogations® as well as further
experimentation in the U.S.
. Information about project ARTICHOKE efter the fall of 1953
is scarce. The CIA maintains that the project ended in 1956, but evi-
dence suggests that Office of Security and Office of Medical Services
use of “special interrogation” techniques continued for several years

thereafter.

3. MENAOMI

MENAOMI was anothsr major CIA program in this area. In 1967,
the CIA summarized the purposes of MKXNAOMI:

(2) To provide for & covert support base to meet clandes-
tine operationz! requirements. '

(b) To stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal ma-
terials for tiae specific use of TSD [Technical Services Di-
vision].

(¢) To maintain in operational readiness special and unique
itemsb.for the dissemination of biological and chemical ma-
teria -

(d) To provide for the required surveillance, testing, up-
grading, and evaluation of matarials and items in order to
assure absence of defects and complete predictability of re-
sults to be expected under operational conditions.?

Under sn agreement reached with the Army in 1952, the Special
Operations Division (SOD) at Fort Detrick was to assist CIA in
developing, testing, and maintaining biological agents and delivery

* Memorandum from Robert Tavlor, O/DD/P tn the Assistant Deputy (In-
spection and Security) and Chief of the Medical Staff, 3/22/52.

‘ Memorandum from H. Marshall Chadwell. Assistant Dirertor. Selentific Intel-
ligence, to the Deputy Director/Plam (NDP) “Prniect ARTICHOEE,” 8/29/52

* “Progress Report, Project ARTICHOKE ™ 1/12/53.

* Memorandum from Cdief, TSD/Biological Branch to Chief. TSD “MENAOMI:
Funding, Ohtectivag, snd Aconmnlichmante,” 10/18/87. p. 1. For g fuller descrip-
tion of MEKNAOMI and the relstionship between CIA and SOD. see p. 380 ££
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gtems. By ¢his agreement, CIA acquired the knowledge, skill, and
acilities of the Army to develop biological weapons suited for CIA
use.
SOD developed darts coated with biological agents and pills con-
taining several diZ»rent biological agents which could remein potent
for weeks or months. SOD alsoc developed = specinl gun for firing
darts coated with a chemical which could allow CIA agents to incapaci-
tate 8 guard dog, enter an installation secretly, and return the dog to
conscicusness when leaving. SOD scientists were unable to develop
& similar incapacitant for humans. SOD also physically transferred
to CIA personnel biological agents in “bulk” form, and delivery
devices, including some containing biological agents.
In addition to the CIA’s interest in biological wenpons for use
against humans, it also asked SOD to study use of biological agents
ageinst crops and animals. In its 1967 memorandum, the stated:

Three methods end systems for carrying out a covert attack

against crops and causing severe crop loss have been devel-

ored and evaluated under field conditions. This was accom-

g ished in anticipation of a requirement which was later

eveloped .but was subsequently scrubbed just prior to put- -

ting into action.* .
+ MEKNAOMI was terminated in 1970. On November 25, 1969, Presi-
dent Nixon renounced the use of any form of biological weapons that
kill or incapacitate and ordered the disposal of existing stocks of bac-
teriological weapons. On February 14, 1970, the President clarified the
extent of his eatlier order and indicated that toxins—chemicals that
are not living organisms but are produced by living organisms—were
considered biological weapons subject to his previous directive and
were to be destroyed. Although instructed to relinquish control of
material held for the CIA by gOD, a CIA scientist acquired approxi-
mately 11 grams of shellfish toxin from SOD personnel at Fort De-
trick which were stored in a little-used CIA laboratory where it went

undetected for five years.’?

4. MEULTRA

MEULTRA was the principal CTA program involving the research
and development of chemical and biological agents. It was “con-
cerned with the research and development of chemical, biologicel, and
radiological materials capable of employment in clandestine oper-
ations to control human behavior.” 1

In January 1973, MKULTRA records were destroyed by Technical
Services Division personnel acting on the verbal orders of Dr. Sidney
Gottlieb, Chief of TSD. Dr. Gottlieb has testified, and former Direc-
tor Helms has confirmed, that in ordering the records destroved, Dr.
Gottlieb was carrying out the verbal order of then DCI Helms.

MKULTRA began with a H|:>1-oposal from the Assistant Deputy
Director for Plans, Richard Helms, to the DCI, outlining a special

= Ivid. p. 2.
* Senate Select Committee, 9/16/75, Hearings, Ve. 1.
% Memorandum from the ClA laspector General to the Director, 7/28/63.
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funding mechanism for highly sensitive CIA research and develop-
ment projects that studied the use of biological and chemical materials
in altering human behavior. The projects involved :

Research to develop a capability in the covert use of bio-
logical and chemical materials. This area involves the produc-
tion of various physiological conditions which could support
present or future clandestine operations. Aside from the of-
fensive potential, the development of s comprehensive capa-
bility in this field of covert chemical and biological warfare
gives us & thorough knowledge of the enemy’s theoretical
potential, thus enabling us to defend ourselves agzinst a foe
who might not be as restrained in the use of these tech-

niques as we are.* :

MEKULTRA was approved by the DCI on April 13, 1953 along the

lines proposed by ADDP Helms. :
Part of the rationale for the establishment of this special fund-

ing mechenism was its extreme sensitivity, The Inspector General's
survey of MKTULTRA in 1963 noted the following reasons for this

sensitivity : _ '

a. Tit=earch in the manipulation of human behavior is con-
sidered by man-. acthorities in medicine and related fields
to be professionuily unethical, therefore the reputation of
professional participants in the MKULTRA program are on
occasion in jenpardy. , ,

b. Some MKITLTRA activities raise questions of legality
implicit in the original charter. ~

-¢. A final phase of the testing of MKULTRA products
places the rights and interests of U.S. citizens in jeopardy.
_ d. Public disclosure of some aspects of MKULTRA activ-
ity could induce serious adverse reaction in U.S. public
opinion. as well as stimulate offensive and defensive action
in this field on the part of foreign intelligence services.*:

Over the ten-year life of the program. many “additional avenues to
!he control of human behavior” were designated as appropriate for
1nvestigation under the MKTLTRA charter. These include “radiation.
electroshock, various fields of psychology. psychiatry, sociology. and
anthropology. graphology, harassment substances, and paramilitary
devices and materials.”

" The rescarch and development of materials to be used for altering

" human behuvior consisted of three phases: first, the search for ma-
terials suitable for study: second. laboratory testing on voluntary
human snhiects in various tvpes of institutions; third, the application
of MEU'LTRA materials in normal life settings.

The search for suitable materials was conducted through standing
arranaements with snecialists in universities, pharmaceutical houses,
hospitals. state and federn! institutions, and private research organi-

::.\femnrnndum from ADDP Halms to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A, pp. 1-2
u 16 Rﬂfn on METULTRA, 1833, pn 1-2,
I, p. 4,
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zations. The annual grants of funds to these specialists were made
under ostensible research foundation auspices, thereby concealing the
CIA’s interest from the specialist’s institution.

The next phase of the MKULTRA program involved physicians,
toxicologists, and other specialists in mental, narcotics, and general
hospitals, and in prisons. Utilizing the products and findings of the
basic research phase, they conducted intensive tests on human subjects.

~ One of the first studies was conducted by the Nuational Institute of
Mental Health. This studv was intended to test various drugs. inclnd-
ing hallucinogenics, at the NIMH Addiction Research Center in Lex-
ington, Kentucky. The “Lexington Rehabilitation Center,” as it was
then called, was a prison for drug addicts serving sentences for drug
violations. _

The test subjects were volunteer prisoners who, after taking a brief
physical examination and signing a general consent form, were admin-
1stered hallucinogenic drugs. As a8 reward for participation in the
program, the addicts were provided with the drug of their addiction,

LSD was one of the materials tested in the MKULTRA program.
The final phase of LSD testing involved surreptitious administration
to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects in normal life settings by under-
cover officers of the Bureau of Narcotics acting for the CIA.

The rationale for such testing was “that testing of materials under
accepted scientific procedures fails to disclose the full pattern of reac-
tions and attributions that may occur in operational situations.™ s

According to the CIA, the advantage of the relationship with the
Bureau was that

test subjects could be sought and cultivated within the setting
of narcotics control. Some subjects have been informers or
members of suspect criminal elements from whom the [Bu-
reau of .Narcotics] has obtained results of nnerational value
through the tests. On the other hand, the effectiveness of the
substances on individuals at all social levels, high and low,
native Awmerican and foreign, is of great significance and
testing has been performed on g variety of individuals within
these categories. [Emphasisadded.]

A special procedure. designated MKDELTA. was es*ablished to
govern the use of MKULTRA materials abroad. Snch materials were
used on a number of occasions. Because MKULTRA records were
destroved. it is imnossible to reconstruct the operational use of
MKULTRA materials by the CIA oversens; it has been determined
that the use of these mnaterials abroad began in 1953, and possibly as
early as 1950. _

Drugs were used primarily as an aid to interrogations. but
MKULTRA/MKDELTA materials were also used for harassment,
discrediting. or disabling purposes. According to an Insnector General
Survey of the Technical Services Division of the CIA in 1957—an
inspection which did not discover the MKULTRA broject involving
the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting, nonvolunteer

“ Ibid, p. 2L
= NDid, pp. 11-12.
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subjecta—the CIA had developed six drugs for operational use and
they had been used in six diferent operations on a total of thirty-three
subjects.’” By 1963 the number of operations and subjects had in-
creased substantially,

In the sﬁring of 1963, during a wide-ranginz Inspector General
survey of the Technical Services Division, a member of the Inspector
General's staff, John Vance, learned about MKULTRA and about
the project involving the surreptitious administretion of LSD to un-
witting, nonvoluntary human subjects. As a result of the discovery
and the Inspector General’s subsequent report, this testing was halted
and much tighter administrative controls were imposed on the pro-
gram. Accorﬁing to the CIA, the project was decreased significantly
each budget year until its complete termination in the late 1960s.

5. The Testing of LSD by the Army

There were three major phases in the Army’s testing of LSD. In the

first, LSD was administered to more than 1,000 American soldiers who
volunteered to be subjects in chemical warfare experiments. In the
second phase, Material Testing Program EA 1729, 85 volunteers re-
ceived LSD in clinical experiments designed to evaluate potential
intelligence uses of the drug. In the third phase, Projects THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY HAT, 16 unwitting nonvolunteer subjects
were interrogated after receiving LSD as part of operational field

testa,
B. CIA Drte TestIvG Procraxs

1. The Rationale for the Testing Programs

The late 1940s and early 1950s were marked by concern over
the threat by the activities of the Soviet Union, the People’s
Republic of China, end other Communist bloc countries. United States
concern over the use of chemical and biological agents by these powers
was scuta. The belief that hostile nowers had used chemical and bio-
logical agents in intermg-ations, brainwashing, and in attacks designed
to harass, disable, or ki!l Allied personnel created considerable pres-
sure for a “defensive” program to investigate chemical and biological
agents so that the inteliigence community could understand the mech-
anisms by which these substances worked and how their effects could
be defeated.'s

Of particular concern was the drug LSD. The CIA had received
reports that.the Soviet Union was engaged in intensive efforts to pro-
duce LSD; and that the Soviet Union had attempted to purchase the
world’s supply of the chemical. As one CIA. officer who was deeply
involved in work with this drug described the climate of the times:
“[It] isawfully hard in this day and age to reproduce how frightening
all of this was to us at the time, particularly after the drug scene has
becoms a8 widespread and as knowledgeable in this country as it did.
But we were literally terrified, because this was the ons material that we

¥ Imd, 1987, p. 20L
4 Thas an officer o the Office of Security of the OLA stressed the “urgency of

the discovery of techniques and method that would permit car personnel, in the
event of thelr captyure by the enemy, to resist or defes! enemy Interrogation™
(Minuotes of the ARTICHOKE conference of 10/22/33.)
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had ever been able to locate that really had potential fantastic possi-
bilicies if used wrongly.” .

But the defensive orientation soon became secondary. Chemical and
biologica!l agents wers to be studied in order “to perfect techriques . . .
for the abstraction of information from individuals whether willing or
not” and in order to “develop means for the control of the activities snd
mental capacities of individusls whether willing or not.”* -One
Agency official noted that drugs would be useful in order to “gain con-
trol of bodies whether they were willing or not” in the process of re-
moving personnel from Eurcope in the event of a Soviet attack.® In
other programs, the CIA began to develop, produce, stockpile, and
maintain 1n operational readiness materials which could be used to
harass, disable, or kill specific targets.® ] o

Reports of research and develo%x:ent in the Soviet Union, the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, and the Communist Bloc countries provided
the basis for the transmutation of American programs from a defen-
sive to an offensive orientation. As the Chief of the Medical Staff of

the Central Intelligence Agency wrote in 1952: :

There is ample evidence in the reports of innumerable inter-
rogations that the Communists were utilizing drugs, physical
duress, electric shock, and possibly hj‘rﬁmosis sgainst their ene-
mies. With such evidence it is difficult not to keep from be-
coming rabid about our apparent laxity. We are forced by this
mounting evidence to assume s more aggressive role in the
development of these techniques, but must be cautious to
maintain strict inviolable control because of the havoc that
could be wrought by such techniques in unscrupulous hands.®?

In order to meet the perceived threat to the national security, sab-
.Stantial programs for tﬁ: testing and use of chemical and biological
ents—including projects involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of [.SD to unwitting nonvolunteer subjects “at all social levels,
high and low, native American and foreign”—swere conceived, and
implemented. These programs resulted in su tial violations of the
rights of individuals within the United States.

* Testimony of CIA officer, 11,/21/75. . 33.

® Memorandum from the Director of Security to ARTICHOKE representa-
tives, Subject: “ARTICHOKE Restatement of Program.”

% ARTICHOKE memorandum, 7/30/53

® The Inspector General's Report of 1957 on the Technical Services Division
noted that “Six specific products have been developed and are avallabie for oper-
atiooal use. Three of them are discrediting and disabling materials which can be
administered unwittingly and permit the exercise of & measure of control over the
actions of the subject”

A memorandum for the Chief, TSD, Bioclogical Branch to the Chief, TSD,
10/18/87, described two of the objectives of the CIA's Project MKNAOQMY as:
“to stockpile severely incapacitating and lethal materials fcr the specific use of
TSD" and “to maintain in operational readiness special and unlque items for
the dissemination of bloiogical and chemical materals.” .

® Alemorandum from the Chief of the AMedical Staff, 1/25/52
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Although the CIA recognized these effects of LSD to unwitting in-
dividuals within the United States, the project continued.’ As the
Deputy Director for Plans, Richard Helms, wrote the Deputy Direc-
tor of Central Intelligence during discussions which led to the cessa-
tion of unwitting testing:

While I share your uneasiness and distaste for any pro-
gram which tends to intrude upon an individual's private
and legal prerogatives, I believe it is necessary that the
Agency maintain a central role in this activity, keemur;ent
on enemy capabilities the mnigulntlon of human behavior,
and maintain an offensive capability.”

Thers wers no attempts to secure approval for the most controversial
aspects of these programs from the executive branch or Congress.
The nature and extent of the programs were closely held secrets; even
DCI McCone was not briefed on all the details of the program in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD until 1563. It was
deemed imperative that thess programs be concealed from the Ameri-
can people. As the CIA's Inspector General wrote in 1957:

Precautions must be taken not only to protect operations
from exposure to enemy forces but also to conceal these ac-
tivities from the American public in general. The knowledge
that the Agency is engaging in unethical and illicit activities
would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles and would be detrimental to the accomplishment
of its mission.*
8. The Death of Dr. Frank Olson
The most tragic result of the testing of LSD by the CIA was the

death of Dr. Frank Qlson, a civilian employee 6f the Army, who died.

on November 27, 1953. His death followed his participation in a CIA
experiment with LSD. As part of this experiment, Olson unwittingly
received approximately 70 micrograms of LSD in a glass of Cointrean
he drank on November 19, 1953. The drug had been placed in the bottle
by a CIA officer, Dr. Robert Lashbrook, as part of an experiment
he and Dr. Sidney Gottlieb performed at a meeting of Army and
CIA scientists.

Shortly after this experiment, Olson exhibited symptoms of para-
noia and schizophrenia. Accompanied by Dr. Lashbrook, Olson sought
psychiatric assistance in New Yl::rk City from & physician, Dr. Harold
Abramson. whose research on LSD had been funded indirectly by
the CIA. While in New York for treatment, Olson fell to his death
from a tenth story window in the Statler Hotel.

™ Even during the discussions which led to the termination of the untwitting
teating. the DDP turned down the option of halting such tests within the U.8,
and contiouing them abrosad despite the fact that the Technlcal Services Divi.
sion had conducted nomerous operations abroad making use of LSD. The DDP

"made this decislon on the basls of security noting that the past efforts overseas

had resuited in “making an inordinate number of forelgn nationals witting of
our role in the very sensitive activity.” (Memorandum for the Deputy Director
of Centril Intelligence from the Deputy Director for Plans. 12/17/83, n. 2.)
™ Ivid., pp. 2-3. -
® 1.G. survey of TSD, 1957, p. 217.
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& Background.—Olson, an expert in aerobiology who was assigned
to the Special Operations Division (SOD) of the U.S. Army Biolog-
ical Center at Camp Detrick, Maryland. This Division had three
primary functions:

(1) assessing the vulnerability of American installations
to biological attack;

(2) evelczf)ing techniques for offensive use of biological
weapons; an

(3) biological research for the CIA.™

Professionally, Olson was well respected by his colleagues in both
the Army and the CIA. Colonel Vincent Ruwet, Olson’s immediate
superior at the time of his death, was in almost daily contact with
Olson. According to Colonel Ruwet: “As a professional man . . . his
ability . . . was outstanding.” * Colonel Ruwet stated that “duri
the period prior to the experiment ... I noticed nothing whi
would lead me to believe that he was of unsound mind.” ® Dr. Lash-
brook, who had monthly contacts with Olson from early 1952 until
the time of his death, stated publicly that before Olson received LSD,
“as far as I know, he was perfectly normal.” * This assessment is In’
direct contradiction to certain statements evaluating Olson's emo-
tional stability made in CIA internal memoranda written after
Olson’s death.

b. The Ezperiment.—On November 18, 1933, a group of ten scien-
tists from the CIA and Camp Detrick attended a semi-annual review
and analysis conference st a cabin located at DeeECreek Lake, Mary-
land. Three of the participants were from the CLA's Technical Serv-
ices Staff. The Detrick representatives were all from the Special
Operations Division. ' -

According to one CILA official, the Special Operations Division
participants. “agreed that an unwitting experiment would be
desirable.” 3 This account directly contradicts Vincent Ruwet’s recol-
lection. Ruwet recalls no such discussion, and has asserted that he
would remember any such discussion because the SOD participants
would have strenucusly objected to testing on unwitting subjects.™

In May, 1953, Richard Helms, Assistant DDP, held a stafl meeting
which the Chief of Technical Services Staff attended. At this meeting
Helms “indicated that the drug [LSD] was dynamite and that he
should be advised at all times when it was intended to use it.”* In
addition, the then DDP, Frank Wisner, sent 8 memorandum to TSS
stating the requirement that the DDP personally approve the use of
LSD. Gottlieb went ahead with the experiment,* securing the ap-

® Staff summary of Vincent Ruvwet Interview, 8/13/75. p. & - '
;Memonndum of Col. Vincent Ruwet, To Whom It May Concern, no date,
P. 4. . N
® Ruwet Memorandom, p. 3. T
* Joseph B. Treaster, New York Times, 7/18/75.p. 1.
% \femorandum for the Record from Lyman Kirkpatrick, 12/1/53, p. 1.
2 Ruwel {staff summary), 8/13/15, p. 8.

= Inspector General Diary, 12/2/53. )
% raid. Dr. Gottleils bas testifled that he does not remember either the meeting

with Helms nor the Wisner memorandum. (Gottlieb, 10/18/T5, p. 18.)
1 O
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proval of his immediate supervisor. Neither the Chief of TSS nor
the DDP specifically authorized the experiment in which Dr. Olson
participated.*

According to Gottlieb,* a “very smell dose” of LSD was placed in
a bottle of Cointreau which was served after dinner on Thursdag,
November 19. The drug was placed in the liqueur by Robert h-
brook. All but two of the SOD participants received LSD. One did
not drink; the other had a heart condition.” About twenty minutes
after they finished their Cointresu, Gottlieb informed the other par-
ticipants that they had received LSD.

Dr. Gottlieb stated that “up to the time of the experiment,” he
observed nothing unusual in Olson’s behavior.””* Once the experiment
was underway, Gottlieb recalled that “the drug had a definite effect on
the group to the point that they were boisterous and laughing and the;
could not continue the meeting or engage in sensible conversation.”
The meeting continued until about 1:00 s.m., when the participants
retired for the evening. Gottlieb recalled that Qlson, among others,
complained of “wakefulness” during the n?ht." According to Gottlieb
on Fridey morning “aside from some evidence of fatigue,.I observed
nothing unusual in [Olson's] actions, conversation, or general be-

havior.”® Ruwet recalls that Olson “appesred to be a%itated” at -

breakfast, but that he “did not consider this to be abnorma under the

circumstances.” ©

¢. The Treatment.—The following Monday, November 23, Olson
was waiting for Ruwet when he came in to work at 7:30 s.m. For the
next two days Olson’s friends and family attempted to reassure himr
and help him “snap out” of what appeared to be a serious depression.
On Tuesdsy, Olson again came to Ruwet and, after an hour long con-

® Dr. Gottlleb testified that “given the information we knew up to this time,
and based on & lot of our own self-administration, we thought it was a fairly
benign substance in terms of potential barm.” This is in conflict not only with Ar.
Helms' statement but also with material which had been supplied to the Technical
Services Staff. In one long memorandum on current research with LSD which
was supplied to TSD, Henry Beecher described the dangers involved with such
research in a prophetic manser. “The second reason to doubt Professor Bothland
came when I raised the question as to any accidents which had arisea from
the use of LSD-25. He said o & very positive way, ‘Done.’ As It turned out
this apswer could be called overly positive, for later on in the evening I was
discussing the matter with Dr. W. A. Stobl, Jr, a psychiatrist in Bleulera's
Clinic fn Zurich where I bad gone at Bothland's insistence. Stobl, when asked
the same question, replied, ‘yes' and added spontaneously, ‘there is a case
Professor Rothland knows about. In Geneva & woman physician wwho bad been
subject to depression to some extent took LSD-25 la an experiment and became
severely and suddenly depressed and commltted suicide three weeks later.
YWhile the connection ls not definlte, common knowledge of this could bardly
have allowed the positive statement Bothland permitted himself. This cuse is
a wamning to us to avoid engaging subjects who are depressed, or who have been
subject to depression.’” Dr. Gottlleb testified that he bad no recolliection of
either the report or that particular section of it. (Sldaey Gottlieb testimony,
10/19/75, p. T8.) ‘

»'yfemorandum of Shefield Edwards for the record, 11/28/83, p. 2.

* ashbrook (staff summary), 7/19/75 p. 3.

®s Gottlleb Memorandom, 12/7/53. p. .

s Pdwsards memoranduwm, 11/28/33, p 3.

® GGottlleb memorandum. 12/7/353, p. 8.

# Ruwet memorandum, p- 3.
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versation, it was decided that, medical assistance for Dr. Olson was
desirable.*

Ruwet then called Lashbrook and informed him that “Dr. Olson
was in serious trouble and needed immediate professional attention.”
Lashbrook agreed to make appropriate arrangements and told Ruwet
to bring Olson to Washington, D.C. Ruwet and Olson proceeded to
Washington to meet with Lashbrook, and the three left for New York
at about 2:30 p.m. to meet with Dr. Harold Abramson.

At that time Dr. Abramson was an allergist and immurolo
Practicing medicine in New York City. He held no degree in p -
try, but was sssociated with research projects suggorted indirectly
by the CIA. Gottlieb and Dr. Lashbrook both followed his work closely
in the early 1950s.** Since Olson needed medical help, they turned to
Dr. Avramson as the doctor closest to Washington who was experi-
enced with LSD and cleared by the CIA.

Ruwet, Lashbrook, and Olson remained in New York for two days of
consultations with Abramson. On Thursday, November 26, 1953, the
three flew back to Washington so that Qlson could spend Thanksgiving
with his family. En route from the airport Olson told Ruwet that he
was afrzid to face his family. After & lengthy discussion. it was de-
cided that Olson and Lashbrook would return to New York, aud that
Ruwet would go to Frederick to explain these events to Mre. Olson.*

Lashbrook and Olson flew back to New York the same day, again
for consultations with Abramson. They spent Thursdai night in a
Long Island hotel and the next morning returned to the city with
Abramson. In further discussions with Abramson, it was agreed
that Olson should be placed under regular psychiatric care at an
institution closer to his home.

d. The Death.—Because they could not obtair air transportation for
a return trip on Friday night, Lashbrook and Qlson made reservations
for Saturday morning and checked into the Statler Hotel. Between
the time they checked in and 10:00 p.m.; they watched television,
visited the cocktail lounge, where each had two martinis, and dinner.
According to Lashbrook, Olson “was cheerful and appeared to enjo
the entertainment.” He “alpﬁared no longer particulary dep s
and almost the Dr. Olson ew prior to the experiment.” «

After dinner Lashbrook and Olson watched television for about
an hour, and at 11:00, Olson suggested that they go to bed, saying that
“he felt more relaxed and contented than he had since (they] came
to New York” ¢' Qlson then left a call with the hotel operator to wake
them in the morning. At approximately 2:30 a.m. Saturday, Novem-
ber 28, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud “crash of glass.” In his
report on the incident, he stated only that Olson “had crashed through
the closed window blind and the closed window and- he fell to his death
from the window of our room on the 10th floor.” +

“nid., p. 4. ' _
“ Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 1.

< Staff summary of Dr. Harold Abramson interview, 7/29/75, P2
“ Lashbrook memorandum, 12/7/53, p. 3.

“ Abramson memorandam, 12/4/53.

“ Laghbrook memorandom, 12/7/53, p. 3.
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Immediately after finding that Olson
brook telephoned Gottlieb at his home o
cident.** Gottlieb called Ruwet and informed hi
at approrimately 2:45 8.m.* Lashbrook then called the hotel desk
and reported the incident to the operator there. ‘Lashbrock called
formed him of the occurrence. Abramson told Lash-
brook he “wanted to be kept out of the thing completely,” but later
changed his mind and agreed to assist Lashbrook.

Shortly thereafter, uniformed police officers and some hotel em-

loyees came to Lashbrook’s room.?:a

ow why Olson had committed suicide,
“suffered from ulcers.” *?

e. The Aftermath.—Followin
s substantial effort to ensure tha
but did not notify the

Abramson and in

death being connected with
Lashbrook so that his associatio
After Dr. Olson’s death the CIA con

tion of the incident. As

judgment...

' spplication of the drug”

emphasis for medical
-of the rights of the individual to whom it was being administered.

[
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I'm not happy with what seems to be a very casual attitude
on the part of TSS representatives to the way this experi-
ment was conducted and the remarks that this is just one of
the risks running ‘ith scientific experimentation. I do not
eliminate the need for tnkinﬁ risks, but I do believe, espe-
cially when human health or life is at stake, that at least the
prudent, reasonable measures which can be taken to mini-
mize the risk must be taken and failure to do so was culpable
negligence. The ections of the various individuals concerned
after effects of the experiment on Dr. Olson became manifest
also revealed the failure to observe normal and reasonable

precautions.®

, ®CIA Fleld Office Report, 12/3/53, p. 3.
- ™ Ruwet Memorandam. p. 11.
2. r OIA Fleld Ofice Report, 12/3/33, p. 3.

oy A IPid -
‘ tor General. 1/4/54.

A

"% y\{emorandum from the General Counsel tc the
<.% Memorandum from DCI to Chlet, Technicsl
. ,"Memoracdum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 27354,

fons, TSS, 2/12/54.

had leapt to his death, Lash-
nd informed him of the in-
m of Olson’s death

shbrook told the police he didn’t
but he did know that Olson

5 Dr. Olson’s death, the CIA made
t his family received death benefits,
Olsons of the circumstances surrounding his
demise. The Agency also made considerable efforts to prevent the
the CIA, and supplied complete cover for
n with the CIA would remain & secret.
ducted an internal investiga-
art of his responsibilities in this investiga-
tion, the General Counsel wrote the Inspector General, stating:

-7 As a result of the investigation DCI Allen Dulles sent a personal
Tetter to the Chief of Technical Operations of the T echnical Services
Staff who had approved the experiment criticizing him for *poor

in suthorizing the use of this drug on such an unwitting
asis and without proximate medical safeguards.” ¢ Dulles also sent

& letter to Dr. Gottlieb, Chief of the Chemical Division of the Tech-

" Aleal Services Staff, criticizing him for recommending the “unwitting

in that the proposal “did not give sufficient

collaboration and for the proper consideration
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The letters were hand carried to the individuals to be read and
returned. Although the letters were critical, a note from the Deputy
Director of Central Intelligence to Mr. Helms instructed him to in-
form the individuals that: “These are not reprimands and no person-
nel file notation are being made.” *

Thus, although the Rockefeller Commission has characterized them
as such, these notes were explicitlv not reprimands. Nor did participa-
tion in the events which led to Dr. Olson’s death have any apparent
effect on the advancement within the CIA of the individuals involved.

3. The Surreptitious Administration of LSD to Unuwitting Non-
To’zjunteer Human Subjects by the CIA After the Death of Dr.
on

The death of Dr. Olson could be viewed, as some argued at the time,
as a tragic accident, one of the risks inherent in the testing of new sub-
stances. It might be argued that LSD was thought to be benign.
After the death of Dr. Olson the dangers of the surreptitious admin-
istration of LSD were clear, yet the CIA continued or initiated " a
project involving the surreptitious administration of LSD to non-
volunteer human subjects. This program exposed numerous individuals
in the United States to the risk of death or serious injury without their
informed consent, without medical supervision, and without necessary
follow-up to determine any long-term effects. '

Prior to the Olson experiment, the Direcicr of Central Intelligence
had approved MKULTRA, a research program designed to develop
& “capability in the covert use of biological and chemical agent
materials.” In the proposal describing MKULTRA Mr. Helms, then
ADDP, wrote the Director that:

we intend to investigate the development of s chemical mate-
rial which causes a reversible non-toxic aberrant mental state,
the specific nature of which can be reasonably well predicted
for each individual. This material could potentially aid in
discrediting individuals, eliciting information, and implant-
Ing suggestions and other forms of mental control.®

On February 12, 1954, the Director of the Central Intelligence
Agency wrote TSS officials .riticizing them for “poor judgment” in

- administering LSD on “an unwitting basis and without proximate

medical safeguards” to Dr. Olson and for the lack of “proper consid-
eration of the rights of the individual to whom it was being admin-
istered.” * On the same day, the Inspector General reviewed a report
on Subproject Number 3 of MKU]E&'CRA, in which the same TSS
officers who had just received letters from the Director were quoted
as stating that one of the purposes of Subproject Number 3 was to

® Note from DDCI to Richard Helms, 2/13/54.

“ The 1863 IG Report, which described the profect involving the sarreptitious
admipistration of L3D, placed the project beginning la 1955 Other CIA docu-
ments reveal that it was in existence as early as February 1954 The CIA has
told the Committee that the project began [n 1953 and that the experiment which
led to Dr, Olson’s death was part of the project.

® Memorandom from ADDP tems to DCT Dulles, 4/3/53. tab A. p. 2

® Memorandum from DCI to Sidney Gottlieb, 2/12/54 ; and memorandum from
DCI to Chief of Operations, TSS, 2/12,/54.
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“observe the behavior of unwitting persons being questioned after
having been given & drug.”* There is no evidence that Subproject
Number 3 was terminated even taough these officers were unequivo-
cally aware of the dangers of the surreptitious administration of LSD
and the necessity of obtaining informed consent and providing medical
safeguards. Subproject Number 3, in fact, used methods which showed
even less concern than did the QLSON experiment for the safety and
security of the participants. Yet the evidence indicates the project
continued until 1963.4

~ In the project, the individual conducting the test might make
initial contact with 8 prospective subject selected at random in a bar.
He would then invite the person to a “safehouse” where the test drug
was administered to the subject through drink or in food. CIA per-
sonnel might debrief the indivadual conducting the test, or observe
the test by using a onc-way mirror and tape recorder in an adjoining
room.

Prior consent was obviously not obtained from any of the subjects.
There was also, obviously, no medical prescreening. In addition, the
tests were conducted by individuals who were not qualified scientific
observers. There were no medical personnel on hand either to admin-
ister the drugs or to observe their effects, and no follow-up was con-
ducted on the test subjects.

As the Inspector Genera!l noted in 1963:

A significant limitation on the effectiveness of such testing is
the infeasibility of performing scientific observation of re-
sults. The [individusls conducting the test] are not qualified
scientific observers. Their subjects are seldom accessible be-
yond the first hours of the test. The testing may be useful in
perfecting delivery techniques, and in identifying surface
characteristics of onset, reaction, attribution, and side-effect.*?

This was particularly troublesome asin a

number of instances, . . . the test subject has become ill for
hours or days, including hospitalization in at least one case,
and the agent could only follow up by guarded inquiry
after the test subject’s return to normal life. Possible sickness
ard sttendant economic loss are inherent contingent effects
of the testing.®
Paradoxically, greater care seems to have been taken for the safety
of foreign nationals against whom LSD was used abroad. In several
cases medical examinations were performed prior to the use of LSD.%

® Memorandum to Inspector General from Chief, Inspection aad Review, on
Subproject #3 of MKULTRA, 2/10/54.

® IG Report on MKULTRA, 1963

= Ivid.,p 120

® Ibid. According to the IG's survey In 1963, physicians assoclated with
MEULTRA could be made available in an emergency.

™ The Technlcal Services Division which was responsible for the operational
use of L3D abroad tock the posidon that “no physical examination of the subject
is required prior to administration of [LSD] by TSS tralned personnel. A physi-

—dvy
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Moreover, the administration sbroud was macked by constant obser-
vation made rpomi'ble because the material was being used against

risoners of foreign intelligence or security organizations. Finally,

uning certain of the LSD interrogations tbroad, local physicians
wern on call, though these physicians had had no experience with LSD
and would not be told that ballucinogens F;d been administered.
.. The CIA’s project involving the surreptlious administration of
LSD to unwitting human subjects in the United States was finally
halted in 1963, as & result of its discovery during the course of an
Inspector General survey of the Technical Services Division. When
the Inspector General learned of the project, he spoke to the Depr:&v
Director for Plans, who agreed that the Director should be briefed.
The DDP made it clear that the DCI and his Deputy were generally
familiar with MICULTR.A. He indicated, however, that he was not
sure it was necessary to brief the DDCI at that point.

On 3ay 24, 1963, the DDP advised the Inspector (reneral that he had
briefed the Director on the MEKULTRA program and in particular
had covered the question of ths surreptitious administration of LSD
te unwitting human subjects. According to the Inspector General, the
DDP said that “the Director indicated no disagreement and therefore
the ‘testing’ will continue.” s

One cogy of an “Eyes Only” draft report on MKULTRA was
prepared by the Inspector General who recommended the termination
of the surreptitious administration project. The project was suspended
following the Inspector General’s report.

On December 17, 1963, Deputy Director for Plans Helms wrote &
memo to the DDCI, who with the Inspector General and the Executive
Director-Comptroller had opposed the covert testing. He noted two
aspects of the problem: (1) “for over a decade the Clandestine Serv-
ices has had the mission of maintaining u capability for influencing
human behavior;” and (2) “testi arrsngements in furtherance of
this mission should be as operationa ly realistic and yet as controllable
as possible.” Helms argued that the individuals must be “unwitting”
as this was “the only reslistic method of maintnining the capability,
considering the intended operational use of matarials to influence
human behavior as the operational targets will certainly be unthtmlg.
Should the subjecta of the testing not be unwittin , the program would
only be “pro forma” resulting in a “false sanse o sccomplishment and
readiness.” ¢ Helms continusd :

claa need mthmt%huhmrnﬁluﬂ: In the use of this material
as handied by THS trained persoanel™ The Office of Medical Services had taken
the position that LSD was “medically dangeroux.” Both the Office of Security
and the Office of Med!cal Services arguoed that LSD “shoald not be administered
anlees preceded by a medical examinsdon . . . and should be sdministered only
Ly or in the preseace of a phruician who had studled it and Its effect.” {Memo-
randum from James Angletoa, Chief, Counterintelligence Staft to Chief of Oper-
ations, 12/12/87, pp. 1-2

“ Paysicizns might be called with the bope that they would make a disgnoais
of ments! bdreakdown which would be usefu! in discrediting the individual who
wis the gubject of the CIA interest.

* Memorandum for the Revord prepared by the Inspector General, 5/15/63, p. 1.

“ivd . p 2
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If one grants the validity of the mission of maintaining this
unusua?tcapnbility and the necessity for unwitting testing,
there is only then the question of how best to do it. Obviously,
the testing should be conducted in such a manner as to permit
the opportunity to observe the results of the administration
on the target. It also goes without saying that whatever test-
ing arrangement we adopt must afford maximum safeguards
for the protection of the Agency’s role in this activity, as
well as minimizing the possibility of physical or emotional
damage .o the individual tested.**

In another memo to the Director of Central Intelligence in June,
1964, Helms again rsised the issue of unwitting testing. At that time
General Carter, then acting DCI, approved several changes in the
MKULTRA program proposed by Mr. Helms as a result of negotia-
tions between the Inspector General and the DDP. In s handwritten
note, however, Director Carter added that “unwitting testing will be
subject to a separate decision.” ** '

No specific decision was made then or soon after. The testing had
been halted and, sccording to Walter Elder, Executive Assistant to
DCI McCone, the DCI was not inclined to take the positive step of
authorizing a resumption of the testing. At least through the summer,
the DDP did not press the issue. On November 9, 1964, the DDP,
raised the issue again in & memo to the DCI, calling the Director’s
attention to what he described as “several other indications durin
the past year of an apparcnt Soviet aggressiveness in the field o
covertly administered chemicals which are, to say the least, inexplic-
able and disturbing.” ™

Helms noted that because of the suspension of covert testing, the
Agency’s “positive operational capability to use dmfnis diminishing,
owing to a lack of realistic testing. With increasing knowledge of the
state of the art, we are less capable of staying up with Soviet advances
in this field. This in turn results in a waning capability on our part
to restrain others in the intelligence community (such as the Depart-
ment of Defense) from pursuing operations in this area.” ™ .

Helms attributed the cessation of the unwitting testing to the high
risk of embarrassment to the Agency as well as the “moral problem.”
Ha noted that no better covert situation had been devised than that
whic}% had been used, and that “we have no answer to the moral
issue,” 7 '

Helms asked for either resumption of the testing project or its defini-
tive cancellation. He argued that the status quo of a research and de-
velopment program without a realistic testing program was causing
the Xgency to live “with the illusion of a capability which is becoming
minimal and furthermore is expensive.” ™ Once again no formal action

was taken in response to the Helms' request.

% Mfemorandum from DDP Helms to DDCI Carter, 12/17/83.
® \lemorandum from DDP Helms to DCI, 8/9/64, p. 3.

™ rdid., 11/9/64.p. L

" Idid., pp. 1-2.

™ ryid..p. 2

" Idid
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From its beginning in the early 1350’s until its termination in 1963,
the program of surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects demounstrates a failure of the CIA’s leader-
ship to pay adequate attention to the rights of individuals and to pro-
vide effective guidance to CIA employees. Though it was known that
the testing was dangerous, the lives of subjects were placed in jeop-
ardy and their rights were ignored during the ten years of testing
which followed Dr. Olson's desth. Although it was clear that the laws
of the United States were being violated, the testing continued. While
the individuals involved in the Olson experiment were admonished
by the Director, at the same time they were also told that they were
not being reprimanded and that their “bad judgment” would not be
made patt of their personnel records. When the covert testing project
was terminated in 1963, none of the individuals involved were subject.
to any disciplinary action.

4. Mcaitoring and Control of the Testing and Use of Chemical and
Biological Agents by the CIA

The Select Committee found numerous failures in the monitoring
and control of the testing and use of chemical and biological agents
within the CIA.™ An maﬁysis of the failures can be divided into four
sections: (a) the waiver of nor.nal regulations or m\uimment.s; (b)
the problems in authorization procedures; (c) the failure of internal
review mechanisms suzh as the Office of General Counsel, the Inspector
General, and the Audit Staff; and (d) the effect of compartmentation
and competition within the CIA.

a. The Waiver of Administrative Controls.—The internal controls
within any agency rest on: (1) clear and coherent regulations; (2)
clear lines of authority; and (3) clear rewards for those who conduct
themselves in accord with agency regulations and understandable and
immediaie sanctions against those who do not. In the case of the test-
ing and use of chemical and biological agents, normal CIA adminis-
trative controls were waived. The destruction of the documents on the
largest CIA Frognm in this area constituted & prominent example of
the waiver of normal Agency procedures by the Director.

These documents were destroyed in early 1973 at the order of then
DCI Richard ‘Helms. According to Helms, Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, then
Director of TSD:

...came to me and said that he was retiring and that I was
retiring and he thought it would be a good 1dea if thess files
were destroyed. And I also believe part of the reason for
our thinking this was advisable was there had been relation-
ships with outsiders in government agencies and other orga-
nizations and that these would be sensitive in this kind of a
thing but that since the program was over and finished and
done with, we thought we would just get rid of the files as

% Section 2(9) of S. Res. 21 lostructs the Committee to examine: the “extent
to which Unlted States intelligence agencies are governed by Executive Orders,
riles, or regulations either publisbel or secret"”
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well, so that anybody who assisted us in the past would not
be subject to follow-up or questions, embarrassment, if you
will.™ ‘

_ The destruction was based on a waiver of an internal CIA regula-
tion, CSI 70-10, which regulated the “retirement of inactive records.”
As Thomas Karamessines, then Deputy Director of Plans, wrote in
regulation CSI-70-10: “Retirement is not a matter of convenience or
of storage but of conscious judgment in the application of the rules
modified by knowledge of individual component needs. The heart of
this judgment is to ensure that the complete story can be reconstructed
in later years and by people who may be unfamiliar with the events,” ™

The destruction of the MKULTRA documents made it impossible
for the Select Committee to determine the full range and extent of the
largest CIA research program invoiving chemical and biological
agents. The destruction also prevented the CIA from locating and pro-
viding medical assistance to the individuals who were subjects in the

m. Finally, it prevented the Committee from determining the

1l estent of the operations which made use of materials developed in
the MEULTRA program.™

From the inception of MKULTRA normal Agency procedures were
waived. In 1953, Mr. Helms, then Assistant Deputy Director for Plans,
proposed the establishment of MKULTRA. Under the proposal six
percent of the research and development budget of TSD would be
expended “without the establishment of formal contractual relations”
because contracts would reveal government interest. Helms also voted
that 3uahﬁed individuals in the field “are most reluctant to enter into
signed agreements of any sort which connect them with this activity
since such a connection would jeopardize their professional reputa-

® Richard Helms testimony, 8/11/75, p. 5. -

‘Many Agency documents recording confidential relationships with individuals
and organizations sre retained without public disclosure. Moreover. in the case of
MEULTRA the CIA had spent millions of dollars developing both materials and
delivery systems which could be used by the Clandestine Services; the reconstruc-
tion of the research and development program twould be difficult If not Impos-
sible, without the documents, sud at least oue assistant to Dr. Gottllel protested
against the document destruction on those grounds.

™ Clapdestine Services Institution (CSI) 70-10. When asked by the Select
Committee about the regularity of the procedure by which be authorized Dr.
Gottlieb to destroy the MKULTRA records, Helms responded:

“tVell, that's hard to say whether it wvould be part of the regular procedpre or
not, becanse the record destruction program ls conducted according to a certaln
pattern. There's a regular record destruction pattern in tbe Agency monltored by
certain people and done a certain way. So that anything outside of that, I suppose,
would hare been pnususl. In other words, there were documents being destroyed
because somebody had ralsed this specific issue rather than because they were
encompassed io the *eguiar records destruction program. So I think the anpswer
to your question is prodbably yes.” (Helms testimony, 9/11/75. p. 6.)

7 Even prior to the destruction of documents, the MEULTRA records were far
from complete. As the Inspector General noted In 1983 :

“Files are notably ipcomplete, poorly orgaaized. and lack!ng ln evaluative state-
ments that might give perspective to management policles over time, A substan-
tial portion of the MXULTRA record appears to rest in the memaries of the prin-
cipl officers and (s therefore almost certain to be lost with thelr departures.”

(IG Report on MKULTRA, p. 23.)

i»
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tions”."™ Other Agency procedures, i.e., the forwarding of documents
in sapport of invoices and the provision for regular audit procedures,
were also to be waived. On April 13, 1953, then DCI Allen Dulles
approved MEULTRA, noting that security considerations precluded
handling the project through usual contractual agreements.

Ten years later investigations of MKULTRA by both the Inspector
General and the Audit Staff noted substantial deficiencies which re-
sulted from the waivers. Because TSD had not reserved the right to
audit the books of contractors in MKULTRA, the CIA had been
unable to verify the use of Agenc]y grants by a contractor. Another
firm had failed to establish controls and safeguards which would as-
sure “proper accountability” in use of government funds with the
result that “funds have been used for purposes not contemplated by
grants or allowable under usual contract relationship.” ™ The entire
MEULTRA arrangement was condemned for having administrative
lines which were unclear, overly permissive controls, and irrespon-
sible supervision.

The head of the Audit Branch noted that inspections and audits:
led us to see MEULTRA as frequently having provided s
device to escape normal administrative controls for research
that is not especially sensitive, as having allowed practices
that produce gross administrative failures, as having per-
mitted the establishment of special relationships with unreli-
‘able organizations on an unacceptable basis, and as having
Eroduced, on at least one ocrasion, a.cavalier treatment of a

ona fide contracting organization.

While admitting that there may be a need for special mechanisms
for handling sensitive projects, the Chief of the Audit Branch wrote
that “both the terms of reference and the ground rules for handling
such special projects should be spelled out in advance so that diver-
sion from normal channels does not mean abandonment of controls.

Special procedures may be necessary to ensure the security of highly
sensitive operations. To prevent the erosion of normal internal con-
trol mechanisms, such waivers should not be extended to less sensitive
operations. Moreover, only those regulations which would endanger
security should be waived; to waive regulations generally would
result in highly sensitive and controversial projects having looser
rather than stricter administrative controls. fRKNAOMI, the Fort
Detrick CIA project for research and development of chemical and
biological agents, provides another example where efforts to protect
the security of agency activties overwhelmed administrative controls.

‘N0 written records of the transfer of agents such as anthrax or shell-,

fish toxin were kept, “because of the sensitivity of the ares and the~
desire to keep any possible use of materials like this recordless.” * The

™ \femorandum from ADDP Heims to DCI Dulles, 4/3/53, Tab A p. 2

® \emorandum from IG to Chlef, TSD, 11/8/63, as quoted ia memorandum
from Chief, Audit Branch.

® The memorandum suggested that administrative exciusions, because of the
importance of such decistons, should require the personal approval-of the Deputy
Director of Ceatral Intelligence on an individual case basis. Present CIA policy
is that only the DCI can authorize certain exemptions from regulations.

R Sidney Gottlieb testtmony, 10/18/75, Hearings, Vol. 1, o. 51,
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result was that the Agency had ro way of determining what mate-
rials were on hand, and could not be certain whether delivery systems
such as dart » or deadly substances such as colira venom had been
issued to the feld. :

b. Authorization—The destruction of the documents regarding
MKULTRA made it difficult to determine at what level specific proj-
ects in the program were authorized. This probiem is not solely a re-
sult of the document destruction, however. Even &t the height of
MEKULTRA the IG noted that, at least with respect to the surrepti-
tious administration of LSD, the “present practice is to maintain no

records of the planning and apBroval of test programs.” **
While it is clear that Allen Dulles authorized MKULTRA, the rec-

ord is unclear as to who authorized specific projects such as that in-
volving the surreptitious administration of LSD to unwitting non-
volunteer human subjects. Even given the sensitive and controversial
nature of the project, there is no evidence that when John McCone
replaced Allen Dulles as the Director of the Central Intelligence
Agency he was briefed on the details of this project and asked whether
it should be continued.** Even during the 1963 discussions on the pro-
priety of unwitting testing, the DDP questioned whether it was “neces-
sary to brief General Carter,” the Deputy Director of Central Intelli-
gence and the Director’s “alter ago,” use CIA officers felt it neces-
sary to keep details of the project restricted to an absolute minimum
number of people.

In May of 1963, DDP Helms told the Inspector General that the
covert testing program was authorized because he had gone to the
Director, briefed him on it and “the Director indicated no disagree-
ment and therefore the testing will continue.” ¥ Such authorization
even for noncontroversial matters is clearly less desirable than ex-
plicit authorization; in areas such as the surreptitious administration
of drugs, it is particularly undesirable. Yet according to testimony

® IG Report on MEULTRA, 1063, v. 14.

® According to an assistant to Dr. Gottlieb, there were annual briefings of the
DCI and the DDP on MEUGLTRA by the Chief of TSD or his deputy, However, a
May 15, 1963 Memorandum for the Record from the Inspector General noted that
Mr. McCone had not been briefed in detail abont the program. Mr. McCone's Exec-
utive Officer, Walter Elder, testified that it was “perfestly apparent to me” that
neither Mr. McCone nor General Carter, then the DDCI, twas aware of the sar-
reptitious administration project “or if they had been briefed they had not undesr-
stood (t.” (Elder, 12/18/75, p. 13.) Mr. McCone testified that he “dld not kpow"
whether he talked to anyone about the project but that no one had told him about
It in & way that “would have turned on all the lights.” {John McCone testimony,

2/3/78, p. 10.)

* According to Elder's testimony, “no Deputy Director, to my knowledge,
has ever beep briefed or was it ever thought necessary to brief them to the extent
to which you would drief the Director.”

®IG Memorandum for the Record. 5/15/63.

On the question of authorization of the covert testing program, Elder testified
as follotes:

“But my reasonable judgment is that this was considered 0 be in the area of
continuing approval, having once been approved by the Director.”

The theory of authorizarion carrying over from one administration to the next
reems particularly lnappropriate for less visible. highly sensitive operations
which. unless brought to his attention by subordinates, would not come to the
atiention of the Director.

PR
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before the Committee, authorization through lack of agreement -is
even more prevalent in sensitive situations.™

The unauthorized retention of shellfish toxin by Dr. Nathan Gordon
and his subordinates, in violation of a Presidential Directive, meay have
resulted from the failure of the Director to issye written instructions to
Agency officials. The retention was not authorized by senior officials in
the Agency. The Director, Mr. Helms, haq instructed Mr. Kerames-
sines, the Deputy Director of Plans, and Dr. Gottlieb, the Chief of
Technical Services Division, to relinquish control to the Army of any
chemical or biological agents being retained for the CIA at Fort De-
trick. Dr, Gottlieb passed this instruction on to Dr. Gordon. Wlhile
orders inay be disregarded in any organization, one of the reasons that
Dr. Gordon used to defend the retention was the fact that he had not
received written instructions forbidding it.*

In some situstions the existence of written instructions did not pre-
vent unauthorized actions. According to an investigation by the CIA's
Inspector General TSD officers hn.g been informed that Mr.
Helmas was to bs “advised at all times” when LSD was to be used. In
addition TSD had received a memo advising the staff that LSD was
not to be used without the permission of the DDP, Frank Wisner. The
experiment involving Dr. Olson went ahead without notification of
either Mr. Wisner or Mr. Helms. The absence of clear and immediate
punishment for that act must undercut the force of other internal in-
structions and regulations. .

One last issue must be raised about authorization procedures within
the Agency. Chemical agents were used ahroad until 1959 for dis-
crediting or disabling operations, or for the purpose of interrogations
with the approval of the Chief of Operations of the DDP. Later the
approval of the Deputy Director for Plans was required for such
operations. Although the medicsal staff sought to be part of the a

roval process for these operations, they were excluded because, as the
pector General wrote in 1957 :

Operational determinations are the responsibility of .the
DD/P and it is he who should advise the DCI in these
respectsl just as it is he who is nsible for the results, It
is completely unrealistic to consider assigning to the Chief,
Medical Staff, (what, in effect, would be authority over clan-
destine operations.)* :

Given the expertise and training of physicians, participation of the
Medical Staff might well have been usefyusl. A

Questions about authorization also exist in regard to those cies
which assisted the CIA. For instance, the project involving the sur-
reﬁgmous administration of LSD to unwitting non-volunteer human
subjects was conducted in coordination with Lﬁe Bureau of Narcotics
and Dangerous Drugs. There is some question as to the Commissioner
of Narcotics’ knowledge about the project.

" Mr. Elder was asked whether the process of bringing forward a description of
actious by the Agency {n getting approval through the absence of disagreement
was a2 common one. He responded, “It was not uncommon. . . . The more sensitive
the project the more likely it would lean toward deing a common practice, based
on the need to keep the written record tos minimum.”

" Nathan Gordan testimony, 8/16/75, Hearings, Vol. 1.

*" 1957 1G Revort.
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In 1963, the Inspector General noted that the head of the BNDD
had been briefed agut the project, but the IG’s report did not indi-
cate the level of detail provided to him. Dr. Gottlieb testified that “I
remember meeting Mr. Anslinger and had the general feeling that he
was aware.”® Another CIA officer did not recall any discussion of
testing on unwitting subjects when he end Dr. Gottlieb met with Com-
missioner Anslinger.

In a memorandum for the record in 1967 Dr. Gottlieb stated that
Harry Giordano, who replaced Mr. Ans told Dr. Gottlieb that
when he became Commissioner he was “only generally briefed on the
a.rrangementzfnve it his general blessing, and said he didn't want to
lmow the details.” The same memorandum states, however, that there
were seversl comments which indicated to Dr. Gottlieb that Mr. Gior-
dano was aware of the substance of the project. It is possible that
the Commissioner provided a general autgonzntion for the arrange-
ment without uvaderstanding what it entailed or considering its pro-
priety. A reluctance to seek detailed information from the , and
the CIA's hesitancy to volunteer it, has been found in a number of
instances during the Select Committee’s investigations. This problem
is not confined to the executive branch but has also marked congres-
sional relationships with the Agency.

¢. Internal Review.—The waiver of regulations and the absence of
documentation make it difficult to determine now who authorized
which activities. More importantly, they made internal Agency review
mechanisms much less effective.® Controversial and highly sensitive

rojects which should have been subject to the most rigorous inspection
acked effective internal review.

Given the role of the General Counsel and his reaction to the sur-
reptitious administration of LSD to Dr. Olson, it would have seemed
likely that he would be asked about the legality or ﬁmpriety of any
subsequent projects involving such administration. T.

He did not learn about this testing until the 1970's. Nor was the Gen-
eral Counsel’s opinion sought on other MKULTRA projects, though
thess had been characterized by the Inspector General in the 1957
Report on TSD as “unethical and illicit.” ®

ere i3 no mention in the report of the 1957 Inspector General’s
survey of TSD of the project involving the surreptitious administra-
tion of LSD. That project was apparently not brought to the attention
of the survey team. The Inspector who discovered it during the IG's
1963 survey of TSD recalls coming upon evidence of it inadvertently,

® Gottlieb, 10/18/735, p. 28.

® The IG's meport on MEULTRA in 1963 stated :

“The original charter documents specified that TSD maintaln exacting con-
trot of MEULTRA activities. In so doing, however, TSD has pursued a phi-
losophy of mizimum documentation |n keeping with the bhigh sensitivity of some
of the profectsa Some fileas were found to present a reasonably complete record,
Incloding most sensitive matters, while others with paraliel cbjectives contained
little or nao data at all. The lack of consistent records precluded use of routine
{nspection procedures and raised a variety of questions concetning manage-
ment and fscal cottrols.”

" CIA, Inspector General's report oo TSD, 19567, p. 217.

is was not done/
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rather than its having been called to his attention as an especially
sensitive project.”

Thus both the General Counsel and the Inspector General, the prin-
cipal internal mechanisms for the control of possibly improper actions,
were excluded from regular reviews of the project. When the project
was discovered tha Executive Director-Comptroller voiced strong op-
position to it; it is possible that the project would have been termi-
nated in 1957 if it had been called to his attention when he then served
ug Inspector General. ‘

The Audit Staff, which also serves an internal review function
through the examination of Agency expenditures, slso encountered
substantial dificulty with MIKULTRA. When MKULTRA was first
proposed the Audit Staff was to be excluded from any function. This
was soon changed. However, the waiver of normal “contractual pro-
cedures” in MKULTRA increased the Likelihood of “irregularities”
as well as the difficulty in detecting them. The head of the Aundit
Branch characterized the MKULTRA procedures as “having allowed
practices that produced gross administrative failures,” including a
lack of controls within outside contractors which would “assure proper
accountability in use of government funds.” It also diminished the
CILA's capacity to verify the accountings provided by outside firms.

d. Compartmentation and Jurisdictional Conflict Within the
Agency—As has been noted, the testing and use of chemical and
biological agents was treated as a highly sensitive activity within the
CIA. This resulted in a high degree of ccmpartmentation. At the same
time substantial jurisdictional conflict existed within the Agency be-
tween the Technical Services Division, and the Office of Medical Serv-
ices and the Office of Security. :

This compartmentation and jurisdictional conflict may well have
led to duplication of effort within the CIA and to Agency policy-
malkers being deprived of useful information.

During the early 1950's first the BLUEBIRD Committee and then
the ARTICHOKE Committes were instituted to bring together rep-
resentatives of the Agency components which had a legitimate inter-
est in the arca of the alteration of human behavior. By 1957 both these
committees had fallen into disuse. No information went to the Tech-
nical Services Division (s component supposedly represented on the
ARTICHOKE Committee} about AR'I]%%HO Lo}:ner-atloml being
conducted by the Office of Security and the Offics of Medical Services.
The Technical Services Division which was providing support to the
Clandestine Services in the use of chemical and biological agents, bat
provided little or no information to either the Office oFSecunty or the
Office of Medical Services.' As one TSD officer involved in thess pro-
grams testified: “Although we were acquainted, we certainly didnt
share experiences.” ®

® Even after the Inspector came upon it the IG did not pertorm'a complete
Investigation of it. It was discovered &t the end of an extensive survey of TS3D -
and the Inspector wus {n the process of being transferred to another post within -

the Ageney.
® Testimony of CIA officer, 11/21/75, p. 14
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QKHILLTOP, another group designed to coordinate research in
this area also had little success. The group met infrequently—only
twice a year—and little specific information was exchanged.*

Concern over security obviously played some role in the failure to
share information,*® but this appears not to be the only reason. A TSD
officer stated that the Office of Medical Services simply wasn't “par-
ticularly interested in what we were doing” and never sought such
information.* On the other hand, a representative of the Office of
Medical Services consistently sought to have medical personnel par-
tlcx%ata in the use of chemical and biological agents suggested that
TSD did not inform the Office of Medical Services in order to pre-
vent their involvement.

Jurisdictional conflict was constant in this area. The Office of
Securith, which had been assigned responsibility for direction of
ARTICHOKE, consistently sought to bring TSD operations in-
volving psychochemicals under the ARTICHOKE umbrella. The
Office of Medical Services sought to have OMS physicians advise and
participate in the operational use of drugs. As the Inspector Gen-
eral described it in 1957, “the basic issue is concerned with the extent
of authority that should be exercised by the Chief, Medical Staff, over
the activities of TSD which encroach upon or enter into the medical
field,” and which are conducted by TSD “without seeking the prior
approval of the Chief, Medical Staff, and often without informing
him of their nature and extent.” *'

As was noted previously, because the projects and programs of
TSD stemmed directly from operational nceds controlled by the
DDP, the IG recommended no further supervision of these activi-
ties by the Medical Staff: :

It is com(rletelg unrealistic to consider assigning to the
Chief, Medical Staff, what, in effect, would be suthority over
clandestine operations. Furthermore, some of the activitics

of Chemical Division are not only unorthodoz but unethical
and sometimes illegal. The DDP is in a better position to
evaluate the justification for such operations than the Chief,
Medical Staff.* [Emphasis added.]

Becauss the advice of the Director of Security was needed for
“evaluating the risks involved™ in the programs and because the
knowledge that the CIA was “engaging in unethical and illicit activi-
ties would have serious repercussions in political and diplomatic
circles,” the IG recomimended that the Director of Security be fully
advised of TSD's activities in these areas.

Even after the Inspector General's Report of 1957, the compartmen-
tation and jurisdictional conflict continucd. They may huve had a sub-

" Tue oue set of minates from a QRRILLTOP meeting indicated that indlvid-
uals in the Office of Medical Services stressed the need for more contact.

S When asked why Information on the surrejtitiots administration of L3I
was not presented to the ARTICHOKE committee, Dr. Gottliel responded: “[
fienzine the anly reason would have been a coucern for brogdeuing the aware-
ness of {tx existence.” .

UCTA ofeer, 11721775, p. 14

T 1G Sarvey of TN, 1957, p- 215,

= Ibid.
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stantial negative impact on policymaking in the Agency. As the Dep-
uty Chief of the Counterintelligence Staff noted in 1958, due to the
different positions taken by TSS, the Office of Security, and the Office
of Medical Services on the use of cheinical or biological agents, it was
gossible that the individual who authorized the use of a chemical or

iological agent could be presented with “incomplete facts upon which
to make a decision relevant to its use.” Even a committee set u by the
DDP in 1958 to attempt to rationalize Agency policy did not have ac-
cess to records of testing and use. This was due, in part, to excessive
compartmentation, and jurisdictional conflict.

C. Covert TEsTING o8 HoMAN Surects Y MILITARY INTELLIGENGE
Grours: Materiar Testing Procrax EA 1729, Prosecr THIRD

CHANGE, ano Prosecr DERBY HAT

5 the designator ysed-in the Army drug testing program
f cid diethylamid. Interest in LSD was originally
aroused at the Army’s Chemical"Warfare Laboratories by open litera- -
ture on the unusual effects of the compound.” The positive intelli-
gence and counterintelligence potential envisioned for compounds like
L.SD, and suspected Soviet interest in such materials,’® supported the
development of an American military capability and resulted in ex-
periments conducted jointly by the U.S. Army Intelligence Board and
the Chemical Warfare Laboratories.

These experiments, designed to evnluate potential intelligence uses
of I.SD, were known collectively as “Material Testing Program EA
1729.” Two projects of particular interest conducted as part of these
experiments, “THIRD CHANCE” and “DERBY HAT”, involved
%l"xe :isiministration of LSD to unwitting subjects in Europe and the

af East.

In many respects, the Army’s testing programs duplicated research
which had already been conducted by the CIA. They certainlg' involved
the risks inherent in the early phases of drug testing. In the Army’s
tests, as with those of the CIA, individual rights were also subordi-
nated to nationa! security consideintions; informed consent and follow-

- up examinntions of subjects were neglected in efforts to maintain the

secrecy of the tests. Finally, the command and control problems which
were apparent in the CIA’s programs are paralleled by a lack of clear
authorization and supervision in the Army's programs.

" USAINTC ataff study, “Material Testing Program, EA 1729, 10/15/59, >4
¥ Thix spme USAINTC study cited “A 1952 (several years prior to Initial U.S.
interear {n I.SD-25) report that the Soviets purchased a large quantity of LSD-25
f?;":i the Sandoz Company tn 1951, reputed to be sufficient for 50 mllllon doses”
id.. p. 18.)

Genernlly accepted Soviet methods and counterintelligence concerns were also
strong mntivaring factors in the Initiation of this research:

“A primary justification for fleld experimentation in intelligence with EA 1729
L« the counter-intelligence or defense implication. We knaw that the enemy phi.
losopliy cendones any kind of coercion nr vinlence for inteiligence purpases. There
I= proof that his intelligence service has used drugy in the past. There is strong
evidence of keeu interest in EA 1729 by him. If for no other purpeae than to know
what tn expect from enemy intelligence use of the materlal and to, thus, be pre-
pared tn counter 1t. fleld xperimentution ix justified.” (7did, p. 34)
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1. Scope of Testing

Batween 1955 and 1958 research was initiated by the Army Chemical
Corps to evaluate the potential for LSD as a chemical warfare inca-
pacitating agent. In the course of this research, LSD was administered
to more than 1.000 American volunteers who then participated in a
series of tests designed to ascertain the effects of tﬁe drug on their
ability to function as soldiers. With the exception of one set of tests
at Fort Bragg. these and subsequent laboratory experiments to evalu-
ate chemical warfare potential were conducted at tiee Army Chemical
Warfare Laboratories, Edgewood, Maryland.

In 1958 a new series of labon.t:)g tests were initiated at Edgewood.
These experiments werse conducted as the initial phase of Material
Testing Program EA 1729 to evaluate the intelligence potential of
LSD, and included LSD tests on 95 volunteers.'® As part of these
tests, three structured experiments were conducted :

1. LSD was sdministered surreptitiously at a simulated
social reception to volunteer subjects who were unaware of
the purpose or nature of the tests in which they were
participating;

2. LSD was administered to volunteers who were subse-

quently polygraphed; and
3. LSD twas admi

Wd to volunteers who were then
confined to i ion chambers®

These structured experiments were designed to evaluate the validity
of the traditional security training all subjects had undergone in the
face of unconventional, ruf enhanced, interrogations.

At the conclusion of the Iaboratory test phase of Materisl Testing
Program EA 1729 in 1960, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for
Intelligence (ACSI) au:iorized operational field testing of LSD. The
first field tests were conducted in Europe by an Army Special Pur-
pose Team (SPT) during the period from May to August of 1061.
These tests were'known as Project THIRDD CHANCE and involved
eleven separate interrogations of ten subjects, None of the subjects
were volunteers and none were aware that they were to receive
ILSD. All but one subject, a U.S. soldier implicated in the theft of
classified documents, were alleged to be foreign intelligence sources
or agents. Whils interrogations of these individuals were only moder-
ately successful, at least one subject (the U.S. soldier) exhibited
symEtoms of severe parnnoia while under the influence of the drug.

The second series of field tests, Project DERBY HAT, were con-
ductéd by an Army SPT in the Far East during the period
from August to November of 1962. Seven subjects were interrogated
under DERBY HAT, all of whom were foreign nationals cither sus-
pected of dealing in narcotics or implicated in foreign intelligence
operations. The purpose of this sccond set of experiments was to coi-
lect additional data on the utility of LSD in field interrogations, and
to evaluate any different effects the ding might have on “Orientals.”

" Inspector General of the Army Report. “Use of Volunteers in Chemical Agent
Re=<earch,” 3/10/76, p. 138
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2. Inadequate Coordination Among Intelligence Agencies

On October 15, 1859, the U.S. Army Intelligence Center prepared
lengthy staff study an Material Testing Program EA 1729. The stated
purpose of the staff study was: “to determine the desirability of EA
1729 on non-US subjects in selected actual operations under controlled
conditions.'*? It was on the basis of this study that operational field
tests were later conducted.

A fter noting that the Chemical Warfare Laboratories began experi-
ments with LSD on humans in 1955 and had administered the drug

to over 1,000 volunteers, the “background” section of the study
concluded :
‘T'here has not been & single case of residual ill effect. Study
of the prolific scientific literature on LSD-25 and personal
communication between US Army Chemical Corps person-
nel and other researchers in this field have failed to disclose
an authenticated instance of irreversible change being pro-
duced in normal humans by the drug.!®

This conclusion was reached despite an awareness that there were
inherent medical dangers in such experimentation. In the body of this

same study it is noted that:

The view has been expressed that EA 1729 is a potentially
dangerous drug, whose pharmaceutical actions are not fully
understood and there has been cited the possibility of the
continuai.;e of & chemically induced psychosis in chronic
form, particularly if a latent schizophrenic were & subject,
with consequent claim or representation aguinst the U.S.
Government.1%

An attempt was made to minimize potential medical hazards by care-
ful selection of subjects prior to field tests. Rejecting evidence that
the drug might be hazardous, the study continued:

The claim of possible permanent damage caused by EA 1729
1s an anproven hypothesis based ca the characteristic effect
of the material. While the added stress of a real situation
may increase the probability of permanent adverss effect,
the resulting risk is deemed to be slight by the medical re-
search personnel of the Chemical Warfare Laboratories, To
prevent even such a slight risk, the proposed plan for field
experimentation calls for overt, if possible, or contrived-
through-ruse, if necessary, physical and mental examination
of any real situation subject prior to employment of the
subject.108

This conclusion was drawn six years after one death had occurred
which could be attributed, at least in part, to the effects of the
very drug the Army was proposing to field test. The "SAINTC stafl,
however. was apparentlv unaware of the circumstances surround-
ing Dr. Olson’s death. This lack of knowledge is indicative of the

MMURAINTC ataff studr. “Iateria]l Testing Mm FEA 1729.” 10715758, p. 4.

M Idid, . 4.
™ Idid . p. 25.
Y= ryid.
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general lack of interngency communieation on drug related research.
As the Ocrober 1339 sty noted. “there has been no coordination
with other intelligence agencics vp to the present.” 1

On December 7, 1939, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelli-
gence (ACSI, apprrently a General Willems) was briefed on the
proposed operational use of LSD by USAINTC Project Officer Jacob-
son, in preparation for Project THIRD CHANCE. General Willems
expressed concern that the project had not been coorclinated with the
FBLand the CIA. He is quoted ns saying “that if this project is going
to be worth anything it [LLSD? should be used on higher types of
non-[".8. subjeets” in other words “statfers.” He indicated this could
be accomplished if the CI\ were brought in. The summary of the
bricfing prepared by a Major Mchovsky continues: “Of particular note
15 that ACSI did not direct coottlination with CIA and the FBI but
only mentioned it for consideration by the planners.™ 17

After the briefing, four colonels, two Jieutenant colonels and Major
Mechovsky met to discuss interagency cooperation with CTA and FBIL
The group consensus was to postpone efforts toward coordination:

It. Col. JJacobson commented that before we coordinate with
CI\ we should have more factual findings from field experi-
mentation with counterintelligence cases that will strengthen
our position and proposal for cooperation. This approach
was agreed to by the conferaes. o

Iad such coordination been achieved, the safety of these experimnents
might have been viewed differently and the tests themsclves might

have been seen as unnecessary.
3. Subordination of Individual Rights to National Security Consid-

eralions

Just as inany of these experiments may have been unnecessary, the
nature of the operational tests (polygraph-nssisted interrogations of
drugged suspects) reflects a basic disregard for the fundamental
human rights of the subjects. The interrogation of an .\meriean
soldier as part of the TIIIRD CHANCE 1961 tests is an exaniple of
this disregard. o

The “trip report™ for Project THIRD CHANCE, dated Septem-
ber 6, 1961, recoynts the circmnstances surrounding and the results of

the tests ns follows:

{The subject] was & U.S. soldier who had confessed to theft
of classified docunients. Conventional methods had failed to
ascertain whether espionage intent was involved. A sigmificant
new admission by subject that he told a fellow soldier of the
theft while he still had the documents in his possession was
obtained during the EA 1729 interrogation along with other
variations of §uhjoct’s previous acconnt. The interrogution
" results were deemed by the locnl operational authority satis-
fuctory evidence of Subject’s clnim of innocence in regurd to

espionage intent.'*

=d.p &
™ Mehovsky Fact Sheet, 12/9/60, p. 1.
“rdid.p. 2

** SI"T Trip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 9/6/81. p 5.
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. The subject apparently reacted very strongly to the drug, and the
Interrogation, while productive, was difficult. The trip report

conclutﬁzd :

(1) This case demonstrated the ability to interrogate a
subject profitably throughout a highly sustained and almost
incapacitating reaction to EA 1729.

(2) The apparent value of bringing a subject into the EA
1729 situation in & highly stressed state was indicated.

(3) The usefulness of employing as a duress factor the de-
vice of inviting the subject’s attention to his KA 1729-
influenced state and threatening to extend this state in-
definitely even to a permanent coudition of msanity, or to
bring it to an end at the discretion of the interrogators was

shiown to be effective.
(4) The need for preplanned precautions aguinst extreme

paranoiac reaction tc EA 1729 was indicated.
(5) It was brought to attention by this case that where sub-
ject has undergone extended intensive interrogation prior to
- the EA 1729 episode and has persisted in a version repeatedly
during conventional interro tion, adherence to the same ver-
sion while under EA 1729} uence, however axtreme the reac-
tion, may not necessarily be evidence of truth but merely the
ability to adhere to a well rehearsed story.1

This strong reaction to the drug and the accompanying discomfort
this individual suffered were exploited by the use of traditiona] inter-
rogation techniques. While there is no evidence that physical violence
or torture were emnployed in connection with this interro tion, h'ysi-
cal and psychological techniques wers used in the THIR CH.:SI\CE :
experiments to exploit the subjects’ altered mental state, and to maxi-
Inize the stress situation. Jacobson described these methods in his trip
report:

Stressing techniques employed included silent treatment be-
fore or after EA 1729 uﬁninistrntion, sustained conventional
interrogation prior to EA 1729 interrogation, deprivation of
food, drink, sleep or bodily evacuation, sustained. isolation
prior to EA 1729 administration, hot-cold switches in ap-
proach, duress “pitches”, verbal degradation and bodily dis-
comnfort, or dramatized tiireats to subject’s life or piental
health 11 , :

Another gross violation of an individual's fundamental rights oc-
curred in September 1962 as part of the Armmy’s DERBY HAT tests
in the Far East. A suspected Asian espionage ngent was given 6
micrograms of L.SD per kilogram of bodyweight. Tﬁ:ee administration
of the drug was compf:%ed at 10335 that morning:

At 1120, sweating became evident, his pulse became thready.
He was placed in a supine position. He began groaning with
expiration and became semicomatose.?

™ 1bid., pp. 17-18.
HUInid., p. 13. :
"““DERBY HAT" Medlcal 2nd Pharmacoiogicz! Report: Case #1, 8,/20/62,

p- D102
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For the next 28 minutes, the s::bject remained senmicomatose.

At 1148, responses to painful stiinuli were slightly improved.
- At 1155, he was helped to & sitting position. ) ]
At 1200, he became shocky again and sas returned fo supine
position. ’
At 1212, he was more alert and able to sit up with help:
At 1220, Subject was assisted to the interrogation table.
At 1230, he began moaning he wanted to die and ususlly
ignored questions. Rarely he stated “he didn't know.”
At 1250, his phasic alertness persisted. He frequentl{I re-
focused his eyes with eyelid assistance. He frequently threw
his head back with eyes closed.
At 1330, he was slightly more alert. He was forced-walked for
5 minutes. He physically would cooperate until he became
» shocky again (sweating, thready pulse, pale).1»
For the next three hours the subject remained in tbout the same con-
dition. Continued attempts st interrogation yielded no relevant
answers. Six hours after receiving the drug, the snl;ject began giving
relevant answers to questions. Kight and one-half hours after the
initial dosage, the subject was goiygrnphed. The interrogation con-
tinued for seventeen and one-half hours after the drug was ad-
ministered. .
There was some psychological and medical screening of the in-
dividnals tested within the United States. in Europe, and in
Asia. The propossl for the field experimentation in fact called for
such examinations. The fact of prescreening did not eliminate the
risk of injury; the availability of medical staff :did. however, limit
injury and may well have prevented the death of one or more of the
subjeets. As the medical corps member of the team which surrepti-
tiously administered the I.SD noted, “one subject . .. did collapse after
the interrogation and the presence of the medical officer was not only
of value to the subject but to the interrogation team who were thus
assured that an unnecessary nntoward result would not occur.” 13
In the October 15, 1959, USAINTC staff study, moral and legal
rnmi_f;carteigns of covert administration of I.SD in field conditions were
considered.

It was always a tenet of Army Intelligence that the basic
American principle of the dignity and welfare of the in-
dividual will not be violated. . . . A mors meticulous regard
for the prohibition agninst violence or duress is taken in
practice when the suspect is & US citizen or ally as agsinst -
an actual or potential cnemy. in peace as against war, and in
respect to the naturc of the crime. . . . In intelligence, the
stakes involved and the intercsts of national security may
permit a more tolerant interpretation of moral-ethical values,
but not lemal limits, through necessity. . . . . Any claim

™ rdid.. p. D10-8.
' SPT Trip Report, Operation THIRD CHANCE, 7/25/61, p. 1.
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aguinst the US Government for alleged injury due to EA
1729 must be legally shown to have been due to the material.
Proper security and appropriate operational techuiques
can protect the fact of employment of EA 1720.1t

On the basis of this evaluation, the stitdy concluded that in view of
“the stakes involved and the interests of national security,” the pro-
posed plan for field testing should be approved. _ . -
The surreptitious administration of drugs to unwitting subjects by
the Army raises serious constitutional and Jegal issues. The considera-
tion given these issues by the: Army was whoﬁ‘y insufficient, The char-
acter of the Army’s vrolunteer testing programand the possibility that
drugs Yyere simply substituted for other forms of violence or duress in
field imterrogations raises serious doubts as to whether national se-
curity imperatives were properly interpreted. The “consent” forms
which each American volunteer signed prior to the administration of
LSD are a case in point. These forms conta.ned no mention of the
medical and psychological risks inherent in such testing, nor do they
mention the nature of the psychotrophic drug to be administered: ,

The genernl nature of the experiments in which I have
volunteered. have been explained to me from the standpoint
of jfsssible hnzards to 'my health. /2 is my understanding that
the cxperime::: are so designed, based on the results of
anifials and pievious human experimentation, ¢hat the antic-
ipated_resulty will justify the performance of the experi-
mens. I understand further that experiments will be so con-
ducted as to avoid all unnecessa physical and medical
suffering and injury, and that / will be at liberty to request

. that the experimenis be terminated at any time if in my opin-
ion T have reached the physical or mental state where con-
tinuation of the experiments becomes undesirable.

! recognize that in the pursuit of certnin experiments
¢ransitory discomfort may oceur. I recognize, also, that under
these circumstances, 7 must rely upon the akill and wisdom
of the physician supervising the experiment to institute what-
c:iflt;d mf?:lfa] or surgical measures arc indicated. {Emphasis
ndded.

The exclusion of any specific discussion of the nature of LSD in
these forms raises serious doubts as to their validity. An “nnderstand-
.Ing . . . that the anticipated results will justify the performance of
the experiment” without full knowledge of the nature of the experi-
merit is an incomplete “understanding.” Similarly, the nature of the
experiment limited the ability of both the subject to request its re-
quest its termination and the experimenter to implement such a request.
Finally, the euphemistic characterization of “transitory discomfort”
and the agreement to “rely on the skill and wisdom of the physician”
combine to conceal inherent risks in the experimentation and may be
viewed as disolving the experimenter of personal responsibility for
damaging aftereffects. In summary, a “volunteer” program in which
subjects are not fully informed of potential hazards to their persons
is “volunteer™ in name only.

™ USAINTC st study, “Xaterial Testing Program EA 1729," 10/15/39, p 26
'™ Sample volunteer consent form.
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This problem was compounded by the security statements signed
by each voluntser before e Participated in the testing. As part-of
this statement, potential subjects ngreed that they would:

- -, Dot divulge or make available any information related
to U.S. Army Intelligence Center interest-or participation in
the Department of the Army Medical Research Volunteer
Program to any individusl, nation, organization, business,
association, or other group or entity, not officially authorized
to receive such information. e

I understand that any action contrary to the provisions of
this statement will render me liable to punishment under the
provisions of the. Uniform Code of Military Justice.!*

Under these provisions, a volunteer experiencing aftereffects of the test
might have unable to seek immediate medical assistance.

This disregard for the well-beu:g of subjects drug testing is in-
excusable. Furiher, the absence of any comprehensive long-term
medical assistance for the subjects of these experiments is not only
unscientific; it is also unprofessional. ,

4 Lack of Normal Authorization and Supervision

It is apparent from documents supplied to the Committes that the
Army’s testing programs often operated under informal snd nonrou-
tine suthorization. Potentislly dangerous operations such as these
testing programs sre the very projects which ought to be subject to
the closest Internal scrutiny at the highest levels of the military com-
mand structure. There are numerous examples of inadeguate review,
partial consideration, and incomplete approval in the administration
of these programs. : '

When the first Army rogram to use LSD on American soldiers in
“field stations” was authorized in Ma 1955, the Army violated its
own procedures in obtaining approval.. Under Army Chief of Staff
Memorandum 385, such proposals were to be personally approved by
the Secretary of the Army. Although the plan was submitted to him
on April 26, 1956, the Secretary issued no written authorization for
the project, and there is no evidence that he either reviewed or ap-
proved the plan. Less than 8 month later, the Army Chief of Staff
1ssued a memorandum authorizing the tests. **

Subsequent testing of LSD under Material Testing Program EA
1729 operated generaily under this authorization. When the plans for
this testing were originally discussed in early 1958 by officials of the
Army Intelligence Center at Fort Holabird and representatives of
the Chemical Warfare Center at Edgewood Arsenal, an informal pro-
>osal was formulated. This proposal was submitted to the Medical

esearch Directorate at Edgewood by the President of the Army In-
telligence Board on June 3, 1958. There is no evidence that the plan
was approved at any level higher than the President of the Intelli-
gence Board or the Ctmunanding General of Edgewood. The spproval
at Edgewood appears to have been issued by the Commander's'Adju-
tant. The Medical Research Laboratories did not submit the plan to
the Surgeon General for approval (a standard procedure) becanse

'™ Sample Voluntser Security Statement. .
'® Inspector General of the Army Report, “Use of Volunteers In Chemical

Aeant Resanreh “ /1074 n. 108.
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the new program was ostensibly ccvered by the suthorizations granted
in May 1956.'%

The two projects involviﬁi the operational use of LSD (THIRD
CHANCE and DERBY T) were apparently approved by the,
Army Assistaat Chief of Stafl for Intelligence (General Willems) on
December 7, 1960.™= This verbal approval came in the course of 8
briefing on previous drug programs and on the planned field experi-
mentation. Thers is no record of written approval being issued by the
ACSI to suthorize these specific projects until January 1961, and

_there is no record of any specific knowledge or approval by the Secre-
tary of the Army.

On February 4, 1963, Major Generai C. F. Leonard, Army ACSI,
forwarded a copy of the THIRD CHANCE Trip Report to Army
Chief of Staff, éeneml Earl Wheeler. ** YWheeler had apgarently
requested a copy on February 2. The report was routed through a Gen-
cral Hamlett. While this report included background on the origins
of the LSD tests, it appears that General Wheeler may only have read
the conclusion and recommendations.!?* The office memorandum

accompanying the Trip Report bears Wheeler’s initiala.'* -

5. Termination of Testing

On April 10, 1963, a briefing was held in the ACSI's office on the
results of Projects THIRD CHANCE und DERBY HAT. Both
SPT’s concluded that more field testing was required before LSD
could be -utilized as an integral aid to counterintelligence interroga-
tions. During the presentation of the DERBY HAT results, General
Leonard ( DeputLeACSI ) directed thet no further field %Il:
undertaken.’** Alter this meeting the ACSI sent & letter to the -
manding General of the Army Combat Developments Command
(CDC) resuoﬂing that he review THIRD CE and DERBY
HAT and Smake & net evaluation concerning the adoption of EA 1729
for future use as an effective and profitable aid in counterintelligence
interrogations.” *" On the same day the ACSI requested that the CDC
Commander revise regulation FM 30-17 to read in part:

. . in no instance will drugs be used as an aid to interro-
gations in counterintelligence or security operations without
prior permission of the Department of the Army. Requests
to use drugs es sn investigative aid will be forws: ed through
intelligence channels to the QACSI, DA, for approval. . ..

Medical resesrch has established that information obtained
through the use of these drugs is unreliable and invalid. ...
It is considered that DA [Army] approval must be a pre-
requisite for use of such drugs because of the moral, legal,
medical and political problems inherent in their use for intel-

ligence purposes.t®

= IMd., pp. 135, 137, 138,

= ylehovaky Fact Sheet, 12/9/60.

m yemorandum froom [eonard to Wheeler, 2/4/683.

‘: :?33 memorandum t¢ Wheeler through Hamlett, 2/5/G3.
: Maj. F. Barnett, memorandum for the record, 8/12/63.
il }':‘:nkl memoraadam for the record, 7/16/8.
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The subsequent adoption of this regulation marked the effective ter-
mination of field testing of LSD by the Army.

The official termination date of these testing programs is rather
unclear, but a later ACSI memo indicates that it may have occurred
in September of 1963. On the 15th of that month a meeting was held
between Dr. Van Sims (Edgewood Arsenal), Major Clovis {Chemi-
cal Research Laboratory), and ACSI representatives (General
Deholm and Colonel Schmidt). “As & result of this conference a deter-
mination was made to suspend the program and any further activity
pending a more profiteble and suitable use.” 3

D. Coor-zaTion aND COMPETITION AMONG THE INTELLIGENCE Com-
MUNITY AGENCIES AND BETWEEN Tiese AGENCIES AND OTHER
- Inprvipvars aANp InsTITUTIONS :

1. Relationships Among Agencies Within the Intelligence Community

Relationships among intelligence community agencies in this area
varied considerably over time, ranging from fuﬁ cooperation to intense
and wasteful competition. The edrly period was marked by a high
degree of cooperation among the agencies of the intelligence commu-
nirg. Although the military dominated research involving chemical
and biological agents, the information developed was shared with the
FBI and the CLA. But the spirit of cooperation did not continue. The

failyre by the military to share information apparently breached the

spirit, if not the letter, of commands from above.

As noted above, the Army Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelligence
was briefed on the pro operational testing of LSD under Project
THIRD CHANCE, and expressed concern that the project had not
been coordinated with FBI and CIA. Despite this re?uest., no coordi-
nation was achieved between the Army and either of these agencies.
Had such cooperation been forthcoming, this project may have been
evaluated in a different light.

The competition between the agencies in this area reached bizarre
levels. A military officer told a CIA representative in confidence about
the military’s field testing of LSD in Eunrope under Project THIRD
CHANCE, and the CIA promiptly attempted to learn surreptitiously
the nature and extent of the program. At roughly the same time Jr.

. Helis argued to the DDCI that the unwitting testing program should

be continued, as it contributed to the CIA’s capability in the area and
thus allowed the CTA “to restrain others in the intelligence community
(such as the Department of Defense) from pursuing operstions,™ 13
The MENAOMI pmg‘nm was also marked by a failure to share
information. The Army Special Forces (the principal customer of the
Special Operntions. Division at Fort Dietrick) and the CI\ rather
than attempting to coordinate their efforts promulgated different re-
quirements which varied only slightly. This apparently resulted in
some duplication of effort. In order to insure the security of CIA
operations, the Agency would request materials from SOD for opera-
tional nse without fully or acrurately describing the operational
uirements. This resulted in limitations on SOD's ability to assist
the CIA\.

' Undated ASCI memorandum, p. 2,
2 \femorandum from the DDP to the DCI, 11/9/684, p. 2

-y
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g. Relationships Be'ween the Intelligence Communily dgencies and
Foreign Ligison Services ,

The subjects of tlie CI.A’s operational testing of cheinical and bio-
logical agents abroad were generally being held for interrogation by
foreign intelligence or security organizations. Although information
about the use of drugs was generally withheld froin these organiza-
tions, cooperation with themn necessarily jeopardized the security of
CI.\ interest in these naterials. Cooperation also placed the American
Governnent in a position of complicity in actions which violated the
rights of the subjects, and which may have violated the laws of the
country in which the experiments took place. L

Cooperation between the intelligence agencies and organizations in
foreion countries was not limited to relationships with the intelligence
or internal security organizations. Some MK%'LTR.-\ research was
conducted abroad. {Vhile this is, in itself, not a questionable practice,
it is important that such research abroad not be undertaken to evade
American laws. That this was a ibility is suggested by an ARTI-
CHOKE imnemorandum in whicg it is noted thst working with the
scientists of & foreign country “might be very advantageous” since
that government “permitted certain activities which were not per-
mitted by the United States government (i.e., experiments on anthrax,

ete,).” 1

3. The Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencies
and Other Agencies of the US. Government

Certain U.S. government agencies actively assisted the efforts of
intelligence agencies in this area. One form of assistance was to pro-
vide “cover” for research contracts let by intelligence agencies, in
order to' disguise intelligence community interest in chemical and
biological agents. .

Other forms of assistance raise more serious questions. Although
the CI\'s project involving the surreptitious administration of LS
was conducted by Bureau of Narcotics personnel, there was no open
connection between the Bureau personnel and the Agency. The Buresu
was serving as 8 “cut-out” in order to make it difficult to trace Agency.
participation. The cut-out arrangement, however, reduced the A
ability to control the program The Agency could not control the
process by which subjects were selected and cultivated, and could not
regulate follow-up after the testing. Moreover, as the CLA's Insnector
General noted : “the handling of test subjects in the last analysis rests
with the [ Bureau of Narcoties] agent working alone. Suppression of
" knowledge of critical results from the top CIA management is an
inherent risk in these operations.” ** The arrangement also made it
impossible for the Agency to be certain that the decision to end the
surreptitious administration of LSD would be honored by the Buresn
personned.

The arrangenient with the Burean of Narcotics was described as
4informal.” 133 The informality of the arrangement coinpounded the
problem is agoravated by the fact that the 40 Committee had vir-

= ARTICHOKE Memorandum, 6/13/52

® IG Report on MRULTRA. 1063, p. 14,

™ 1did. This was taken by one Agency official to mesn that there would be no
written contract and no formal mechanlsm for payméat. (Elder, 12/18/75 p 3L)
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apparent unwillingness on the part of the Bureau'’s leadership to ask
for details, and the CIA’s hesitation in volunteering information.
These problems raise serious questions of command and control within

the Bureau.

4. Relationships Between the Intelligence Community Agencies and
Other Insatitutions and Individuals, Public and Private

The Inspector General's 1963 Survey of MKULTRA noted

that “the research and development” phase was conducted through

standing arrangements with “specialists in universities, pharmaceu-
tical houses, hospitals, state and federal institutions, and private re-
search organizations” in a manner which concealed “from the institu-
tion the interests of the CIA.” Only a few “key individuals” in each
institution were “made witting of Agency sponsorship.” The research
and development phase was succeeded by s phase involving “phy-
sicians, toxicologists, and other sgecialists in mental, narcotics, and
genernl hospitals and prisons, who are provided the products and
findings of the basic research projects and proceed with intensive test-

ing on human subjects.” 3¢
According to the Inspector General, the MKULTRA testing pro-

ms were “conducted under accepted scientific procedures ...
where health permits, test subjects are voluntary participents in the
programs.” 1* This was clearly not true in the project involving the
surreptitious administration of LSD, which was marked by a com-
plete lack of screening, medical supervision, opportunity to observe. or
medical or psychological follow-up. .

The intelligence agencies allowed individual researchers to design
their project. Experiments sponsored by these researchers (which in-
cluded one where narcotics addicts were sent to Lexington, Kentucky,
who were rewarded with the drug of their addiction in return for
participation in experiments with I.SD) call into question the deci-
sion by the agencies not tb fix guidelines for the experiments.

The MKULTRA research and development program raises other
questions, as well. It is not clear whether individuals in prisons, mental,
narcotics and genersl hospitals can_provide “informed consent” to
participation in experiments such as.these. There is doubt as to whether
institutions should be unswitting of the ultimate sponsor of research
being done in their facilities. The nature of the arrangements also
made it impossible for the individnals who were not aware of the
sponsor of the research to exercise any choice about their participa-
tion based on the sponsoring organization. ,

Although greater precautions are now being taken in reseqrch con-
ducted on behalf of the intellizence community agencies, the dilemma
of classifieation remains. These agencies obviously wished to conceal
their interest in certain forms of research in order to avoid stimulating
interest in the same areas by hostile zovernments. In some cases today
contractors or researchers wish to conceal their connection with these
agencies. Yet the fact of classification prevents open discussion and
debate upon which scholarly work depends.

™ e p. 9.
™ Idvid. p 10.
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APPENDIX B

DOCUMENTS REFERRING TO DISCOVERY OF ADDI-
TIONAL MKULTRA MATERIAL

22 :June 1977
e et e - . f’%ﬁ' “"T&? -
p;'Intel;igcuco .-

ace and Technology

“} nnTL\:i_DQI_M ‘FOR: B _I_Jeguty nircqiqx:;qf_ _Ce_x_:-t

., C e . ’

(-3 L ¥

- o LR
THROUGH « -  : Deputy Dirac?pf for Scie

-~

SUBJECT : Request for Guidance on H:ndling ]
e _ . Recently Located MKULTRA Material '

L . " : .
' o.' -
- 71. (U/AIUD) This nemorandan is to advise you that
sdditional HKULTRA documents have been discovered and to
obtain your approval for follow-on actions required.
Paragraph 7 contains a reconmended course of action.

» 2. (U/AIUO) As a result of John Marks FOIA re-
quest (F-76-374), 21l of the MEULTRA material in OTS
possession was revieved for possible release to hinm. .
‘Following that review, the OTS material in the Retired .
Records Center wvas searched. It wvas during that latter
search that the subproject files were located snong the.
retired records of the OTS Budget and Fiscal Section.
These files vers not discovered earlier as the esrlier
searches were linited to the examinarion of the_sctive
and retired records of those branches considered moft :
likely to have generated or have had sccess tp MRULTRA -
documents. Those branches included: Chemistry,. :
Biological, Behavioral Activities, snd Contracts Manage-
ment. Because Dr. fottlieb retrisved snd destroyed all ,
"the MKULTRA docunents he was able to locate, it is not )
surprising that the earlier search for MKULTRA documents,
directed at aress where they vere most likely to be found,
¥as unsuccessful. The purpose of establishing the MKULTRA
mechanism was to limit knowledge of the sensitive vork
being perforued to those with an absolute nced to know. .
1f those precepts had been followed, the recently found _ .
BSF files should have ‘contained only financial and
adainistrative docunents. (In retrospect, I realize that

-, Dadassified by o
Co date =
— a - g BT
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€;-5TCT:  Request for Guidance en Hondling Rocezily
Located MKULTRA Mazterial

a serious error was made in ne: haxzn- B4F files =i
seexzinzly innocuous files searched ea'lxer ) As iz
Bost of the-individual sudarciect folders contaln 3r
.proposals snd mszoranda for the record, which iz vanpis
degrees five a reasonably cocplete picture of :Et
of resezrs: funded throuzh MIULTRA.  For vour zfs-rm
the original pecoraaduz seiting vz HEELTRA, sigzel
Mr. Dulles, is also sz3on; these dosu=snis. A $377

pemoraadu= is attached. LT . ) )
3. fprareoy ax this v isings, it dees mos pp7eas
that thers i o thess net‘v lozzved Z1ls7 zhiz
would indizaze A astivities were more snTinsive
or pors JTIniTOve than indizacsed by the Sexite Fal=:t
(Caursz: ce==irtr ors. 12 azwthing: the revarar i
tru2, i.e., 2037 of the posrly 272 subprefsscr 3T iznoiud
Thys, T2 overvisw of MIULTIA is essentially unchaz;el,
Wita 13> exzeptions, the present fiad {ills Iz gozs 28 3o
missing Jotzils. :
One of thsse oxsen %
onserns an agsivisy 2o
That projest éeals with s = fer
drup which was consosmitant witk,.and by 2
Tes arcn 2T a2 major uziversizy. It 2leved
jective reading of that pr je::.woulé =stTace
e for khotkout materiazls and amesthetlicss wirTe
cozpatitie aitivities. However, The resgarch’ pr:::s:l
stazed that "chesisal asonts...wili be suljected zr cliaiz:
screening...on advanced cancer Pz ie“ts .z . ) )
3. O Sabsroic*t Nucher 35 conizias f:11 Jsiails
of CTA's sontribuiion of §373,000 e thke i
e Building Feri. The AgenIy was thes
involvel in drug rescarch nprecrazs. zny el whisk weote
heing conlusied by ST s, whose f3riiities
were insdsuuate. in oraer to facilitate ‘the oagein;: .
resardh prozracs, it was decided tc expedite she »uildiag
prearaT Py sentrihuting te it thTouzh a meckhanien Tisi was
alse bein: used te fund some® of the reseazch prejesss..

P—a—— “T

r
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~



105

SUTJZCY: Regues: for Guidance on Mandling Recently
szazed, HLULTRA Material

€ couxd be controversial in.that it was

Techanisc making it appear to be a private

vate donations qualified for, and —

ived, an equa) amount of Federal matching

* irom the Office of Geacral Counsel dated

< attesting to the legzalizy of this funding
: . Temt - g

'
Hagh [1 v g pee

LI R, N ]

~The centri
made thraous
donatien. =
S0 T
funds. A e
" 21 Fedruars
is in the =ile
T age e M . - .
TRt 8.7 (Y TALUD)  The Lepislatzive Counsel has beed
zade sware e the existence of these additfenal NXULTRA
docuzents whiIi are still under reviev and sanitization.
The MARAS za2e is in liczipation and we are committed to
advise Xr. Haris el the existence of these files shor:ly,
and to CeliveT tie releasablie material te his attorners
by 31 Jrlr. A dester froz the Infor=aticn 2ad Privaey.
Staff to Mo, Mitkser grtomners inforzing thea of the
existence o7 this raterial is in the cocrlination process
and is s3ieluiel to be mailed on 24 June. -

>
s

. {VFAITDY TRere are now iwo-actions that should
be takea: .-
»

_Rale arrropriately sanizized material to
vr. sevrzs’ 2

-]
ornevs as required by FIlA litigzation.

Ta the Senate Sclect Committee of the

L tes

e ----c
exisisage ¢l the recently locited records prior to
infer=iz; Nr. Marks' atvtornayvs.

£ is reccmended that rou approve of both of these actions.
& (U/AIUC) If additional details qn the conteats

of this m2Terial are dosired, the OTS offfcers most familiar
witRh it arve 7Prepared to brief you at your convenience. '

D;-.;' S. (57 e iosas

; : - . Davrid §. Brandwein - :

T, - L Director .t .-
: {1ice of Technical Service

=
—
e r.g ., -
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The Drexaor of Central Intelligence
Tt 0 C 1O

The Honorable Daniel K. Inouye, Chatrman

Select Cosmittee on Intelligence

United States Senate ' : _
Mashington, D.C. 20510

Dear Nr. Chairmn:

During the course of 1975 when the Senate Coemi ttee, chaired
by Senator Church, was inves:igating {ntelligence activities, the
CIA was asked to produce documentation on a program of experimentation
with the effect of drugs. Under this project conducted from 1953
to 1964 and known as "MK-ULTRA,® tests were conducted on American
citizens in some cates without their knowledge. The CIA, after’
searching for such documentation, reported that most of the documents
on this matter have been destroyed. I find 1t my duty to report
to you now that pur continuing search for drug related, as well as
other documents, his uncovered certain papers which bear on this
mtter. Let me hasten to add that [ am persuaded that there was no
previous attempt to concea!l this matsrial in the original 1975
exploration?” The mterial recently discovered was in the retired

_archives filed under fiusncial accounts and only uncovered by using

extraordinary and extensive search efforts. In this coanection,
fncidentally, 1 have personally commended the esployee whose dilfgence

produced this find.

Because the new material now on hand {s primarily of a financial
nature, 1t does not present a complete picture of the field of drug
experimentation activity but it does provide more detail than was -
previously available to us. For exanple, the following types of
sctivities were undertaken:

a. Possible additional cases of drugs being tested on
Aperican citizens, without their knowledge. ,

b. Research was undertaken on surreptitious methods of
administering drugs.

c. Some of the persons chosen for lxperl-entatilcm were
drug addicts or alcoholics.

d. Research into the development of a knockout or "K” -
drug was performed fn conjunction with being done to .
develop pain killers for advanced cancer patients, and tests

on such patients were carried out.

"‘-"‘1 L R 1T Y . \4-./-»1
'
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e. There is a possibility of an improper payment to a
private institution, '

The drug related activities described in this newly located material
began almost 25 years age. [ assure you they were discontinued over
10 years ago and do not take place today. _

In keeping with the President's commitment to disclose any errors
of the Intelligence Commumnity which are uncovered, I would 1ike to
volunteer to testify before your Conmittee on the full detafls of this
unfortunite series of events. ! am in the prucess of reading the
fairly voluminous material involved and do want to be certain that
I have & complete picture when I talk with the Committee. [ will be
in touch with you next week to discuss when hearings might be :
scheduled at the earliest opportunity. ‘ )

I regret having to bring this {ssue to your attention, but I know
that 1t is essentis] to your oversight procedurus that you be kept fully
informed in a timely manner. :

Yours sincers

77

STANSFIELD TURNER
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APPENDIX C

DOCTMENTS REFERRING TO SUBPROJECTS

GewoEOM WP Ly 199

STAITCT:
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Provosal: Allocstion of $1000 for sciml experisests, to be

111

— e ——

Oujective: To stuly tha possible syvergistic acticm of drugs
which mny b sprropriate for use in a‘béu.-uu comacicusuass,

Situsticn: Thare {s reasce to believe that two ar more drugs,
uedheuhtutun, mm droc'tumnuhdﬂp

Thw mu affect of soms drugs, mh a8 combirations of
mmm, aresinown. With otber combiratiens,. the degren
xmumm Ifeultdmhhml-utcnﬂ
to exist, two pnnt.hmt‘xu mst be considered: (1) that s
particularly oseful combimsticn msy be fomd, snd {2) sbat a
me;nr'emmunwu hazardons becsase of {ts effect
ca rurl.nttn [ 3 0- other vital functicn. To minimize
aczards, anima)l experimsnts shr.lnld precede hmma experiments.

dravh oo 83 teeded, That experizen.s be conducted I.urd:nu:r

8 — L mﬂ.tﬁw‘-‘ a specific graat, and vith appropriate cover.

———
——

it v i vl [

P P Y]

Paran Bruriry P

r—-l.ﬁ



e

Gbjective: - To yhuly aethols for the administration of drage

withoat the Imowlsdge of the patient. Preparatice o & mmml,
S R

Mathod: Amqaf.ﬂuﬂsvﬂg_&hwhnmﬁ.wmh
for surTeptitious sdministratics of drugs. Amslysis of the
prychodyosmics of lttﬁttm af this sature,

N . -, "F
Proposal: Thst $1000 be allocated for this parpose, fucds €9
te requastad n oeeded. )
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MEEANGK PR TER XELXRD
SIAIICT t Project MCULIRA, Smbpxoject B 2

3. Budproject 28 would isalnde the follewings
(a) JRsoallamscnd resscroh and testing esrvises
ia the gesarwl fiald ef METIIRA,

. (w) musm-dddlbﬂm.
ia the NEILYRA those laeated ia

< —

(¢) Memitering of eslested prejects in the
- . when looated ia the emtrel

< —

() Services as & geoaril consultsnt sad edviser
ia the MEIITRA £1ald,

) (.)_i.“nmununiunndn-lﬁﬂ
C AN = o S o<ax) -

{— =g

viil be reimbursed for kis sevises
Teosipt of ea invoies at irregular
Than trevel cpanses ere incurred: through
ase of & emmcm sntrise, they will be docgmentad amd
reinbareed 12 the wsoal smer; thet Ls, echsistant wvith

"
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MOCRADOH MR TIR BECCED
STACY: Project MITLTRA, Subproject 14

1.. Scdbproject 15 is & comtivmtion of Subproject
mum-mum«mum
mw.um«mummu—c
igtarest to CD/7SS and APD/rSS, e facilitiss vere set up wnier
Subproject 3, and Subproject 16 is intendsd to provids for the
coutiomd mistasance of the faetlitiss. . .

i

3
m«rmmw-rwummnmmmem
costs of alteraticms, equ’Tment, and iaftial sppliss vares wdar-
sstinated 17 Subproject 3; mmmucmunmm
16 at txis time. : . .

3. Subprojest 16 vill de edndocted vyiBIEREEEEIN « C
Certain suppert sctivities will be Jrovided uy CD/fSS

and AYD PSS, .
k. The sstimted cost far & puricd of aue yesr 1a §7,740.00.
4
PECGRAM APYROVED - -
ABD IICOINIED:

—‘&.—*
Date; = .

Origizal Cmly, .
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MECRAIDOH FOR TTR NECORD

STAICT: Project MEXTISRMA, Subprolect 3
1. The scope of tils project i» socorpass all o
those actirities now engured 4a Uy tis w
10 1% cwn Zacilities updar the directiom of CD/T ll
At the present time the vaTicus nrolects at this facility (ﬂ”’

are delag cooclaied 3nd it 12 dsesed dasiradls

A =
:mmmmammwmmuumummmup

Jects 74t & sirgls project Eore Jecatil ia its q,—.-.-.'l:g.

2. ‘T attacksd piogpoeal frie Dr. tes the
aztent of the lavestigntions that his facilities will allor dia 30
carry out on the catarials developed in the three ralects Telerted
to ia paragruph 1, as 7ell as certel: cther matecials af isTaTest %O

. D alie parves &s 3 swearal commultant to this
diviziem 3 caver and cut-out Jacilities to the ijeaszr.

&
3. Lhw&:mdm:m:«zru;mﬂ#ﬂmﬁn
et exceed $52,700.0Q.
G, .
b, Dr. Been Zanted 3 777 Secrwt Clsarcoes W

ths Asency end is fully 2apaile of Frotectisg the secwrity of the
Comerr=ez%'y ‘atazest 1a such catters as this, :

FACI2AL JPYSOVED APPROVED 71 (RLINATICN
aD TomsITTED: C? ¥aDs:

R ISRORESENCH
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m&&cwrumwa:mm
will thus amowmt to $37,700.00.
3. The incresass in soope respoasidls for this propossl scusists of

the development and yartial financing of twe nev souToes of dialoglcally
sctive compounds of imterest ia the prograa TSSAD is eerrylag aut.

(N

. Eé,ﬁﬁ

Date: ﬂa& 1) 9L

mm&r
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their terminal {llassses. The total funds expended in this fashicen
ascunted to $658.05 snd full value was received. . ..

3. Tt is requested that the Chief, T35 indicats his knoviedge

and epprovel of this particular expenditurs for gudit purposes.

L)
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21 December 1554

MDSRANTEY FOR: Director of CantTal Intelligence
SUBJECT : Project MIULTRA, Subproject 35 _

1. While tle Director's statutory autbority to expend funds
for coafidentisl purposes is oot limited by lav, w beligve that
ssﬂtof@mﬁﬁﬁ:unﬂwﬂm:&ﬂaﬁworme
Cozgress in granting that pover. EcJever, vhese & §gift is mde
for the exrvress Turpode of producieg sccetlirg of valus to this
Agency vhich caanot cthexvise be odtairai apd there is a ressom-
able expectztion that tha valte may be received, the gift =may in
effect be ac expenditure for proper officizl pTposes. _

2. Io Subproject 35, 1% 1s stated thas the dooatlon in
questioa vould schieve cerzain ends desired by IS5T Thtse SCEnS
t5 be no question that those ends would be advantageous, S0 the
main questicns appesr to be whether they eould not be sttained
by more direct, nermal metbods, and, if oot, whetber the retwmxa
18 necessary and reasonadls ia relsticn -to the donation.

3. We ere in no position t0 reviev the requiresents of TSS
or to appoaise the advantages that would result froa this project.
We do Dot co=ment, therefors, on the value received 1f the
project results in the benefits foresesn. Ve feel v should
corment on factors affecticg the probability of achieving those
ents. In & legal sense, thers is little or po co3tIvl. - (uce
the furds are dosated, tbe individual, his foundation, or the
hospital e¢ould conceivably refuse to work for us or allov us the
use of the facilities. .

b, Practically, ths contrcl seens to be estsblished es vell
a8 cirqupstances permit., Certainly, as long ss the individual is
alive and in his present positicn, ve have svery ressan td expect
bis complets cooperstion in the future as in the past, vnless
tirough scsa act or feult of our ovn he 1s alienated, Even in the
event af his death or incapacity, thers sppesrs to te a reasooabdls

- -

Pommsradad 29: Sy
:: attesrity of; 18‘7;7;"# -
4333t Juas 1979 - | )
~
..... Copy # 1 of 1 copy

o.w:- 5 = |
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IS wthese Frotatilictles eppaar

cnonce af COAtIBulrg Whe Tloject. :
the cxperniliure, thore

sufTicZeas =3 e€htaln a3 agequate reLurn fIr .
cen be £o legol objection to THis sspccet of Tha projacs.

S, Is should be moted that there sre two &ircumstances wkich
rsquire consideratics ic a final detcrmination. As stalad in
Section V, qur contributlon, by appearing to be from & privete
soures, would {ncrsase thes =eichiagz Govert—ant consTibution by a
sisilar amount weich wvould not be the case 1f it vere ova that
this vas in fact a Caver—=nt cort=ibuticn also. Secoodly, it is
the stated policy of the Rospital to charge the Goverzment exd
commereial cronnizations 80 jer cent overhesd on researth coniracts,
vbereas peapsofit foundaticns pay only dizect ¢osts but 2o ovarzead.
Because of th: osteasible source, oo projects vill pot be chargsd
o7echead. This could Be eonsirued -3 mbrally wrongful to the
hospital, as norzally we would tay tis 80 per ceat overhesd
charse for poujects perlarmed directly for us, but I Jelieve
this can be offse%, &t least to the azount of our donatiocsn, and
perhaps by the further asount by vhich the other Goverm=ent copiri-
buticns are incressed by our decation. Ia eay case, i the
prolect i3 a proper oss asd cust e soformed in tais mansaer,
security dictates these circumstences and they, therefore, do

pot preseas a legal obstacle as such,

6. We ra‘sed the dquasticn vhether f=mis for tha bespital
construction could 0t be cbtelaed fiva other zorsal charitable
souress, It sposered that there was a STTOLZ pOssitility that
the indtvidunl corcerned could raise sdequata finds frea nrivate
resources, but it vas tie position of TSS that if this vers tas
czse We would ont obtain the-scmmitaent Trom the individusl and

the degres of control which this r.roj7 is desigred to achieve.
| Mf@éﬁ e,

LAWRENCE R. HOUSTZ!
General Counsel

1t 18T
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B april 1955 .

e

MTIoRNTS FOR:  Chisf, LD/P/TSs

;
SUBJCT :. Amend=ent to Zubzrdjest 35 of Project ITITAN

W3 have motsd youxr =s=crondu= of 6 April 1955 t5 the
Birectar reauesting en incrense cf $250,000 for the TSS

9

;D Sudcer for this Frojact., This request 4oes not affsct

in aay ey the comments in oy memcerzandus= of Z1 Dae

ezoar 1954,

Nengraded to: SinalSRivhbiew

b7 gutRosity of: 187475 A
<xta: Juna 1077 AL

2 LMPDET; CL DY 187478
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§ Kay 1555

A paticn of ‘..‘Ls Roasarch and Develcrmcat Pregrea of
TS3/Coazieal Divicicn 13 devoted o the discovery cf the
Loll-wirgz pavarisls cnd asthods:

1. Substances wkich wvill premote 1llezical thinling
and i—ulsivenass to ths point whara the rscipiant would de

discreditad in public,

- 2. Substances vhich increase the efficiency of z
tion and parcepilica,

3. Matardals walch vill pravent or eqmterset the
1::1'.:::!.:1&.‘..:; affazt ar alcouol,

b. Matarials wvhich will prozote the J.nta:leatig al-
Legt of alcobol,

.. 5, Materials vhich will poodose the signs end syosti=a
u:mog;-ddamhawuusuyuthnttww

be uasd for maliugering, sto,

6, laterialg vhich will reader ¢ke induation of h;posi-
eagisr or otharvise canance its urefulness, )

7. Substanzes vhick vill spokance the ability of irlla |
sidusls to wvithztaed priveiicn, tort=s and goorcim curing
interrczation 2od so-c3lled Fhrsin-vashing®,

8., Msterinls ard physical methods vhich will produce
amnesls for eventa precadirg and darirng thuir use,

9. Phyzical mattods of p:'ccu...Lz chock and eenfusicn
over c=tendxl pariods of tims aad ea.,.abl. of susTeptitious

10, Substancas vhich produce physical disablezant mich
&s paralyais of the lsgs, acate aneaia, sto, )

v od tus
.

197y Torecouslny e LTUD
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11, Substcacss Ghiaeh will produsce "pire™ cupheris vilh ne
gabsoqzent let-down, . i

- 12, Substacces vhizh altar porsomality struoture ia such
a 1Ay thst the tandsasy of tho recipicat to teccas depmdent
upen another parsca s omtanced, .

13, 4 pataris] whieh 41l eange meatal comfusicn of sush
8 type that the individual =ddar 1%0 izfluemes vill 2ind 4%
difricelt to maintain o fabrication under quectioning, ;

14, Substancas wvhich vill lousr tho embitica and
gonsral vorking efficicasy of men whan scministared in
uzdatootabls azounts, :

15, Substonces vhich preoots weelness or distortien
af the oyezizht o hearing feculties, praferzbly vithout

perzazect effecta, .

18, 4 kmeskrut pill which con curréptitiously be
soed in doisks, frod, cignreites, cs on earcsol,
te., videh vill be exla to use, provids e cavimm eof
s ks zuitabls for vas by agent Uros m e

basis,

1 mxtarial uhich can be curropiiticusly adminda-
by tie atove routes and vhich in very sall e==:ts
rake it iowazible far a Ean to perfosn a3y piyoical
Y vratsver, : .
The developmant of caterials of this Colleus the -
gtzadesd prastics of such ethicnl doug houses as ~— }_2
AR It i3 & ralatitely routico procedude to devalop a arug
$0 the point of hu=an testing, Crdizarily, tha drug bouges dapend
upoa the carricss of privats physieians for the finsl elinieal
testizz, Tas phyricisns sro willing to asm=e the rorconsibdility
of sush tests in cod=r to edvence tho seiccce of medigins, It
is d1%0icilt and scvetines irpocsible for TSS/CD to offer uch
en indher—mmt with rocpect to its products, Ia practige, it hes
besn possible to use cutxide clcared oontruatirs for the prelizinsry
poacas of this vork, Excgver, that part vhich invelvss Imran
taotizy at eff:zotive dose levels presents mcurity problexs vhich
eammot bs bordlsd by the ordirary ccontraetor,

il
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. by $350, 000 which will result in a financial sitatien ¢ follows:

126

—

- ST 10 May 1983

.

SUBPROVECT 35 OF PROJECT MKULTRAA

1., Subproject 35 as approved by the DCI on 13 Janwary 1955 contemplated 2
fioancial comeribution of $125%, 000 to the t -
participata in the constructlon of & a4 research wing to cost 53, 000, 000
exclusive of fursishings and equipmnent, ' “Agency funds will be traasmistad

througzh the ad cut.gut which - - ]
will result in sne -sixth Space ia the naw researdl wing being made
availsble for Agescy-spensored recesrch lavalviag covert biological and
chemical techuiques of warfars,

2. At that timae {15 January 1955} 4 winca - 8
encouragemeat indicaced a willingieas ta contribete $500, 000 o the constyuc-
tion fund, Thae bulldiag fusd was to have been raised as follows:

$1, 000, 000 - Contriduted by (NGNS - 8
250, 000 - Depaticn {rom EMMNEENEEEMPoL vaich - 3
$125, 000 to ba sapplied by CIA
1,250,000 - Matching fuads under Public Law 221 equal
ts the amousnt of the two above contributisns
__s00,000 - QEINENSEEN - [

%3, 000, 000 - TOTAL
-8

3. Since it now appears that tis sxpected coatribution by _ will not be
forthcoming, permission is requested to Increase tae Agency's contribution

$1, 000, 000 - Conrributed by -3
$00,000 - Doaaton from including . 8
$375,000 supplied Sy CIA
1, 300, 000 - Matching funds under Public Law 221 equal
to thl_w of the rwo abovs contributions

' $3, 000,200 - TOTAL -

4. Tle Agency's contriburios would thus total $37$, 000, This investment,

together with the equal sum resultisg from matched funds, is fully justified

in the opinian of TSS for reasons which willbe explaized by Sl - <
Chief, TSS, and Dr, Sidaey Gortlieb, Chlef, T35/Cusmical Division,

The scope of subproject 15 has not changed since the Director orijinally

approved & request by T35 for permission to spand $125, 000 of availadls

Rotmmms o> ,=-7-4 /M—L...-&.f‘b/ | P S
/% £ & ﬂwt.—., s g }_._;;-..-_"sq-_.’-__-.’_ﬂ‘
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i ,H . .
B iy fer this FUTPOSE ireugh the comtrels amd procedures esmablisned
gme sabprojact 35 waa set up withia the scope &f
srangemaents

Ter s ULTRA. Al the

r.e .55 RLD aToram, security consideratinns axd cover 2

were caretally revieY and the Office of Geseral Counsal 8¢

Avte pimnAtionss With the exception of funding arrsagjemnents, Bo ¢

¢ » aregram bave since been made,

v, Fands to cover praviously appreved sum

wiiin the TS wdget for TY 53 and bave bjan set sside. The TSS

Liud :ct, howevel, lacks funds writh wkich to the sepplemesntal sun
4 that the T3S R Gdget be inczeas

s&sé. 000, sad itis regueste
Supplemeanry funds awvailable for cubpreojact

obligated by the and of FT 55, _ .

trmmerednd too-JIRD

S zinerily of 1 LTS

cater June 1977 .
"_-'u

I uoTeD; CL Y LONiTS
-2

sisted im legal .
hanges in

4128, 000 are available

ed by this
35 can definitsly be

-
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AMENDMENT TO SUBPROJECT )8, PRCIECT MXULTRA

—

For the Purposs of Establishing a Cover Orgamsation far Highly Jeasitive
Projects in the Fiald of Biological, Chemical and Radialogical Warfare

L Background of Subproject 35,

Ia Jasuary 1933 approval was gives by the DCI ts Subpraject 35 of Project
MKULTRA. The documants which lead to this approval (including comments
of the OGC) are sttached berewith as Tabs 2, A and },

Project MXULTRA |s the Iramework of procedurss and centrols wadar which
rescarch projects i certain highly seasicive flalds are carried out Wy TSS.
A description of the dackground of Project MEULTRA may be lound om

page !l of Tab A,

Subproject 35 establishes cever under which the Chemical Division of
DD/PITSS would conduct certain seasitive projects in the flelds of wlological
and chemnlcal warfare and consists of & proposed sarrangemaest whereby the
Ageacy covertly coatributas funds to assist th -
in the censtructioa of a new research wing, Centribation of these

funds ie 'to be made through the -
S s cut-cut so that the weuld remain o &
unwitting of Agency participatien ia the building program. Prejects would
later be carrisd out by the Chemical Divislas usiag the facilities of the
new research wing, and Agenty employees would be sble to participats
in the work without the University or the Hoepital suthorities being sware

. of Agescy interest. Subproject 35 contamplated the contridbution of Agency
funds to assist in the ¢construction of facilides, Future research work
would be carried out through the as cut-out and weuld be = A
separataly funded under existiag procedures and cantrols,

and the background of = B
ANARENREATER 21« described on page 2 of Tab A, On the
sama pags thers will be found & further description of the (NS - 3

4

- -

. Building Fund

The University will require $3, 000, 000 for the six-dtary sddition to the
hospital exclusive of the cest of land, heating and power wsupply which are
being previded by the University. Under Public Law 121, Subapprepriatics

Ir—rrCepy b Tilipane

- . Draimaniey e LETATS N
T orer Zane 1EVT ™,
e L2 CL Ll ATV
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&4}, dated 26 Auguet 1954, funds sre available to r:utch funds raised lor

tua purpose by the Univereity.

Waen Subproject 35 was first srepared, {t was hoped and cxpected that the
(unds required would be provided as [ollows: The Univeraity bas allocated
$1, 860, 000 ta this project and will assamme upkeep tnd smlficg obligations.,
agreecd that if the Ageucy would provnide SRR - 2
wath & grant of $125,000, the Fund would match this amount and

make 3 total donation of $250, 000 to the Univer sity Buildiag Fiad, At that. B
.

time, discussions with
{ndicated that «INS woald contributs $500, 000
gical research would be

don of the sew faczilitien
fipancial siteation was

ta the Duilding project on the basis that ra
conducted in the new wing and that the cons
was of interast to that Ageacy. ia summary,
to have bees as follaws: B

$1, 000, coo - WIS - — A !
250, 000 - Dosation (rom SN o which = D
$125, 000 was supplied by CIA) .
1,230,000 - Matched Funds usder Public law 221
s00,00¢ - vl - R :
37,220,000 - TOTAL B :

1,250, 900 ender Public
ol the inclupion of the CLA
It was {elt that the value @
inflation of the Federal contribution was more

7 -all projeact and that {furthermare,
was the

It was recognised that the Foderal centxibution
Law 221 would be seemingly inflatsd by reas
contribution ia that of

tha Agency was such that tsds
than jastified by the importance of the ove
the inclusion of the CLA contribution im that of
best means of maintainiag security. N

The origlnal Informal commitment 'sn,{e. p;/u —,vu first abtalned

throuzh verbal discussions with .which were feligwed
up ¥y an exchange of correspondenieRatwaen the DCI and - &

Unfertunately as that “hﬂy occupied with the contro-
verey concerning the and continued costast with 3 - C

SR ubordinates resulted in & decision that could ot ot

wouiil Ast contribute to the Bailding Fuad, but would bt ing 1o suappurs

2o aanual research program amountig to $50,000 10 $5,0 It is not
L]
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known whether this changt in polcy was suggested o HJERENERS or ~
whether it aeiginaced with Aim. Be lhac as it may, when the change in
policy became apparent, it was avident that additional funds would be re-

quired to completn the bhoapital constructisn,

1v. Su‘;eﬂld Funding. . W

It {5 now suggested that the $3, 000, 000 required for the hospital wiag be

provided as lollaws: -
)

. 500,000 « Donatiea (rom (tacluding — ¥
$375, 000 supplied by C1A)
1, 900, 900 « Matched Funda from Public Law 121

3,000,000 « TOTAL 8

-
The donation [rom ould thus consist of the origiasl
$12%,000 to be supplied by GLA plus the sum of $115, 000 to be provided oy

the Fund and & sxpplementa] CIA contribution of $250, 000. Origiaally
Subproject 33 requestsd permission to mskz a contribgrion of $125,000 tw

the bullding fund and appreval was given. This appreval le enclosed

herewith as Tab 2. The purposa of this amendment te Subproject 35 Iy to  ~
requcst permission to contribute an additional 3230, 000 to the bulldiag
consiruction fund tarough Wi IMGEIERAER It shouid be aoted that ~ o
the total Government coutribution to the hospital fund stll remains

unchanged at §$1, 875,000, The incresase in the size of the contribution

by the Fund s not eut of kaeplag with other oparaticns of GRS and wint ~ &
Bot arouse undue commaent because of its magnitude, The eriginally approved
contribution has oot as yet been tranemitted toglifil and neither the
original coatribution nor the supplemant would be paid ol ol . 2
(unde sdequate to compiete the project are mads available, Tais ceadition
was speeified by the DCY in appraviag the original coatribution.

V. Source of CIA Fands,

Funds to cever the initially approved suma of $125 000 are available and have
been segregated for this purpase within the TSS FY 1953 Budget for Research
and Developmaent, Imsuflicient funds remain in the TSS budget to cover the
supplementary sum of $239, 000, and it s therefore requested that the TS3
burdgvt be increased by this ameunt and that the increase he made available
to Subproject 38 of Project MSULTRA,

R P . .
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YI. Cornmaents by the Offiee of Geaeral Caunsel. -

Tas 3 {1 8 memorandum (rom thae General Counsal s the DCI dated 21
December 19%4, commaesting oo Subpraject 35, and staciag in part that

there are no fundamental legal objections if the probable benefits are con-
sidered a fair return for this expenditure., The amandmesnt to the Subproject
contamplates enly an increase io funds snd in 00 way changes any other
aspect ol the project, The project has been referred back o the QGC even
thowgh no change ia its sructure is contemplated, and Tab & cootains his ;

commants.

VIL Jastifleation. -
Fl

The sdvantages and benellts accruing to the Agency outlined ln Tab A are
{eit by TSS to provide adequate and complate jastification for e expenditure
of the additional sum herein requestad which brings the total CIA contribu-
ties ta §37%, 004, The most imporu.nt of thase advantages and banallts

may be summarised as follows: (Fuller explanations may be found ia Tab A}.

a. Ome-sixth of the total space {n the new hespital wing will be
available to the Chemical Division of TSS, tharsby peoviding labora-
tory and office space, techaical assistants, squipment aod experi-

mental animals,

». Agency sponsorship of vensitive rassarch projacts will be
completaly demiable. ' : ;

c. Full professional cover will be provided for up to three bis-,
chemical employess of the Chamical Division.

4. Human patients and volunteers for experimantal ase will be
available uader contrelled clisical conditions within the full

supervisisn of -

Subpreject 33 was originally conceived la October and November of 1954,
and the ¢nsuing six months have indicated that inéreasing smphasis and
impertance sre being placed e the Chemical Division’s work in this field.
The facilities of the hospital and the abillry ta conduct controlled experis
ments under safe clinical conditions uveing m:.terials with which any Ageacy
conmection must be completely denisble will augment and cemplemant other

programs receatly taken over by T53, such a2 -—
Pt ernisd Laonaaiihiliie T e
. atlarite el JTATS :
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e

It was ariginally thought that at leas: 18 months would elapse alter the
building furds had been reised before the facilities wauld be figished and
caould Ye occupied by T3S, This lengthy delay hae now baen arercoma.

- B
has raised the $500, 000 which hus Fund will estensibly coatridute,

Be will tiven be allowed to nae existing space la the present hoapital ia

order that he may build zp the organization whick will later occupy the naw

wing, This means that TSS will be sble to begin to take sdvantage of this

thia a matter of months instead of waiting for & year and

caver sifuation wi
a half,

VI, SvcurltI.

Security matters and datails ara being co~ardinated with the TSS Lialson
and Security Officez, Securiry of transmittal of the funds and cover arrange-
ments are describad in Tab. A and remain wmehanged,

IX. Agresment vi&“_@ L~

- w C :
The agresment with is descrided in Tad A, and the extent
of his ¢o-operation aad the conirol aver his actions remain uachanged.

!

X. Rerultant Fisancial Saving,

The tatal contridution of $375,000 by CIA will result in an additiomal
$375, 000 ia matching funds provided under Public Law 221, 1t is Lelt that
the expenditure of thear total funds is justified by the importance of the
programs which will be pursued at.the new facility. Even though the CIA
contribution 1s lncreased under this amendad prejact, the total af Faderal
funds remains unchaaged. The use of this facility will allow work to
procecd under conditions uf cover and sacurity which would be impoasidle
to oblain cleewhere without an expenditure of equivalent ar greater {unds,
tn addition, by funding iadividual prajects for this iacility through the
Bo charge will be incurred for everhead expense, U

research projects are openly sponsered by the - (3
U. S. Covernmaent, it is customary fo pay an overbead rate equivilent
to 0% of salaries. However, if a son-prefit fund, such as SRR - 3

sponsors research, the funds granted for the work are custamarily
used only to pay lor salaries, equipment and suppiles, but Dot overhead,
* The Azency thus buys considerably more research through -8
I han vould be the case U 00 cut-out were nsed.
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SUBPROJECT )% - PROJECT MKULTRA -
For the purpose of establishing & cover orginizatos for highly
seasitive projects in the field of covert Blological, Chemical
and Radialogical Warfars

1. Backgrouand of Profect MKULTRA.

In 1953 the DCI approved Project MKULTRA which estahlished procedures
and controls under which resanrch projects ia certaln highly sensitive
flelds could be carried out by TSS without the necessity of signing the

usual contracts, The approved procedures n”lyq -
over-all Researeh and Development budget, and ne additioval funds

are requized. Cootrels establiebed lu tha Project Revisw Commiitas
approval of the Research and Developmest program (other than the

signing af & eontract) remala unchangsd, and specisl provisiens for

audicare included. All filas are retained by T3S,

Thees proccdures and controls were approved since it e highly un-
destrable irom s polity and security poiat of vidw that gantracis be
signed Indicating Ageacy or Goveramest interest in this fleld of en-
deaver. In & great many instances the work must be canductad by ia-
dividuals who are set and should not be Awars of Agescy interest. In
other cases the individusls lavolved are unwilling 0 have their namee
on & contract which remains out of their control {n our files, Lzpearieace
has shown that qualified, competent lodivideals in the field of phyelo-
logical, psychiatric and other biclogical scisnces are very reluctant
to enter ints signed sgreements of any sort which would connect them
awith this activity sinde such connection might serisusly jeopardize
their professional reputationa. . .

When Project MXULTRA was approved, it was st contemplated that

it would be ased for the establishmaent of cover. Ovar forty individual
rescarch and development projects have been establishad under thia
{ramawork and have baen carried out extremaely successfully, both

{1om tachnical and administrative points of view, The experiance
gained in handling thess projects has smphasised that establishmaent

of Bettar covar bath for the projects and for associated Agancy scientists
is of utmost lmportanca, ‘Suhpnjcct 35 would establish sach cover,

T
T SItetily af: 137478 D rrmre-Gapy 1 Apnagiiitinery
T lemr 1077 m'"’_--a-. - . aumtherity off MITTS 3,
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i, Background of vhe SENEEROCAERSNRES -

T e GRENE . -+ incorporated in - 8
., It has & Board of Directoss of six
members, ont of wham 1o o acts a3 Executive = <
Director of the Fund, YNIMBERERR it bas solicited funds from various - a

of baslc research in the chemotherapy
matic disordars and other 8 .

individuals to floance & program
of cancer, ssthma, hypertension, psychaso

chraaic diszases, Since 1951 'hu-eo—opuuut-i;h.un. .
Chemical Division of TS5 and acted smoothly and efficiently, both as
a cut-gut for dealing with contractors ia the fisids of covert chemical _ .
aod biclogicsl warfare, and as & prima contractar for certain areas of
bialogicsl research. Prejects presseatly being handled [or the Agency
by the Fund are administered under the controls and proceduras

praviously approved far MXULTRA.

-

-t

is istarpatiosally kaows &$ Yy ™

ie the field of WP Tescarch sad is # -
Ih the past 245 been associstead in

 "Background of

|

s ressarch capacity with bath the -8
Du-ing the war SRRy ¢erved as +OR -
the Navr, Slace them ke hae

in the Burean of Maedicine and Surgery in
maintained & consulting relationship to the Navy medical rassarch pro-
gram. is TOP SEGRET cleared and witting of Agency = <
sponsarshlp of the programs carried out by the Fund as are two othar

members of the Fund's Board of Directars.
o o J

scnvely engaged in 3 campaiga to raise funds

ar the purpose of erecting & new clinlcal ressarch wing on the existing
The research wing will consist ofa —

320 fext long and 30 feet wide, Twa-thirds
rataries and offices whils 100

ader. particle « €
tlined helow will result is his

space Ln addition to the base-

buildiag six stories high,
of the spacs will be Tesesrch labe
research beds will sccupy the remai
pation in the fund-raising campaign ou
having coutrol of onesaixth of the total

Eameeeandzd te: <puiiiishius e
Tr.ooimerity of: 1OTSTS N ot ’
e . . Copy # _/_o( Z copins
L oI 6 B
= S T

— .- -

- pafl

e o rres oy

A

=

Py e

r

o <

-

i wonn

[ e



136

- _ AN -
mant aad general out-patieat facilities., [o this efore, w -
has secuired the snthusiastic support of the medical faculty and the

olficers of the University who bave carried the preliminary arrangements

forward to the maximum extent of their resources,

VY. Fionancizl Situation.

The University will raquire sbout $1, 600, 900 for the olt"y addition,

This sur (s exclusive of the cost of land and the heating and powez supply,
- which are already avallable Tt the site® At the presest tiras under Publie

Law 221, funds are avallable to mateh funds raised by the Universicy.
The Universicy has allocatad $1, 00Q, 000 to this project and will assuzne
Spkeep and ataifing abligations,

will provide & grant of $125, 000, NP wil

match this amount and maxzae tal donation of $150, GO0 va the Univeraity

Building Fund. This Agency's contribution will be made under the con-
dition that it will be refunded U construction does pot take place,

TSS has dlacunsed u.i- rituation with

2od hat encoaraged QREIEID to dovate - N
- &

00, 000 to the Buiiding project an the basis that

will be conducted In the aew wizg.' JEEENMIIRNR thouzh awire of sur = 7

interest in the bullding, is uwwittiag of aur specific felds of research -

-and individual projects, [s simmary, the financial situation would be as

follows:

_,5'

- - $1,000,000 -
230,000 - Donauon frem
’ {$125, 000 supplied by ClA)
1,230, 000 - Matched Szmds from Public Law 22)
$00, 000 - -4 . ]
$3, 000, 000 - TOTAL .

Although it is recognized that the Federal contribution of 81,250, e'm under
P. L. 221 is sedmiagly iaflated by reasen of the inclusion of the CLA contri-
bution in that of h actually the valug to the Cla is -4

aragreed thar if Cla - C

-3 <

AN

B

$230, 000 and nat just $125, 000, .the amouat of CIA's contridution; further-

Mmore the inclusion of the CLA contributioa in that oy ]
WP s thc beost method of malntaining security, . )

- Dornzraded ter . . . .
Y= cotharicy o) is7ers . . )
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v1. Difficulties Faced by TSS.

or some time that the external re-

search sctivities of the Chemical Division of T3S in the field of covert
bielogical, chemical and radiclogical warfare are sorely in Deed of

praper cover, Although Project MEULTRA providas excelleat sdmini-

strative and financial cover lor projects, it does not afford covar for

scientific or technical persoanel. MKULTRA has bees used for i
dealing through &9 a cut-out and lor werking - .
directly with individuale ov-privats sompanies. The use of -
G2 the furure will be increasingly linsited-dus to :

I2 has been generally recognized !

{a)" Thas increasing pumber of propls who, albeit
propariy cleared, are aware of the Agency

connection with -

(5] Tha (acling by that the Agency — C
employees contacting him (Dre, Gonlisd,
atc.) have no covar of aay sart ad = C
consequently expose him to uanscessary and
highly undesirsble personal risk; and

(e} The widespreid intra-Agency awareness of
the nature of the relaticaship batween the

Fund and the Agency.

Another serious problam faced by TSS/CD as & rasult of lack of suit-
able covar is the difficulty in planaing carsers for techaical and
scientific personnel in the biological field. A long-rasgs career
concept of activities in this field inavitably includes proper cover for

the individual concerned, The availabilley of rasearch facilities
at 1l sffer an e=cellent oppartunity -
is willing =~ C

to solve many of the above probiems, and
and able to make any reasonible arrangements to sull eur needs, Up

to three Chemical Division employees can be integrated inta i ~ ¢
program for work 1a the sew hoopital wiag oo the
Agency's research projecte. Although career planning was ot &
consideration when plaening the procedures and contrels established
by Project MKULTRA, oevertheluss this particular subproject, ia
additian te its primary objective, will be of very great gccuquy help
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SO — Y

in simpiifying and elimusatiag magy o the very svkward and dangerous
conditions faciag certain Chemical Division smployess,

VTI. " Advantages and Banefits Accruing to T3S,

The contemplated arrangements will.Yesult in many advastages and
banefits, includiag the followisg

(a) Cma-sixth of the total space in the new ﬂnuc.l ’
wing is to te availaiie to - <
in turn, will be available o the Chemical
Division of T3S. This will provids laberatory
and olfice space, techaical assistaats, esquip-
0ent and experimental aaimals for use of Chamical
Division parvoasal in cecascriss with specific

future projecta,

{5} Tha cost of Chemical Division projects which are
to be carried sut under this cove; will be covered
by fusds made available through Project MKULTRA,
and projects will ba subject to the procedures
asd cantrols esiabllsded lor MKUL . The
funds will be passed through - A
@l 2s bas been done in the pist. NN
in tura will sither pay axpenses directly or
transfer the monay to the University for this
parpose. EKach prejact will be iadividually
funded based on its particular budget, snd there
will be 30 other continuing or recurriag chasrges
for itams such as space, facilities, eto

{c] The Agency's spensorship of sensitive ressarch
projects would be cumpletely deniabla since 0

~ comnection would exist betweda the University
and the Ageacy,

-

{) Excellent prefessional cover would ba provided
far wp to thres bis.chemical emplayses of the
Chemnical Division of TSS. This would atlow open -
aftendance af sciencifle maoetings,. the advancement
of parsonal standing in the sciemific world, and .
as such, would censtituts a uupt alficiency snd

:‘c—.-:rahi te! fjimamT, -
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morale beoatar,
.

{e) Human panieats and voluntec? for experimental
use will be ava.lable under excellent clinical
conditions with the full supervision of WINENEEES - }2

o

{(fi Thare would be available the equivaleat of 3
bospital salebaase.

{g] It is expected that the output of usaful results
of the Chemical Division io the bie-chemical
fleld will be greazly improved through the more
efficlent use of technical personnel who would
be able to spend mors of their time on sctual

laboratery work,

" EE—-

{f) Excellent facilities would be provided [or
recruitiag new scientific pervonnsl since
ma-abars of the Chemical Division warking under
this cover will be ia daily coatact with mambers
of the Graduate School of the University. :

" () The regular University Ubrary and reprina:
sarvice will be available a9 & sourca of
techaical iaformation,

VIll. Funding.

It is proposed that $125. 000 be grasted ta
approval is granted, T3S will arrange for payment te be mads under
the procedures and controls of MKULTRA, These funds would come
sut of the pressntly appreved TSS Research and Development budgm
for FY 1955 and ne new fuads are involved. Tie funds would be

transferred as a gramt Ia turn

will mateh these funds with an equal ameunt and donate & total -

of 5250, 000 to the University as sutiined ia parsgraph ¥, The sum of

_ $125, 000 would be eatirely la the niture of & grant and would in due

Ere=irated te: RN .
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¢ourys b merged with the aatire 33, 000, 000 raiged for the consiruc.
tlan of e wiag The Agency waould retaia so residual interent in the
building or Litle to any squipmnaent ar facilities purchased with thiv
money.

This single grant will conatitute the Agency’s entire pardcipation ia

the new hospilal wing, and there will be no recurring obligstions ia

the form of annual support of the hospital or additicval granta. Trass-
mission of Agency feads to will be made - 8
through previcusly establishad cover.cha.: +'z sat up by the

4l for similar transmittals in the past, as ir==ricn on @I -
W= Yooks will ba shown as having been received from aEEEEREEN. — B

iR -
- la the fature whea TSS aponsors sensitive research projects whick u.c

to be carried out la each project = A
will be Ladividually financed through i asithas
been in the pait Ln accordance with previously established precedures

aod cestrels using allottad portions of the axwual Research and Deavelop-
mant budget. The University will be totally aawitting of Agency
sponsership, sad the projects W n‘cry eutward appearance will be

sponsered by
-
In the event o/ CHNENNENIED d<sth, uElP will contimue in
being and asy sctivitias under this project will be coatinued through iy ~ £
will be unaifectad by his death, .

:

IX. Mamerandum of Agreement,

A memeraadum of agreement will be signed with NEEERENED — ©
outliziag to the greatest axtent possidle the arrangements usder which

the hospital space under his control will be made available 3o Chemical -
Divisien personne] and the manner in which cover will be previded and

other benafits obisised. No coatract will be signed since QNN -~
would be waabls to reflect any-of the Agency's contractual terms in his
arrangements with the University when oakes the = B
donatisa (n question. The memorandum of sgreement will be retained

in TSS. -
X. Security. )
All security matters and details are being cosordinated with the TSS/

o, tai190m and Sscurity Office, - .

=STETmCcd 18 e
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X1. Resultant Floancial Saviog. .

The $125, 000 ta ba cantributed by CIA plus the $125, 000 in matchiag {unds
provided under P. L. 221 to the Building Fund will be more than offset
in & few years by the savings which will result from use of this non-prelit
fund, If a research project at or other educa- -~ [
tional non.prefit institutdon is apongored by the U. 5. Goverameat, it
is custorsary for the Goveromaent to pay for salaries, equiprnent, ’
supplies, stc, and lor averbead as weil, In the cass of -8
the overhesd amaunta 1o 80% of salaries, However, i & noa-
profit loundation sach as ponsors TeseArch at s -
son-profit institution, ths funds granted for the werk are customarily
usad to pay for salaries, equipment and supplias but not for averhead.
The Goveramans dollar thus buys coasiderably mare research through

2 would be the cass if no eut-out were used -

XIO. Laegal Matters,

This matter has been discassed with of the Office — 4
of General Counsel, and he Lo fully aware of all details sarrounding this

- -y

. .
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LI&adCRANDUL FOR: THTD NICS22
SUDJECT 17 T11p Repart, Vien u“
: T April 1153

l. The purpose of tals triv wos W0 nage arrangenents far
clasiag out tha g 7o) . A 214 boen jivea ampte previous
aotice thit sucu vas Lxely to Se the ic2aat of t30 visit, sadl be pre-
pared himoeell accordiagly.

2. hmuﬂ&nd_!&ﬂhwﬂnuh
paesible to carry over [ands beyoas taoe sad of the coryax: fiscal
yoar, Tharsiore all worlt would have te be completed and ali par~
meats made prior ta 30 Juas, Tiis évadline a;psared sccagranle to
him, sad i waas agreed that [ would maks my Lozl vigil thare te
recelve Teports sod attend to flaal cetalls ea L6 Juze. PR JLd act
have & currect foaacial report, but ke estimated thas feads currestly
an hand wewld ba about sciilclient lor ye=3inlsg axpesditcres. Le
azrasd t» vand 114 Seciety wiials ths next 1O doys & more exact states
ment of curTent balance and estimated Femusicy axpamiliurss. [
tried te nprese as hio strongly this transfer of additisaal fards amd/
or retucn of uscxpended foads zust be car=plated well Toforg the e2d
of the flacal year.

3. Ofthe 10 cases callml for ia the origlaal desiyn 13 have
bean comapleted (but sly 4 have e tTaascribed (rom the tapes). In
addition there are § cases la pro.ress {of which two ars slreauy ia
ioterview aad & ars worksd up to the polot of haviag the Uasts of quesiians
preparsd). I8 was agrawd that to meet tae doadlise we woild have to
limnit the design to thess 26 cases.

4. It le apparast st WD s s0 luvolved in the administrative
problams of the project that he s 30l paying say 3%aation to the resulla.”
Siace te date ealy 4 cares have bees transcribed ticre is no way of talling
what ia comiag out of {2, | Assurne there wero s dramatic resctions, be-

cause the latarviewers would have lct him kaaww shdat tham bad they eraer;ed,

It ia possidble, bowever, th=t our owa saalysis af the data may dredge up
sametaing of valos, although I am dubicus oa this paist.

5. @B garve me bl wsusl lasg ixvolved talk wa the citllcultias
he bad encountared wiich accoust ior the delays. He also tallied sk scme
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jeagths abowt bis "“ewparuUmenis” wilh b sslia,

ere roullly Bals-ralawng. Jloally me :- ‘u&l-‘:‘:::l:’s::‘.wu 'ua.::
S$Oroe such Project Ay this vaxt yeasf. “wild realisiic, specillc daadlaas. ™
itold bam we would dlecnss posaibilities alier e prereat yrajeact was
esrmpleted and we had & chauce 10 clasely cxEAming Wis tazs.

Distribesion: .
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July 18, 1938

cesr - . VRN .

The ‘experiment designed %o test the effectiveness of

certain aedication in causing individuals to releass guarded i«
formation bBas been completed in sceordance with the original ex-
parimantal design, with the sxception that 25 Lnstead af 30 casas
ware used, This matter wvas discussed in mor¢ detall in my letter
of July 15. ibstracts cn all 235 cases, transeriptions of the in-
tearvievs, Vechsler-Bellevus Intelligenze Tests given at the has-
pital and previcusly givea at this clinie, past-experimental

rankings and evaluatian sheets, and a schedule covaring the drug
sdministration have ill been submitted to you undar ssparats

cover, v

Enclosed 12 & financial statenent wvhich repriisents the
fizoal accounting of the rfunds allocated Dy you for use iz this
project. 1f, for your purpose, you require a more detatled sum-
Rary of wvhat specific professicnal services vere performed or
Bore detall vith refersace to travel expenses orf any other item,
Xipdly let me Xnow, ) : .'.f

Iou vill nots, i this somnecficn, that Dr. val
compensated in sn amount sxceeding that'patd to Dr. Thats
vas gccasioned By the fact that . sffeat mu
the files and records at the

Prisca selecting cases that aign sultable for sur pur-
pose. It vas from the cases selected Dy Bia that the subjects
used in the axperiment vers finmally chosm.

) 1 have been instructed to write z check u‘ the Society
for the balance iz the account a3 of today. 1l would like to

Y r




nr. oaiiiibiiie Pace Two —

delay tnis matter for a lev days. Seversl checks Rave been write
ten during recent days, and I would like %o be surs they clearsd
tne bank iR before closing out the account. You will
recelve s check in the smount of $1356.26 sarly oext vesk.

If there 13 any additional information required, I will

be happy to cooperate. ;

foreey
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the rezcareny Prejact will be corvicd cut sb tte ANEMNEEES — 3

PRy 1o<atoc. s PE its —
e el
T )

liaspital has one thsmoard, cw hundrod ed tEirty-Sive (1,135) teda,
At the prosant tins thore aro one bundred and foiy=twe (2] men-
Torehoticy elusu‘h; as arL-:.-al-mai poyenopatis, Tuere aru foor
full-tire psyehictrista add varyiag pobers of meiadl interis; tup
perenolecisty; fowr seclal vortars; nurses mxd attoxdssii. TNy aper-

uma:m:::mum 2 witiine recer o O

af =y rEsesreh foam, (s Laciitmtian etros moder tha Mowmsilies 3t

—uwDwctive Seertary of Sho Siate leportemrt of Mavtal Nealit s

ay roopavel project 15 porrally srproved by bha Comcriizator ef Zos=zreh
af the $tate Twzericozt of lestal Healws. SEEEEENENER 11} :rcrs

0n

tats erroval. WEINPY aaiv spccs evmilsils and it 1 - C

possitle for who ruacarch teanl Lo £lecn 2t the Noszital wiails exrvyi=s

oat Skalr iovesiiz=tion,

Si;;t'- »od

) Tha soiiessz will Yo soloeted £33n the o Bmdend and Zorty-tue
(12) erlrizyledwnial pancehczathy on uvhom there 23 an cosfegss Frevious
invesiiatien Lslutine polleo roperts, pysical, soyetdatsic o=d
porhalesie empdoaiiang oud sselal bistorics, The ass range of ke

Bomncrazed to: Giidgabe
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canjTets varies [Ioa LLaily WD 299Tl7 jeOrT Sfd thare fto s e vesao

gtica of iatellinca lewals and socicl tosgroends,
.

e s m et
oSN En.o
E LI TR . -_

e felleuwisg ren are fuymated far tho resuareh toaoy
Y PGP - C
“, a p:.;'rv.‘-lulccist wao hep bad etonsive

Y eseriones Ly eresdsing erimifald; Fas it estonstvely

B poyehopsthie sorual dsrintionsa; is an authotity n paly-

oph o interTo=tion methoda. !

» e Yy - C

-

A rox cco thicty Tware; & psychiatrist vho has
soond his MOy i the toectzuat of tha erizingl irsary =4
miztoies tis ey iasiiiviics SENNNEE e the o — C
. and trextont for too crlminsleceral pEyhozatld.

“a:mmmm.mmnu - C

pEacticn, At the preacst tirs o 13 exelusiwaly devotiag

his tiowp to prrohesrcly=iz. EHo has had stenaliwe a=rericnce
eeseinios criztails, A3 a Havy sovhlateist Lo hos bod _
extansive epericace 1 (ERIINEREEENDINNEN, - C
RS i 1o f101d cf asstern enlteres, Oriemtal
w,m'm,cu. e has 0129 dom drog Loter-
recation with crisdeonls axf has ongagod in psreconslysia

and hymcanslysis,

Brrzersted ta: a———
by sutterity of5 LETerS . ==
t;zl.n Joae 13T
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o LIMATD e

m & zs;Tidatrist vho 43 en tho-(
it of ORISR -

WY ¢ r=iGitas & private praciice ia the fiell

af payeadziry, WRNENDERNE e i ds exparienca 13 —
voaling rith ari=insly goicr baclt scoe Lenty-five years,

ircluding dryz istermesaticn.
——— e —————— r

-

DA SENRNPEREREN ;1o cx.cnaive egeri- -

onco dualins wish all sortd of eriticals snd hes aoaged
in iraz 1ztorromtion. Lesidss Wis e1i7 positica, be also
malrialee e privste prociice 12 Sie fleld of goneral

. mxliciag,

D —
-

“‘h.—.: Szonstad can of the poyehfatriais froz — - O
big gtaff o is interesisd rd has used 2uos A0 AN treate

mct of pasionts and ki3 cioo used byrsosis =ith mental
pationts, Too reccareh assistants hav not bean oclacted
nm&tmtnummmﬂﬂa.#¢ermuum

atizztud to m. Do cectviury will — A

h“pmummvmunumﬂnmm- -C

acTy stamosrspbic work Ain ad iiiem to hor srwcont dsties. [ 9

‘ §|:

ol rvrt ) o) Blg

ren tits of td amler profozxiemal mra eaek i)l bo colscted. 5 -:'

Sa? teap worids: with e ssleeted preup ef petfosss udll usy strelcht E 3
SWTOtln, hrmiesiy LA Ryrnozis T il and Livmenia ad a :2:
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Tauce: CL BU 1976 c—
© h b ]
setronpireessnolinel acotasa covivativa. Lnutber toon SeTng oo zsoilier

ST o siolects will toa sLrmiiht imterTonation, L35 «ith Lxterroctiea
ad & toor.ureernnakinel acsisle dorivative inserrogatien, Latar. -

ang shisd tom wEth gasiher Croup of cuidncid vl tee SiTuiCht ioleryo-

‘ sttmm ard o eorminzticn of L3D and a totodiyerecansaiinol acstate
- mm:“. —— e ————— - r

A Dating of all tme re=bers af e recearch pvieet will be trielcd
on oo ruz3 to be tsed and all of tha pharmoolozicsl and scdical ke
led® zalred 80 fi- in the use of thaca drucs. ] - :

Inzlacting roups of ezdjects for cxperirenisiim, the IS1lsiog;
sl jessivaes vill bo sousht: )

1) Zuabjocta will ®e salecizd Wio Rave devmisd sllejaticos
of vorisus binds thss ¢on Lo chocnd or stconily sssmd
o the tasls af previcuzly establiciod reconds,

2) ia far as peasibla, the ectaal research man af-intsicrins
drure will not bo wmre of tha drug e Ls séinistorisg
ard pleccbas il ba Interspersed with drup aAnigirution,

J) Procauticms will te taken to nactralizo ogw, imtelldi-
cance, phy=ical :w'u:u.au. soclzl Lest=roomd ‘and 2oy
vee gontrollatle foctor ic valocting Toups. Ad-
telmiotration of drusz will Te done both openly and
paTeptitiously.

N Syt recordl=r3 il bo made af the Ligarterztiea

erd wTition re-orsd w1l Lo obt:ined in odar easea.
T A Ve il
oty of: 15737Y
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N T ST vty

bean om

"~

i

s...-.-‘,-‘ -y

o

M‘q Aroway

s 1

F- ‘-f-“]‘

r-

r..u-l



K

- RIS A LoTATe

oLt duie 1277

T2 LToiTi €L BT 13TTD
5

150

-2 r.?_-_- % I3 emoreisfed la chuating Cotiious of
m:e:ﬁ-;::m_g [ar 3 Wily con hn o,  Wu0 rusults
of intersaatien wila erugs cnui ether tecluiques will .
Lo ehoelvd alAlndt exiiting rocosda erd qualitalive -n.-A
Quantitaiive reparis will Lo ovmiaated, AccaTate ot
wailors runorss 1All %o Yoot murreeerts wlll Le sub-
miited on the basly of Latorin prosress oot ecRlete

Fajeca.
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CRAPT/A——
30 January 1561

VEMCRANDUM FOR TEE RECCRD.
SUBJECT: Project MXULTRA, Subproject L2

1. Subproject 2 1a uh- caut:.mnd ‘for the sams purpcses a3
vhen ericioally-established: o sapport ASSNISEEEEE covert __'l,.
end reslistlic ::m.d. trinls of certaln runre.h and developresnt itens '
of interest to TSD, snd to miintaln the wuen facilities rcqu:l.red-

thess trials.
2. Io the )u‘ yeor a number of covert l.nd realistic ‘field

trisls htve been successfully carried out. '!'h- results of thass

experizects bave providsd factual data esnegml to establisking
protocols for 8 mumber of contesplatad opentimt. A comtinuation

of covert and realistic field trisls sre pecessitated by the productica
of pev Dateriols in TSD progrems, particularly in sreas requiring
dgu:_.led hnwuds; of the effectiveness pnd efficiency of dalivery
systams. ‘Addiviczal -trulsl are also cecessitatad by ths meed Lor

R ———— - ey w— "

better controlled "Iield-type® experiments.
. 3. 'nn'utmud cost of the project is $5,000.00 for s pe'iod

of six months. Charges mu. be nndc ogainst Allotasat 1125~ 1390-3902
b, Aceounting for funds u:d. equipment under this subproject bas

been established om & detalled besis with the auditor snd will ccatinue
Y .

o

a8 in the past. :

——
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. }
fL/ 5-‘1. sporoved for TCP SECRET by the Agency snd
operutes under cover for purposes of this -u.b-p;-ojces.

Distrivusion:
Original oaly.
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YEITRANDUM FOR THE HECCRD
SUBJECT: Project WXULTRA, Subproject 42

shed to provide for the
acilities, and as such,
1? Undar Subpreject 42,

acilities he moved frem !
These facilitiss,

1. Subproject 42 is bel
continued support of un&
is a continuation of
is intended that th

X0
in the new locaticn, dll econtimis to provide & memns for the

realistic testing aof certein % and D {tems of interest to
CD/TSS and mfrss } c

2, Sabproject 42 will be conducted wm.*
a seaman, Certain nzpper' activities will bs previded

mr:ss and APD/TSS.

3. The sstimted cut. for a period of ene yn.r is )
$3,300.00, starting 1 March 1955. . ) .
. . - Ca
o =¥ GLTILIB
- 17} :
735/Cheerical Division

ASPRCYED PR CBLIGATICN - APPROVED FOR ADDITIORAL
OF rucs: . - _ ] mmam(sz,oassh)

hum umct.ot .

Dates_ < 7 %"47'\7—.—
4

Uriginal Only.
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Al rasen TTYr— _

MMRANION FOR: T XETCND
SJIcT ! Projest~METLT, Jubproject 43 =

The scepe af this preject ia iatanded o encowsess
LT

tivitiss sev soguged 1a by the
y 4B 1ta own facilities updar the

1.
‘@ all those
directios ef IS§, Qiemical Divisicn., These sctivities vill
of thrws lises of blochexical iovestizetion;
1y, tbe curare-like sffect af cartain- thials, the
tion of hydrogesated quivelines asd tndole alkwloids, sad tha
coctimued study of &lphenolic canpounds, In addition to the .
above lnvestigations, the present bdislogical testing and as-
saying techaiques vill be elaborsted end brosdesed ta {sclude
cardiovescular sed eaticarcisogenic effects af compounds o= - .
mzmu—mmm-_ . -

3. mumeoﬂctm:pnjtetrarlmdernm.
vill not excesd §100,000,00, At the preseat tims, the mm of
3£0,000,00 18 belng committed, the bulance of tha total te be .

ted 4% & latar date, — R
e . . . i 3
. L“hﬂmw.mm:m-mo
wmumy.mumzyamharmuem‘mmn .
of the Government's interest in this aatter, - ,

. -
g

-'-\._'.ql;.‘-ol."-'. - -~
B R e e
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3. muMuna:m-m:mrcamuﬂnmnu

not axceed $100,000, Cparges sdould be sade aguingt Allctaest

HSCEM -

:.ngurau;r sudit report be mads svailable for
Alse, it has Been Fequasted that azy unex-

# iaspection,
pddtﬂl.hﬂhﬂ“hmkm

1ien of highar overhead rates.

- -

® other thas its activitdes a8 a cut-out

s beea rqnntd to subalt & pummary sccouat-

nmuqmqummwrwmu
muu be retaized by tie DENEERENSEEERINENE.

s | Prevt ety ooy

[rree=n
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Du rucarch to bs u.ndcr-..can d...rt.nq the ".'n e month _

perted For which rinancial supper: Le requssted mtl]l be dcac.c.
to the contthued cnalysta of the nsursl] end endoertns uc)v:nua
or stress and tha chu:.cc.z agmu f)ur. !.:-.{.!umct te. The screantng
procedurss arc bassd largely upon & J‘ur‘t)‘.tr enalyata of phises of
stress end the tnrluences of this phystolegic dehavtar comzlex

upon doth dody and skin texperaiurss as desatled Ln the coccompGnye

thg report.
he chemtes] synthaats of new compounds Till da continued

under the superviston af.‘l

under the superdsston d

Q. o~ <
af—-ﬂuu cheateal agents wtll de scraensd for

thetir capacity to preocke strass or %o suppress ﬁu strgss reaction

= in tta ccuse or ehrontc phases. Antagl testing will tnelude pharma-

eologic scrsentng and proper taxicity studian, of thase compounds o4

haretoraore.,

Chemicz] agencs v‘u:- Agce Bean journd zcttve ond within g
suttzbdle Toxtstity rongs wtll e sudjected to elmtaci'lcrcchq en
sppropriate poctients, the catstel scresning betng earried oul on
sdocnced cancer potignts. The afoun: of monsy Zeveied 2o cremtcel
symthesta, however, rae damn pfurthar reluced. Chamical compounds
cvatlatle from blalogic sources ca well Gs those synthestaed Ln £F
project wtll de screaned, parsiculariy these that ore cetioe LN
uﬂur ratatag or lowertng dody tesperciurs.

u herstofors any agents whick praove ¢ be of :.n..c;-;:-. -

‘e e msbaw ame Tusslan im'.h. Aar tranadlant

o o

i'v-w'-’
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antmal euurc and on cm.r puunu Inte un“:- m. .J, 1‘—.1"
:_' proJece wiil de sanatdgred-o n-;rmz o/ the mafer odjeattoe, ~
whtoh -1.11 be directed to the ;rouu of #treas.

2
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MEMORANDUM FOR: 'n-u.; RECSORD -

SUBJECT - -~ Contisuatian af MKUL?RJ\.. un,:u-nﬁ

L Thae scope of this ubprg‘ccg includes all thase activities
now eagaged Lo by AR R IR Rk TR S TR PP S R,
TSS 29 )
under the dlrectdon of TSSHED with the axception of those cutout
fanctions specifically maentioned in cocnection with other MKULTRA
subprojects. Ia ;-ne.-r‘u. the research effort under this subproject
will contiage along the Linas laid down ia previous years. These
isvolve the syothesls and pharmacological and clinical evaluatisn
‘of camnpousds of thase chemical families kuown ta have npplju:.ion
in the peychdchemical sad "K” flelds. Durlng the past year Importaat
progress Bas been mide in the area related to strassor compounds
and tha relationship of there materials to the physl;nleglcal pathways

throagh which both stress and the reactioa to it are mediated in

{A: {a [ndicated {o the attachad proposal, the work

buman belags.

of the past year bas progressed to e poiot where mors a.ai:in -
experiments oa the streas reaction esa bs carried out., Primarily
thls was brought about by the charactsrization of several sew
maurm; which pro:l.ue- stress ruc;-ion in humaas and the applica-
tion of sams new clloical methode of measuriag the extest of the
disturbance produced. During the aext year prcporr'.lonuy matre
sffort will ba expeaded 23 the problem of the developmsat of asw

Wl buveam-

e
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e eyt ArYpee af -...-- -luﬂc Progress Bas Beea diewes ihas

Ls desirable ln lhh dlneuu and becauss o new Appruc‘\ ta tha

problem has been worksd oat. /{

2, QO] 2ls0 sarves as & general consultaar to

the Ageacy, pr.evldu services of & sensitive aatare os as ad hoe

baels, 2ad serves as a cut.out ia procuremant problemas.
3. Tha total ceat of this project for a pariod of one year

i, -
will 2ot excead $71,500.00. Charges should be made against

Allotmast 0525-1009 4902, _

4. qu l-u besa reqaestad to sobreit o swnmary
i:eouﬂng or a.- copy of the Fund's anaual sudit report flor the
tponsor’s inshection. Alse, 1t has basa requested that uy-uupndod
foads shall be returned to the Ajcner.

. s. 'rm- 5 any permaaeat equipmaent plrchud Yv fznds

- graated m sball be retalned bw
' m h ch of h.igh.- oveshead n:n. —_—

6. Itway mt'uuy agraed tht domcnnﬁu and uaautlng

for traval expenses which are sorroally rounbulablc by S~

shall conform with the aénpud ;ruﬁcu of the

Fuad,

Be=agraded te: [EHTOMIAL
TP autherity ofi 187473
dats: Juae 1977

I DODIT; CL BT 187473
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MEXBANIGM PO TEM ERCOND - T e
L o b o SR
SURICT ; Contimmtion of MUILTRA, Bubproject Bo- L3 —

- . . .- - _'_ - ' -

1. She scope of thls subproject inclndss all those activities
T v et 12 vy RN >,
ermungp/pum;ﬁwhﬁmm— -
mummmqumuno&um
w. h—-:d.thnomﬂoﬂﬂwuummt-
will contisos along the lines laid dows in previous years. Theds
tzvaive the eywidests et parmcalogioal end clisteal svalustim of
eoupands of Wose chenical families Xncwm to Mave spplication in the
peycochentenl snd X" flalds. During the camimg year it i plassed
umumm-mﬁmwcm
"mockout® problss. Poough DEY PotaEt Substiaces Bave Seccas availshle
lataly to mke such & change 1n-eaphasis vortniils. I cosoectiam
- vith this chenge 1% should be acted $hat earvals flmings made is
(- _mu'-ma—e;hmmmn
B st tactlity vill b purweed ac SHEPRIRNY s the futcre. For thls
reascn 1t any be aecessary to supplemest the finding® of this subpruject
&uﬁ-.uﬂ-mmwhumufm.
<. 3-*&-«*:-::'““&1:»&
A—q,mmﬁandnm&ﬁ;‘-mnuumul,
add sarves 54 & GuIAUS 1a procmremant prolbleas.

— -

.12 D2D5T; & 3T 287473
-
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3. T AL 205t af Wis prelest fer & paried oF ome year vill
Ao aBssed JAO,000.00. Charges mh-u.-uft Alletamat
T23-1390-19G2. - i
6 ‘_\l —mhqn'qu-ltd.bc“tal\-q
Mw:mamm'-mn;nmrum
sponsor's inspectica. Alse, uh.n\u-mmun-qw
n_u.-muhnm.tumw. F
5. Title %o sy perwnest equipment gurchused ¥y fumis grasted
C MR 2all W retatset v QDR B
E‘nmsu@rnmmu.

€. xtmmw:inmu._mmtu
mﬂwnmdmwﬂknmwm:'

Mﬁn'uammmmdﬂn?'-t
» .o : "
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24 Jagnuary 1964 M._—

MENORANDUMY FOR : THE RECORD '..":-6"";
7 g -

SUBJECT : MEULTRA, Subproject 149 s A
Sl ;,,'-b'n.

1. Tbis subproject is being established for the ynrpos:/
. [} g.:’..tv
of supporting realistic tests of certrin dovclmu‘ﬁt: and

7 7
delivery systems of ioterest to TSD/BB. '5“". .
) A

2. Duriang the course of dov-o-lmont it is sometimes

rou_s_d that certzin very cecessary experimests or tsits are no{:
suitsd to ordinary laboratory facilities. At the same time, -

it would be difficult if not impéssible to coaduct such tests -

as oparatigaal field tests. This project is designed to pro-

vide a capability sod facilities to f1ll this intermediats

requirsament.
3. The _u:txv:l.tiu under this subproject will be cob-

ducted by ur. SNIBOIINS®, o tndivicua) in the taport and s -

export business, u“‘ ur. sl holds a TOP

SECRET Treasury Department clearince and a SECRET Agency

approval. He is completely witting of 1.:h| aims and goals of.

his sctivitien.

C 4. Mr, b possesses unique facilities and personal
abilities which makes bim invaluadle in this kind of testiog

operation. Nr. S because of bis peculiastalasts and ———e

<

-

o
' -’

PPy by

a-resy ey tomamy

| ST
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capabilitiss as well as bis excellent connections with sll of .
the local law enforcement ageacies, will _péovidn s unique and
essential capability. Because Nr. AR 15 oo looger re-C |
sident of m“ u'u..- it is necessary that .
suitable replacemsnt be provided in order that a capability

for contisuance of our activities be maintained, ,

3. Ths estimated cost of the project is $10,000.00 feor
A period of ous year., Charges should be made agiiast Allotment
Number 4125-1390-3903. Reimbursement will be mady for services

rendered. . iepe =

- -t .

8. Accounticg for funds advacced and any ejuipmeat under
this-subproject will be in accordance with accoun i
ures setablished by the . = ,—aﬁi'fb. (‘n

7. A semorandum of agresment along lines est

previous aundit recommendations in like situations will be .

exscutad.

Diztribution:
Original only

 dn
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STHUECT: Request for 3upport al Resedrch on the Mechanisa of B3rain Concusalicn

1. This 5 a request for financial Tupport for research on the sechanim of
braln cencussion for the period 1 Feb 1956 to 1 Peb 1957.

2. The resomance-cavitation theory upon which this research is to be based
B has besn presentsd in the proposal submitted to
dated 27 Mareh 1956,

4. The program a3 origimlly m—itm esting . ed
tcbotr—:hmtnﬁwnmnqusunllou.nfm.
year, . :

&, Av the request of tﬂ-m- reduced budget was submitted.

smomnting to 324,925, vas than awarded to the
e, o0 Jupport this program from 1 Feb 1955

the durwtion of the progria
109 for the initial

- . .
6. mmmeuuumrmlhnmtﬂnmhmrudu
followrs: ) : : . l..

A. EESEARCE PACTLITIES
( ' The fellowing ressarch facilities
Lavestigation of the vary diverss as
m: )
I i
Atotal af 2 square feet af h:?nf-ory and offics space

© . equipped vith much of the diversified mschisery and spparatus
necessary for rescarch in this field. .

have been established for the
pects of the problsms being

b. Blast Range -
A blast range kaz beea established umxmua
the main laborstary. This
area is ovmed by the and is closed to the public.
Thres blast test-seriss have been run to dats,

|

ArFancaents have been mde with the
for uss af thair
human eadavers. A tect arga has beea assigned for this

AR£5 ALD METH WNYELYED

—— o
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T 164 A FTLAMAY LaTE W T I-I-l‘“ " Ly S
Lot . B Y -

Trovtar, W, dafines Brain .-nnnsl.on—-:-* 'I:\ u'umuuy
wransiont state due te Bead Lnjury whieh is af Lnstantanious
enset, manifests videspread ry=ptans of purely parilrtie
rind, dows not &5 such Comprise any evidence of structural

cershrnl injury, and 13 elveys followed by armegia for the
Astuel songt of the sccident. .

The Lmplication of the underlinad portion of the above statewant

is that if 1 technique were devised to induce braln concussion .
without p.ving either advance warning or causing extamal piuorsical
trauma, the person gpon recovery would be unsble to recall what

havt Bappeoed te hin. Ondar thwse conditions the same technique

of producing the concussion eculd be re-gsed many times wvithout

disclosure af its patare.

First, considering the poazibilities af direct ispect to the
bead_or bady, it should be possible frem the findings of this

ressarch progres to detarxine the following:
s, Optismam dexigzn of impacting devices.
b, Optizzs peints of impact on simll or body
for the specific eflects desirwd,

. ¢. Intenyity of the blow for the effsct desired.
In regard to ths potential impacting devices, therw are certain
design requsitassthat are appara=t at this time: .

2. The ixcect should be deliverwd without
advance wAIMiEg. :

.. The ares af if=pact and fores ALt
should be such that surface treuw doss
not occur.

¢. The inteneity af the lmpacting force and
its durstion should be such as to obtals
the desired effect.

d, The device should be a3 small and a» silent

as possible. .
The ‘specific impacting devives wigat taife the form of any of

the following:
a. A pancaks type hlack-jsck giving & high peak
tmpact forve with a lov unit surface pressure.

b. Conceslsd or camouflaged spring-loaded impacting
devices that trigger upon contact with the head.

-

.

(Original :rl! sole copy :az3)

et

~r -

P ¢_n|‘

I Bt B e il ac

-y
'

A

e

r¢nr—-.

-



L T O

10.6

19.?

10.9

11.90

12.0

168

. A preajesiile typa Leedese r swen e
wAlng & small saet filles s*aon :2; :ﬂ.::s.-lll--

d. An axplosive ped detonsted Ln contagy with the
. bead or the body.

Lat us now consider the posaibilities of uctu.n; the resonance
cavitation directly without lapact. There i3 considerable svidence
that resonance cavitition can be induesd directly in the fallowing

vays: :
8. A blast vave propagated in air. (Blast Cemcuizion) ,

b. Paysical axcitation with & mechanical driver
or horn, *aned to the resonant frequency of
the head. E; .

4 single Blast pressure wave propagited in air sust have considerable
intensity in order to produce Bralns concussion, bBovever, there is
considerable evidence (Carver & Dinsley) that modification of the
preasurs wave can produce profound affectas.

Excitation of the resonance cavitation by using a tuned driver
at this time appears to be well within the relsm of possibility.
The asuretic-like asalfestations normally assoctated with Blagt
cancusslien could possibly be induced by this ssthod., Ose of
this -M.hwov:r. would require actual physziosl ecoataet with
the drivers, .
Excitation of the resonance cavitation by tuned sound waves also

aprears to ds s reasonable possibility. Comcentration of the soand.
field at some rmote polint could be affectsd with accoustical lenses

‘and reflsctors. The blast durstion would be in the order of a

tanth of & second. Masking of & noise af this durstion should not
be too dificult.

It would possilly be advantageous to establish the effectivness
of both .ol the sbove methods a3 4 tool in brain-wash therapy.
armmwdmatn«umqmsmmwu
of aid to any person forved to sulmit to such treatment.

Poasibly the sost significant potential sspect of this study would

be in the develipmant af practical sesns of giving a person lssmnity,
aven though temporary, to brain concussion. One technique that Sppears
to have potentislities involves the intredustion of 2 small quaatity
of gas, appraximately 1 cc, into the spinal cord. This gas bubble
would then aormally migrats to the ventricles locatsd at the centnm
of tha brain., The sbility of this budhle to expand under dyramie
loading would be mast effective in preventing resonance cavitation

from occuring. .

(Ort‘giml ard sole copy :agg)
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MATERIAL FOR THE RECORD
MKSEARCH. OFTEN/CHICKWIT

MRKSEARCH was the name given to the continuation of the MKULTRA pro-
gram. Funding commenced in FY 1968, and ended in FY 1972 Its purpove was to
develop, test, and evaluate capabilities in the covert use of biological, chewmical,
and radloactive material aystems and techniques for produeiug predictable human
behavioral and/or physiological changes in support of highly sensitive operational

requirements.
OFTEN/CHICRKWIT

Ia 1967 the Office of Research and Development (ORD) and the Edgewood
Arsenal Research Laboratories undertook a program for doing research on the
Ident{ficatior. and characterization of drugy that could influence human behavior.
Edgewood had the facilities for the full rrnge of laboratory and clinical testing,
A phased program waa envisioned that would consixt of acquisition of drugs and
chemical compounds belleved to have effects on the belavior of humans, and
testing aud evaluating these materials through laboratory provedures and toxi.
cological studles. Compounds believed promising ay a result of tests on animals
were then to be evaluated clinically with human subjects at Edgewood. Substances
of potential use would then be analyzed structurally as a basis for identifying and
synthesizing possible new derivatives of greater utility.

The program was divided Into two projectx. Project OFTEN was to deal with
testing the toxiculogical, transmisivity and behavioral effects of drugs in animals
and, ultimately, humans. Project CHICKWIT wan concerned-with acquiring infor-
mntloln on new drug developments in Europe and the Orient, and with acquiring
samples.

There ig 2 discrepancy between the testimony of DOD and CIA regarding the
testing at Edgerrood Arsenal in June 1973. While there is agreement that humsau
testing occurred at that place and time, there is disagreement as to who was
responsible for financing and sponsorship. ( See hearings before the Subcommittee
on Heelth and Scientific Research of the Senate Huoman Resources Committee,

September 21, 1977.)
(169)
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THE DIRECTOR QF CENTRAL IMTELLIGENCE

WAIMIMGTON, D. £ 2503

Offca of Legilative Covnsel 23 December 1977

Honorable Daniel X. Inouye, Chairman
Select Committee on Intelligence
United States Senate

washingten, D.C. 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

During Admiral Turner's 3 August 1977 testimony
before your Committee and the Senate Human Resources
Subcommittee on Health and Scientific Research, you asked
whether any Agency employees had been terainated because of
their participation in MKULTRA Subproject 3. Admiral
Turner indicated he did not believe any employee had
been terminated, but would have Agency records searched
on this question. Our records have been searched and the
Tesults confirm the Director's testimony that no such

actions were taken.
Sincerely,

S;;%fzﬁaf L. Car
egislative Counsel
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QKHILLTOP DEFINITION

QEHILLTOP was a cryptonym assigned lo 1364 to a project to stods Chinese
Communist brainwashing techniques and to develop interrogation techniques.
Most of the early studies are belleved to have been conducted by the Cornell
University Medical School Buman Ecology Study Programs. The effort was
absorbed into the MEULTRA program and the QRKHILLTOP cryptonyw became
obsolete. The Soclety for the investigation of Human Ecology, later the Human
Ecology Fund, was an outgrowth of the QRHILLTOP.
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